
Swindon Borough Council 
 

Scrutiny Committee  
 

Monday, 18 November 2019  
 

Committee Room 6, Civic Offices  

 

At 6.00 p.m. 
 
Conservative 
Councillors 

Labour 
Councillors 

 

Emma Faramarzi 
(Vice-Chair) 
Matthew Courtliff 
Brian Mattock 
Barbara Parry 
Roger Smith 
Timothy Swinyard 
Vera Tomlinson 
 

Robert Wright 
(Chair) 
Steve Allsopp 
Jim Grant 
Jane Milner-Barry 
Des Moffatt 
Carol Shelley 
 

 

Committee Officer: Vicki Yull, 07980 752043, CommitteeServices@swindon.gov.uk 
 
Swindon Borough Council can be contacted at the Civic Offices, Euclid Street, 
Swindon, SN1 2JH (Telephone 01793 445500) 
 
Access Arrangements - The venue is wheelchair accessible and an infrared 
receiver hearing system is provided. If you have any special requirements to enable 
you to attend the meeting, or would like to receive any of the pages contained in this 
agenda in a larger print size, please contact the Committee Officer as soon as 
possible prior to the date of the meeting.  
 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence    

2.   Declarations of Interest    
 Members are reminded that at the start of the meeting they should declare any 

known interests in any matter to be considered, and also during the meeting if it 
becomes apparent that they have an interest in the matters being discussed. 
 

3.   Minutes   (Pages 5 - 10) 
 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 21 October 2019. 

 
4.   Public Question Time    

 See explanatory note below. Please contact the Committee Officer whose details 
appear at the top of this agenda if you need further guidance. 
 

5.   Moredon Playing Fields Sports Hub   (Pages 11 - 20) 
 Should the Scrutiny Committee wish to consider Appendix 2 it is recommended 



to resolve that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public and press be excluded during discussion on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information, as defined in the respective 
paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information. 
 

6.   Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session - Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Public Safety   (Pages 21 - 38) 

7.   Review of the 2018/19 Municipal Year - Scrutiny Annual report   (Pages 39 - 
128) 

8.   Work Programme 2019/2020   (Pages 129 - 142) 

9.   Status of Requests for Action and / or Information   (Pages 143 - 146) 

Date of Despatch: 08 November 2019 
 
Public Question Time - Swindon Borough Council remains committed to increasing 
its accountability to the public and to promoting active citizenship. 15 minutes will be 
allowed at the start of all Council meetings for questions to the Chair from the public 
about the work of the Committee (except for confidential matters, and matters 
relating to planning and licensing applications). We will give priority to those who 
submit questions in writing at least two days before the meeting. Questions must be 
relevant, clear, and concise. You may not use Public Question Time as an 
opportunity to make speeches or statements. 
 
Questions in writing should be sent to the Committee Officer whose contact details 
appear on the agenda above. We will publish it, along with the answer, alongside the 
Minutes. The process associated with asking a public question is set out in the 
“Public Question Time at Council Meetings Protocol and Guidance” available from 
the Committee Officer named above or on the Council’s Website at: 
http://ww5.swindon.gov.uk/moderngov/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13338&pat 
h=0.  
 

 
The Scrutiny Committee - Terms of Reference 

 

 To meet at regular intervals to review the policies, process and implications of 
Cabinet, Cabinet Member and Officer decision making and the way in which 
Cabinet and Cabinet Member decisions are made; 

 To consider requests for “Call-in” as defined in the Council’s “Call-in” Procedure; 

 To refer decisions back to Cabinet (or the decision maker) for reconsideration.  It 
may do this once for any individual decision, after which if there is no agreement 
the decision will be referred to the full Council for determination; 

 To refer Cabinet and Cabinet Member decisions to the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for investigation without delaying the implementation of the 
decision concerned; 

 To receive a report by the Leader of the Council at its first meeting after each 
Annual Council Meeting (or at such a meeting as is agreed by the Chair of the 
Committee and the Leader of the Council) on the service issues for the year 
ahead, the Leader of the Council’s priorities for the coming year and on the 
Council’s performance in the previous year; 



 To oversee the arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny within the Council, 
including determining (i) where matters fall within the remit of more than one 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee which of those Committees will assume 
responsibility for any particular issue, (ii) a system to ensure that referrals from 
Committees to the Cabinet, either by way of report or for reconsideration are 
managed efficiently and do not exceed any limits set out in the Council’s 
Constitution, and (ii) in the event of reports to the Cabinet exceeding any limits in 
this Constitution or if the volume of such reports creates difficulty for the 
management of Cabinet business or jeopardises the efficient running of Council 
business, at the request of the Cabinet to make decisions about the priority of 
referrals made. 

 To carry out any investigation into the business and functions of the Council and 
to call in any Cabinet Member or senior officer of the Council so that they can 
offer advice, support or answer any question that will assist the Committee in 
carrying out its functions. 

 To carry out an external scrutiny function, particularly in relation to corporate 
issues and issues falling into the remit of a number of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. 

 

To fulfil all the functions of an overview and scrutiny committee as they relate to – 
 

 the review, scrutiny and development of policy recommendations; 

 the management of performance,  

 the monitoring of progress against corporate priorities and  

 the formulation of advice for the Cabinet, Council and other partners and 
stakeholders. 

 
To have specific responsibility (but not limited to) 
 

 Good governance 

 The Budget Scrutiny function. 
 

 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MONDAY, 21 OCTOBER 2019 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Robert Wright (Chair), Emma Faramarzi (Vice-Chair), 
Steve Allsopp, Janine Howarth, Brian Mattock, Barbara Parry, Carol Shelley, 
Roger Smith, Timothy Swinyard, Vera Tomlinson and Steve Weisinger. 
 
Also in attendance were: Councillors David Renard (Leader of the Council), Russell 
Holland (Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Commercialisation, 
Education and Skills), Oliver Donachie (Cabinet Member for Economy and Place), 
Dale Heenan (Cabinet Member for the Town Centre), Mary Martin (Cabinet Member 
for Children’s Services), Maureen Penny (Cabinet Member for Highways and the 
Environment) and Gary Sumner (Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning).  
  
Apologies for absence were received from: Councillors Matthew Courtliff, Jim Grant, 
Jane Milner-Barry and Des Moffatt. 
 
28.   Declarations of Interest 

 
The Chair reminded Members of the need to declare any known interests in any 
matters to be considered at the meeting. The following declarations were made: 

 Councillor Barbara Parry made a personal, non-prejudicial declaration of 
interest in respect of agenda item 7 (Cabinet Member Question and Answer 
Session – Cabinet Member for Children’s Services) as an employee at The 
Ridgeway School and Sixth Form College.  

 Councillor Steve Allsopp made a personal, non-prejudicial declaration of 
interest in respect of agenda item 6 (Consideration of Cabinet Decisions) as a 
Mid-Counties Board Member which is a tenant on the site adjacent to the site 
under discussion in Cabinet Minute 43 – Acquisition of Property in Park South, 
Swindon. 

 
29.   Minutes 

 
Resolved – That the minutes of the meeting held on 9 September 2019 be confirmed 
and signed as a correct record. 
 
30.   Exempt Items - Exclusion of Press and Public 

 
The Committee resolved that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded during the discussion of 
draft Minutes 42 and 43 of the Cabinet meeting held on 16th October 2019 along with 
the Cabinet Member Decision Note that has been called-in and set out as Agenda 
Item 8, on the grounds that it may involve the likely disclosure of exempt information, 
as defined in the respective paragraph of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 
 
31.   Public Question Time 

 
There were no questions received from members of the public.  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



32.   Consideration of Cabinet Decisions 
 

The Committee considered a report introducing decisions arising from the Cabinet 
meeting held on 16 October 2019. 
 
Minute 39. Budget Management Update 
 
Councillors David Renard (Leader of the Council), Oliver Donachie (Cabinet Member 
for Economy and Place) and Dale Heenan (Cabinet Member for the Town Centre), 
responded to questions put by the Chair on the following matters: 

 The potential market interest in, and income from, any brownfield sites that the 
Council is not going to develop. The Committee noted that any requests to 
develop these sites would be considered using the usual commercial criteria, 
and that members should contact the relevant Cabinet Member if they are 
aware of any suitable sites.   

 The current proposals for the development of the car parks in Commercial 
Road, Harding Street and John Street. The Committee was advised that the 
demolition of the John Street car park is part of the wider development for the 
Bus Boulevard, and that confirmation on the other two sites would be 
circulated subsequent to the meeting.   

 How the resolution agreed at Council regarding the recruitment of additional 
Enforcement Officers has been fulfilled by the recruitment of two Civil 
Enforcement Officers in Parking Services and two Environcrime Investigation 
Officers, the redirection of two Environcrime Officers, and the allocation of an 
additional 30 hours of activity from officers across the Council. The Committee 
noted that hourly patrols are taking pace in the town centre on a rota basis, 
shared across Public Health, Planning Enforcement, Licensing, Parking 
Services, Environcrime, Environmental Health and the Police.  

 The ongoing work to reduce the current projected budget deficit and the work 
being done under the Swindon Programme to achieve £3.5m savings.  

 That the Housing Revenue Account is a ring-fenced budget with no direct link 
to the General Fund, but is included as part of the regular budget monitoring 
and reporting for information.  

 How the Schools Forum determines the allocation of resources such as the 
Special Educational Needs budget, and ensures that any dedicated funding is 
spent on its intended target cohort.   

 
Resolved – (1) That Minute 39 of the Cabinet be noted.  
(2) That information requested by members during the course of the Committee’s 
consideration of this item be forwarded to them via the Committee Clerk. 
 
Minute 40. Polling Districts and Places Review (Minute for Confirmation) 
 
Resolved – That Minute 40 of the Cabinet be noted.  
 
Minute 41. Health and Care Board Swindon 
 
Councillor David Renard responded to questions put by Councillor Brian Mattock and 
the Chair on the procedure for calling in decisions of the Board, which the Committee 
noted will be in line with the process for decisions taken by Cabinet and the Cabinet 
Panel on School Organisation.   
 

Page 6



Resolved – That Minute 41 of the Cabinet be noted.  
 
Minute 42. Investment Opportunity – Industrial Premises, Stratton St Margaret 
 
The Committee moved in to exempt session and the press and public were excluded 
during the discussion of this draft Minute. 
 
The Chair asked a series of questions regarding rental prices, maintenance, service 
charges and estate management of the premises, as well as how the proposal 
related to the Council’s Commercial Investment Strategy. Councillor Russell Holland 
(Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Commercialisation, 
Education and Skills), with assistance from the Head of Property Assets, responded 
at the meeting.   
 
Resolved – That Minute 42 of the Cabinet be noted.  
 
Minute 43. Acquisition of Property in Park South, Swindon 
 
The Committee remained in exempt session and the press and public were excluded 
during the discussion of this draft Minute. 
 
Councillors Steve Allsopp, Janine Howarth and the Chair asked a series of questions 
regarding consultation with the local community, obligations under the commercial 
contract in terms of maintenance, the different phases of development, and equality 
and diversity matters on site. Councillors David Renard, Russell Holland and Oliver 
Donachie, with assistance from the Head of Property Assets, responded at the 
meeting. 
 
Resolved – That Minute 43 of the Cabinet be noted.  
 
33.   Call-in Request - Cabinet Member Decision 

 
With the agreement of the Committee this item was brought forward on the agenda. 
The Committee remained in exempt session and the press and public were excluded 
during the discussion of this item. 
 
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Legal Officer regarding a call-in 
request submitted by four Councillors of a decision made by Councillor Dale Heenan, 
Cabinet Member for the Town Centre. Councillors Steve Allsopp, Emma Bushell, Jim 
Grant and Stan Pajak called in the Cabinet Member decision concerning the North 
Star Regional Leisure Development. The Cabinet Member Decision Note had been 
marked as not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972. 
 
In accordance with the Council’s call-in procedure, the Committee was invited to 
consider the evidence provided by the four councillors as to why the decision failed to 
meet the requirements of the Council’s principles of decision making, as set out in 
Article 13 (Decision Making) of the Council’s Constitution, with particular regard to 
the carrying out of due process in reaching the decision and / or failing to fully 
appreciate the implications of the decision, and determine whether the matter should 
be referred back for further consideration. 
 

Page 7



Councillor Janine Howarth and the Chair spoke to the call-in, in particular regarding 
the funding for the project, and the associated road scheme required for the project.  
 
The Cabinet Member spoke about the funding and road schemes for the project, and 
indicated that opposition spokespersons and ward members along with appropriate 
officers within the Council had been consulted about the proposal. 
 
Resolved – That the Committee does not support the case put forward in the notice 
of call-in and therefore does not refer the matter back to the Cabinet Member for 
further consideration. 
 
34.   Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session - Cabinet Member for 

Children's Services 
 

The Committee moved back in to public session for consideration of this item. 
 
Councillor Mary Martin (Cabinet Member for Children’s Services) was in attendance 
and presented to the Committee a report summarising progress and performance in 
respect of the key objectives of her portfolio of responsibility which are: 

 Provide strategic leadership and be the statutory lead Member for Children’s 
Services. 

 Provide the political leadership for the improvement plan. 

 Through the senior officers, ensure Children are Safeguarded. 

 Provide political leadership for contract/compliance/procurement. 

 Provide the political leadership for the strategic provision of: 
a) Corporate Parenting 
b) Early Help 
c) Youth Justice 

 Promote Children’s Health and Wellbeing. 

 To work with other Cabinet Members to Manage Demand within the portfolio. 

 Ensure that the Council's agreed priorities within the portfolio are delivered. 

In overseeing these areas, the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services is 
responsible for delivering the following Priorities and Pledges of Swindon’s Vision: 

 7. In addition to the two new free secondary schools, build one secondary and 
13 primary schools to meet the needs of our increasing population. 

 20. Increase the number of foster carers in Swindon so that every ‘child looked 
after’ who should be, is placed in their home borough. 

 21. Ensure that there is a partnership approach to early prevention and 
intervention across Swindon so that more children and families are supported 
early, including through the Troubled Families Programme, to prevent 
escalation to statutory social care. 

 22. Ensure that Swindon’s vulnerable children and young people are 
safeguarded and protected. 

 25. Work collaboratively with stakeholders to ensure the level of children in 
Swindon with excess weight is no higher than the England average. 
 

In addition, the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services has the following delegated 
responsibilities: 

 Children and Family Services including Early Help, Youth Offending Team, 
Young Person Substance Misuse team, Targeted Mental Health, Education 

Page 8



Welfare, Educational Psychology, Youth Engagement, Services for Disabled 
Children. 

 Children’s Social Work services. 

 Community Health Services including Health Visitors, School Nurses and 
Family Nurse Partnership, Paediatric Therapy Services, Speech and 
Language and Portage. 

 Local Safeguarding Children’s Board. 

 Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH). 

 Children Voluntary Sector Contracts. 

 Fostering and adoption services. 

 Troubled Families. 

 Music Services. 

 Plas Pencelli Outdoor Education Centre. 

Councillor Martin, with assistance from the Director of Children’s Social Work, 
responded to questions put by Councillors Steve Allsopp, Emma Faramarzi, Barbara 
Parry, Carol Shelley, Timothy Swinyard, Steve Weisinger and the Chair on the 
following matters:  

 The interim arrangements following the departure of the Head of Education 
and the review of the directorate senior management team currently being 
undertaken.  

 The Council’s significant additional financial investment which has reduced 
social worker caseload and improved stability, and the potential risks should 
this extra funding not be sustainable.  

 How savings could be achieved through changes to the commissioning of 
services, a reduction in the number of agency / temporary workers, and an 
increase in the number of in-house foster carers.  

 The actions being taken to address the difficulties in recruiting and retaining 
permanent, full-time social workers, which include offering training and career 
development via the Social Worker Leadership Academy launching on 26th 
November 2019.  

 The Council’s ‘partners in practice’ relationship with Essex County Council, 
which has been judged as ‘Outstanding’ by Ofsted. 

 The steps being taken to improve the stability and permanence of children’s 
placements, including the renegotiation of contracts with providers and the 
establishment of small residential units in Swindon.  

 The confidence that the recent ‘Good’ Ofsted rating has imbued in the 
resilience and robustness of the improvement model currently adopted by 
Children’s Services should external factors start to move in a negative 
direction.  

 The measures put in place to implement the revised Quality Assurance 
Framework (given the challenges from higher priority operational demands for 
Service Managers and the fluctuation within staffing capacity), and the 
resources required for the management of mentoring and coaching options for 
social workers given the current pressures. 

 The length of time taken for the statutory assessment for an Education Health 
and Care Plan, which is currently 20 weeks. The Committee were advised that 
80% of referrals are seen within 18 weeks, but that this are still requires 
improvement.  

Page 9



 The possible contributing factors to the higher rate of first time entrants in 
Swindon to the Youth Offending Service compared to the national and south 
west average, and the work being undertaken to reduce that number.  

 The work undertaken by the Council and its partners in putting children at the 
centre of all activity, and in taking a holistic approach to the development of 
Children’s Services. The Committee were advised that a more child-centred 
approach was being taken by the Children’s Health, Social Care and 
Education Overview and Scrutiny Committee with the current recruitment for 
Children’s Representatives.  

 The process for completing the impact scale with young carers at the start / 
end of an intervention, which feeds in to a specific outcomes framework for 
young carers.   

 
Resolved – That Councillor Martin be thanked for attending the meeting to present 
her performance report and for her full and open responses to members’ questions 
and observations on the issues raised. 
 
35.   Work Programme 2019/2020 

 
The Committee considered a report of the Chief Legal Officer setting out the topics 
for inclusion in the 2019/2020 Scrutiny Work Programme, as agreed by the 
Committee at its meeting on 10th June 2019, and updated during the course of the 
Municipal Year. 
 
The Committee noted that, with the agreement of the Chair, the Cabinet Member 
Q&A session for Strategic Planning will be moved on the Work Programme to the 
meeting on 13th January 2020. The proposed Cabinet Member Q&A session for 
Housing and Public Safety will be brought forward to the meeting on 18th November 
2019. 
 
36.   Status of Requests for Action and / or Information 

 
The Committee received an updated report advising on the status of outstanding 
issues and member requests for information. 
 
Resolved – That the report on the status of outstanding issues and member requests 
for information be noted. 
 

Page 10



Moredon Recreation Ground Sports Hub 

Scrutiny Committee        Date: 18th November 2019  
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from David James, 
07769 281719, djames@swindon.gov.uk. 

Author: Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and Operational 
Excellence 

Corporate Director of Communities and Housing / Head of 
Planning, Regulatory Services and Heritage   

Wards: Rodbourne Cheney 

Parishes Affected: Central Swindon North  
 

1. Purpose and Reasons 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Scrutiny Committee on the progress of 
developing a sports hub at Moredon Recreation Ground, as approved by Cabinet 
in 2018 (Cabinet Minute 86, 2018/19 refers).  

1.2 The reason for this report is to afford Members the opportunity to understand 
progress on the above matters and the project programme and delivery.    

1.3 This proposal links to the Vision for Swindon Priority Three: to “ensure clean and 
safe streets and improve our public spaces and local culture.”  Working with 
community groups and promoting high quality facilities for sports, leisure, and 
cultural activities across the town and aids the health and welfare agenda. The 
sale of the enabling residential development land would offer opportunities to 
benefit the Swindon economy creating employment during construction and new 
homes for residents. 

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Note the current project progress and put questions to the Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and Operational Excellence on issues relating to: 

2.1.1 Planning Permissions gained  

2.1.2 Occupiers and Operators  

2.1.3 Budget position  

2.1.4 Project programme and delivery 

3. Detail 

Background 

3.1 Moredon Recreation Ground Swindon (‘the Grounds’) outlined in red on the plan 
attached as Appendix 1 - Site Location Plan and Proposed Layout is a Council 
owned asset providing 4 adult football pitches, 2 cricket wickets, croquet, a model 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5



Moredon Recreation Ground Sports Hub 

Scrutiny Committee        Date: 18th November 2019  
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from David James, 
07769 281719, djames@swindon.gov.uk. 

car club as well as informal open space and recreation. A sports pavilion and 
changing rooms serves the facilities but is in need of major refurbishment or 
replacement. There is also a par 3 golf course on part of the site, the use of 
which was suspended in 2014, as it was no longer economically viable.   

3.2 On 14th March 2018 Cabinet approved the creation of a multi sports hub at the 
Grounds. Updates on project progress are provided below. 

Progress - Planning Permission 

3.3 Cabinet authorised the Head of Property Assets to apply for planning consents 
for the proposed multi sports hub, ancillary retail, community related facilities, 
associated car parking and enabling residential development (‘the Development’) 
at the Grounds. Planning consent is required to be in place by both British 
Cycling and the Football Association prior to grant bid submissions to them. As 
the enabling development is necessary for and therefore linked to the sports hub 
development, Planning Officers recommended that the Planning Committee 
should consider two submissions at the same time. A full application for the 
sports hub and a development brief for the enabling residential development 
were considered by the Planning Committee on 13 November 2018. 

3.4 Planning Application S/18/1394/TB was submitted on 17 August 2018 for the 
‘Erection of new pavilion, installation of cycling closed road circuit, BMX track, full 
size 3G artificial grass pitch, improvements to access routes and car park, and 
refurbishment and enhancement of existing recreation ground’. This gained 
approval on 13 November 2018, Minute 35  

3.5 Planning Committee 13 November 2018, Minute 36, further resolved to approve 
‘A Development Brief: Land at Moredon Recreation Ground, Swindon’ a brief 
describing the enabling development submitted to provide Development 
Management Guidance and for adoption by the Planning Committee.  

Progress – Occupiers and Operators 

3.6 Cabinet authorised the Head of Property Assets in consultation with the Director 
of Law and Democratic Services (now the Chief Legal Officer) and the Cabinet 
Member of Communities and Place (now the Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Services and Operational Excellence) to identify potential occupiers and 
operators; to agree the terms for leasehold land transfers of the whole or part of 
the proposed sporting hub to third parties in exchange for taking responsibility for 
future management and maintenance and on such other terms and conditions 
that are considered appropriate in order to protect the Councils interests. 

3.7 In detailing the planning submissions, officers have considered a range of on-site 
sport facilities and potential occupiers of a new pavilion that would enhance the 
business case and provide a sustainable operation for future operators. Business 
planning and advice has been gained from consultants, negotiations have been 

Page 12



Moredon Recreation Ground Sports Hub 

Scrutiny Committee        Date: 18th November 2019  
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from David James, 
07769 281719, djames@swindon.gov.uk. 

held with national sporting organisations and preliminary discussions with 
potential occupiers. The operating model sought is to minimise revenue costs 
and keep the project within the capital budget determined by approved funding as 
reported to Cabinet with grants, s106 and a capital receipt from the land sale.  

3.8 The Central Swindon North Parish Council (‘the Parish’) had expressed a strong 
desire to be considered as the operator for the developed sports hub and would 
have been likely custodians of the Grounds had no improvements been gained. 
Officers from the Parish, Property Assets and Community and Housing have 
discussed objectives and operating models and developed and considered 
business plans with sporting organisations. A presentation of this sports hub 
project was given to the Parish on 18th September 2019 as an update and for 
their consideration as a potential operator. On 16th October 2019, the Parish 
Council resolved to support being ‘named partner’ in project negotiations. The 
intention is to be in a position to recommend an operator to the Cabinet Member 
for Corporate Services and Operational Excellence in the early months of 2020 
within the envelope of available funding. 

3.9 In order to progress formal arrangements to accord with the Cabinet approval, 
Council Standing Orders and apply due governance, the Head of Property Assets 
will in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and 
Operational Excellence offer terms for a leasehold land transfer of the whole or 
part of the Grounds to a third party/parties in exchange for them taking 
responsibility for future management and maintenance.  

Progress - Budget position 

3.10 Cabinet authorised a budget of up to £290K, funded from section 106 Planning 
Agreement income to meet the costs of working up and submitting a planning 
application and for the project delivery of the multi sports hub. Given the 
commercial sensitivity of works not yet tendered and estimated land sale prices, 
budget details are set out in the private and confidential Appendix 2. Should 
Members wish to consider this information at the meeting, it is recommended that 
there is an appropriate resolution to exclude the press and public for that 
discussion. 

Progress – Project Programme and Delivery 
 

3.11 Programme 

Date Action 

October 2019 Submission of Football Foundation 
grant application bid for AWP 

Secure commitment from the Parish 
and in tandem prepare marketing park 

Page 13



Moredon Recreation Ground Sports Hub 

Scrutiny Committee        Date: 18th November 2019  
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from David James, 
07769 281719, djames@swindon.gov.uk. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 The Grounds could continue to support recreational use in its current form being 
maintained by the Parish under the agreed maintenance deed. However under 
this option the opportunity for the Council to directly enable the improved facilities 
may be lost. 

5. Implications, Diversity Impact Assessment and Risk Management 

Financial and Procurement Implications 

5.1 The anticipated capital costs and funding arrangements are set out in in 
Appendix 2, which is private and confidential for the reasons set out in paragraph 
3.10 above. 

5.2 There are no revenue implications following the development of the new sports 
hub facilities as any proposed asset transfer arrangements will require the 
operator/tenant to take all responsibility for future management and maintenance. 

5.3 Procurement of the new sports facilities will be undertaken in accordance with 
approved Council protocols. 

for operator interest should Parish 
interest not be confirmed. 

Finalise designs for layout and 
pavilion  

Cycle Stakeholder consultation events 

November 2019                            Presentation of cycling proposals to 
stakeholders 

Submission of British Cycling grant 
application bid for cycling facilities 

December 2019                             Planning condition submissions 

January 2020                                 Notification of grant bid outcomes 

February 2020                               Planning condition clearance. Tender 
procurement for the development 
works. Formalise arrangements for 
asset transfer with operator. 

February to April 2020                 Tenders received and evaluated  

May 2020 – May 2021    Acceptance of grant awards 
Implementation and handover 

Page 14



Moredon Recreation Ground Sports Hub 

Scrutiny Committee        Date: 18th November 2019  
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from David James, 
07769 281719, djames@swindon.gov.uk. 

Legal and Human Rights Implications 

5.4 All legal documentation will be issued will by the Chief Legal Officer in 
consultation with the Head of Property Assets and the Head of Planning, 
Regulatory Services and Heritage in order to protect the Councils interests.  

5.5 It is possible that the Council may be required to permit legal charges to be 
placed on the land ownership title in order to secure the necessary grant funding. 

5.6  All terms and conditions imposed upon the Council within any grant funding 
award will be novated to the operator / tenant as part of any asset transfer. 

5.7 There are no known human rights implications and it is believed the 
recommendations are compatible with Convention rights 

All Other Implications (including Staff, Sustainability, Health, Rural, Crime and 
Disorder) 

5.8 There is the potential for this project to increase sport and leisure patronage in 
the Borough by improving facilities to aid the Councils health and wellbeing 
agenda. Increased use and presence of organised activities at the Grounds could 
result in a reduction in crime and disorder in the immediate area.  

Diversity Impact Assessment  

5.9 A Diversity Impact Assessment (DIA) was completed for the 14th March 2018 
Cabinet Report and no new adverse or other significant issues have been 
identified since this time.  A copy of the DIA can be obtained from the report 
author. 

Risk Management 

5.10 Planning Approval has been obtained but there remains a risk that the necessary 
planning condition clearances and other match funding grants are not secured for 
the Grounds and/or that an operator will not be secured to manage the 
completed sports hub. Necessary reports will be funded to conclude details for 
planning submissions. Market testing and engagement with grant funding bodies 
has been undertaken indicating full support for these proposals and in any event 
to mitigate against this risk the development of the sports hub will not proceed 
until there is formal legal and binding commitment from suitable operators. 

5.11 The market value of the enabling development has only been assessed in 
principle at this time although its delivery now benefits from the successful 
adoption of the Development Brief. Remaining risks are ground condition and 
other relevant surveys and assessments and the market conditions prevailing at 
the time of sale. 

Page 15



Moredon Recreation Ground Sports Hub 

Scrutiny Committee        Date: 18th November 2019  
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from David James, 
07769 281719, djames@swindon.gov.uk. 

6. Consultees 

6.1 The author has consulted, where appropriate, with Corporate Directors, 
Directors, Heads of Service, other officers, and relevant partners on the purpose, 
content, and recommendations of the report. 

7. Background Papers 

7.1 None. 

8. Appendices 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Site Location Plan and Proposed Layout. 

8.2 Appendix 2 – Finance (Private and Confidential). 

 

Page 16



Appendix 1 

Appendix 1 - Site Location 

     
Site Location and Planning Approved Layout 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 19

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

Author: Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Wards: All 

Parishes Affected: All  
 

1. Purpose and Reasons 

1.1 This report sets out details of the portfolio for the Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Public Safety. 

1.2 A key purpose of the Scrutiny Committee function is to hold the Cabinet to 
account and ensure that Council priorities and performance are being delivered. 
The Scrutiny Committee partly fulfils this requirement through the use of question 
and answer sessions with the Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety. 

1.3 The purpose of the Question and Answer session is to ensure that the Cabinet 
Member provides the Scrutiny Committee with performance information that 
relates to their portfolio responsibilities. It also requires the Cabinet Member to 
provide budget information for their portfolio responsibilities and provides an 
opportunity for the Scrutiny Committee to ask questions on the portfolio 
responsibilities. 

1.4 The remit of the Committee includes the review, scrutiny, and development of 
policy recommendations and the monitoring of performance of corporate 
priorities. 

2. Recommendations 

Scrutiny Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Take note of the report by the Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety. 

2.2 Put appropriate questions to the Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety. 

2.3 Decide if any further action is required. 

3. Detail 

3.1 The Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety is Councillor Cathy Martyn 
who is accountable for the following Pledges from the Council’s Vision: 

3.1.1 Pledge 6 (in part). Ensure that there is a range of good quality housing 
options in Swindon, including affordable opportunities to buy and rent. 

3.1.2 Pledge 12 (in part). Work with partners to promote healthy lifestyles for the 
people of Swindon 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

3.1.3 Pledge 16 (in part). Deliver a programme of work to ensure that residents, 
visitors and businesses feel that Swindon’s town centre is a safe place to 
live, work, visit and do business 

3.1.4 Pledge 26. To prevent homelessness where possible, using additional 
measures including the Temporary Winter Housing Provision and enabling 
a Day Centre to prevent rough sleepers from returning to the streets. 

3.2 The Portfolio responsibilities for this Cabinet position were updated in December 
2016 and are as follows: 

3.2.1 Housing Allocations and Advice Services 

3.2.2 Empty Homes 

3.2.3 Estate and Tenancy Management 

3.2.4 Housing Enabling and Strategic Services 

3.2.5 Homeline Services 

3.2.6 Homelessness 

3.2.7 Housing Right to Buy/Sales Services 

3.2.8 Neighbourhood Wardens 

3.2.9 Private Sector Housing Renovation Grants 

3.2.10 Repair and Improvements to Council Housing Stock 

3.2.11 Sheltered Accommodation 

3.2.12 Environmental and Public Protection Services  

3.2.13 Gypsies, Travellers and Unauthorised Encampments  

3.2.14 Reducing Drugs, Alcohol and Substance Abuse 

3.2.15 Control Room Operations  

3.2.16 Licensing, including taxis, etc. 

3.2.17 Community Safety Partnership 

3.2.18 Reducing Domestic Abuse 

Update on current priorities and key achievements 

Page 22



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

Delivering The Council’s Vision and Pledges 

Pledge 6 (in part). Ensure that there is a range of good quality housing options in 
Swindon, including affordable opportunities to buy and rent  

3.3 The Queens Drive site will see the complete demolition of the 1950’s system built 
“Easiform” blocks replaced by 149 new homes, 129 of which will be at either 
affordable or social rents levels dependent on grant funding. Further sites in 
Ventnor Close, in Haydon Wick, Ashley Close in Walcot and Huntley Close in 
Walcot are now proceeding to formal planning applications. In addition. early 
consultations have started on 3 further sites which will be reported to Cabinet in 
the near future. In all, these sites amount to a development programme of well 
over 300 new affordable homes. 

3.4 In addition work was completed on new council housing at sites on Penhill Drive 
and Cranmore Ave during 2019. 

3.5 Work also continues in negotiating and delivering additional affordable housing 
with our partners as part of S.106 agreements. In the first two quarters of 
2019/20 146 affordable homes were enabled, these are predominantly delivered 
by our housing association partners namely Aster, GreenSquare, Stonewater and 
Sovereign. 

Pledge 12 Work with partners to promote healthy lifestyles for the people of 
Swindon and Pledge 16 Deliver a programme of work to ensure that residents, 
visitors and businesses feel that Swindon’s town centre is a safe place to live, 
work, visit and do business 

3.6 The Licensing Committee has adopted a number of important policy documents 
over the last year. Amongst the most significant have been an updated 
Statement of Gambling Principles and a revised Street Trading Policy, both of 
which form material considerations when licences are applied for. The Statement 
of Gambling Principles helps to promote healthy lifestyles by ensuring gambling 
establishments are correctly licenced and that their licences include appropriate 
conditions to ensure that advice is provided around the dangers of compulsive 
gambling, and that an awareness of gambling addiction is promoted. The Street 
Trading Policy improves safe and vibrant activity in the town centre, whilst also 
ensuring that hot food vans are not sited close to schools in the future. 

Pledge 26 To prevent homelessness where possible, using additional measures 
including the Temporary Winter Housing Provision and enabling a Day Centre to 
prevent rough sleepers from returning to the streets 

3.7 The new Day Centre/ Homelessness Hub opened in January 2019 at the Haven 
with the lead agency being the Swindon Night Shelter. This has brought together 

Page 23



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

a range of statutory and voluntary services, all with the specific aim of reducing 
homelessness in Swindon. Swindon Night Shelter have also agreed to extend the 
lease on the building leased to them by the Council, this will enable the charity to 
receive longer term funding awards. 

3.8 The Temporary Winter Housing Provision will run for its 3rd year this winter in 
premises next to The Haven. This year the lead agency will be The Swindon 
Night Shelter, the Council having previously taken the lead and enabled the 
development of a successful format. The performance of this project was 
recognised at the Chartered Institute of Housing 2019 National Housing Awards 
where it received acclaim as a Finalist, receiving recognition for being both 
innovative and collaborative. The considerable commitment of our volunteers 
was also praised. 

3.9 The Council’s wider and innovative approach to rough sleeping gained the 
positive interest of the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government, 
resulting in various grant awards of over £500k to combat rough sleeping. This 
money is being used to support a number of projects including extending the 
current out- reach service and providing “Housing First” flats for those sleeping 
rough. 

Licensing 

3.10 The work of the Licensing Committee has focused on taxis in the last year. A 
policy has been established to enable the front seats of Hackney carriages to be 
licensed to carry passengers, and more stringent controls over the use of 
voluntary CCTV in cabs has also been passed.. Additional policies establishing 
protocols around aspects of public safety in taxis have also been introduced. 
Alongside these measures, I have been keen to assist my other portfolio holders 
in ensuring that the taxi service is able to operate efficiently across Swindon’s 
public highway network and am delighted that an initial pilot permitting hackney 
carriages, (the public transport element of the taxi fleet) to use bus gates has 
been successful with few complaints. The number of Hackney carriages in 
Swindon is not significant and consequently there has been no adverse impact 
on traffic flow through gates. 

3.11 Continuing with taxis, the Licensing Manager has secured accreditation to 
provide training for licence holders and applicants on issues of Child Exploitation, 
safeguarding and county lines activities. This is really important as it ensures that 
our licensed drivers and applicants fully understand these issues and are able to 
act as our eyes and ears on the ground to ensure public safety. 

3.12 The Licensing team continue to facilitate improvements to the town centre offer 
and contribute to the ‘Enjoy Swindon, be Safe’ initiative. The Licensing Manager 

Page 24



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

has also been instrumental in bringing continental Christmas stalls to the town 
centre and we work with our partners at In Swindon to ensure that the town 
centre is able to bring in good events that are properly licensed and take place in 
a safe environment. 

3.13 The licensing team continues to undertake active investigations and monitoring of 
licensable activities, such as noise from licensed premises. As last year, the 
Licensing Manager has lead multi-disciplinary operations to ensure that taxi 
drivers comply with the requirements of their licences. These have once again 
proven successful in ensuring public safety. Licensing Tasking meetings continue 
bringing together our main strategic partners with updates taken to the 
Community Safety Partnership. These meetings have resulted in a vast reduction 
in the number of licence review applications being submitted by the Wiltshire 
Police, which is testament to our good working relationship. 

3.14 Last summer, I was delighted to learn that our Animal Health function was once 
again awarded an RSPCA ‘Gold’ standard for its stray dog service. The award 
scheme was developed over 10 years ago by the RSPCA to recognise 
outstanding work carried out by local authorities, housing providers and other 
public service organisations, and to highlight those who have improved animal 
welfare and their communities. Dealing with stray dogs goes beyond just animal 
welfare, having a much wider impact on the community on matters such as street 
cleanliness, public protection and anti-social behaviour. The Council’s licensing 
team have again assisted with compulsory micro-chipping, and undertaken 
regular proactive work to encourage responsible dog ownership. This has also 
included outreach work with schools to help children understand how to safely 
interact with dogs. 

3.15 The Licensing Manager is also the Council’s statutory Safety at Sports Grounds 
officer, chairing the Safety Advisory Group, and is fully trained in this field, 
holding the most recent accredited qualification.  The main responsibilities of this 
role are around safety at and around Swindon Town football games. Our 
management of sports ground safety has recently been subject to an external 
audit and whilst we do not have full outcome as yet, indications around our 
leadership and management of risks and incidents are encouraging.  The 
Licensing Manager also chairs the multi-agency Event Safety Advisory Group, 
which provides valuable advice and feedback on event management plans, and 
has undertaken a number of inspections at key events such as the M:For concert 
at Lydiard, community events and festivals like the Old Town Festival and Pride. 

Public Protection 

Page 25



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

3.16 The Public Protection team continue to work to support and protect local 
residents, and acts across a wide range of public health determinants and 
statutory functions. 

3.17 The Health Compliance team aims to encourage and support local businesses 
and organisations large and small to comply with requirements in statutory areas 
including Food Hygiene, Food Standards and Health & Safety. The team has 
entered into a Primary Authority partnership with WH Smith and are in the 
process of providing assistance to them in reviewing their documented systems. 
The team also work with our other Primary Authority partners. 

3.18 Officers work tirelessly in the pursuit of good standards of food hygiene and have 
been responsible for some high profile prosecutions of both local premises and 
also food stored and prepared domestically which was unfit for human 
consumption and destined for human consumption. As part of the digitisation 
initiative the team has developed and implemented a series of online forms to 
modernise and streamline food business registrations and complaints from 
members of the public and businesses. 

3.19 Despite significant recruitment issues the Trading Standards team has taken a 
number of important enforcement actions this year.  These actions inevitably 
focus on Rogue Trading, but it has also played an important role in a joint illegal 
tobacco operation recently that led to the removal of 335,000 illegal cigarettes, 
92kg of illegal tobacco, and 25 litres of illegal alcohol from the streets of Swindon.  
These materials had a duty value in excess of £150,000, and one vehicle was 
also seized as part of the operation. 

3.20 Other notable Trading Standards work includes a rogue trader prosecution which 
both punished the offender with a 9 month prison sentence, suspended, and 
secured almost £18,000 compensation for the victims. 

3.21 The Healthy Neighbourhoods team are well advanced in licensing the Borough’s 
Houses in Multiple Occupancy under the extended scheme.  The extension to the 
mandatory licensing scheme now means that that all HMOs with 5 or more 
residents, irrespective of the number of storeys, require a licence to operate 
legally.  Much work was done to trail that to local landlords, and the great majority 
have as a result applied for a Licence without the need for enforcement. 

3.22 Now that the majority of HMO licence applications are processed; the team have 
moved onto identifying and pursuing those that have not voluntarily applied.  The 
new Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy will guide how that enforcement 
is progressed, and a number of the new Civil Penalties are expected to be 
imposed in the coming months. 

 Air Quality 

Page 26



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

3.23 The Air Quality Action Plan for Kingshill, Old Town containing 18 clear actions to 
improve air quality, has been endorsed by Cabinet, and we are in the process of 
finalising the plan with DEFRA.  Some of the simpler actions are already in train.  
One major action; that of putting in place a Traffic Regulation Order to prohibit 
heavy vehicles from Kingshill, is well into the planning stage, and this action is 
expected to remove up to 30% of the excess Nitrogen Dioxide from that road. 

3.24 A grant bid to fund work on some actions is in the drafting, but more funding will 
be required whether that bid is successful or not. 

3.25 In the meantime, further monitoring and modelling work will be done to inform the 
Plan, and the Public Protection team has also extended its network of routine 
monitoring devices to increase its awareness and understanding of current or 
emerging air quality issues around the Borough.  This will be reported through 
the Annual Status Report to DEFRA. 

Housing 

3.26 Homelessness The Housing First Team is now fully established and 15 clients 
have successfully been housed, taking clients directly off the streets or via the 
Temporary Winter Housing Provision. All Housing First tenancies are running 
well without any need for tenancies to come to an end. The Homelessness 
Prevention Team are now present in additional work areas including Great 
Western Hospital and the Children’s Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub. In addition 
and working with the Accommodation Team, they have enabled the portfolio of 
privately leased temporary accommodation units to be reduced from 250 to 215 
since April 2019.  The Council is awaiting details of external grant funding for 
2020/21 for all future projects and prevention work. 

3.27 A new Rough Sleeper reduction Strategy was agreed by the Health and Well 
Being Board and Cabinet in 2019. This strategy endorses work already in place 
and referred to earlier in the report. 

3.28 Tenancy Management. An ongoing challenge continues to be rent collection. 
The income of the Housing Revenue Account to meet tenants’ service 
aspirations depends on a high rate of collection. The collection rate for 19/20 is 
on target to recover 98% of rent owed. This continues to be a remarkable 
achievement given the on-going changes to the Welfare System. 

3.29 A review is also underway of how the Sheltered Housing Service operates 
moving forward. Currently the Council operates a service with live-in Sheltered 
Housing Officers. However, it has become increasingly difficult to recruit to these 
posts and the value of a “live-in” service, when officers are off duty out of hours is 
arguably an inefficient use of resources. The consultation with tenants and staff 
includes an option to move to a cluster model where a team of Sheltered Housing 

Page 27



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

Officers will manage a group of neighbouring schemes. The proposal identifies 
savings of £150,000 per annum. 

3.30 Fire Safety remains a priority. The Grenfell tragedy rightly continues to place a 
spot light on the Council’s processes and procedures. Work has been completed 
at the DMJ Tower where new fire doors, additional smoke detectors and 
intumescent fire grills have been installed as well as an upgrade to the lifts. In the 
6 x 10 storey blocks, additional internal fire doors have been fitted, a fire 
suppression system has been installed at George Hall Court (sheltered housing). 
Escape and emergency lighting has been fitted to 28 x medium rise blocks. The 
Council continues to work closely with the Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and Rescue 
Service, and conducts joint training events on key aspects of fire safety 
management with Housing staff.  

3.31 Part 1 of the Grenfell Report has recently been published. Within the 
recommendations, there is as a call for national guidelines to be developed on 
carrying out partial or total evacuations, local Fire Services have also been 
requested to do so. The Housing Service are working with Dorset and Wiltshire 
Fire Service on how “stay put and prepare to evacuate” policies are being 
developed. Current arrangements have not been changed and existing advice to 
residents remains in place. This advice is based on regular risk assessments of 
our high rise buildings.  

3.32 Void Management. This is the work undertaken to return properties back into 
use after a tenancy has ended. In 2017 the contract for these works were re-let, 
the successful tenderer being the Bell Group. Unfortunately for a number of 
reasons this contract performed poorly leaving a considerable legacy. 

3.33 Through a combination of excellent work from the in-house work force and the 
direct management of two subcontracting teams that worked for Bell, the Council 
made significant improvements in turnaround time. The Council has also re-let 
Voids works to a number of smaller locally based contractors and maintained the 
work of its in-house team. As part of the Service’s Improvement Plan a range of 
operational changes are in place to improve this service even further, including 
the established of a dedicated cross service Voids team. When I reported earlier 
in the year (February 2019) to this committee, 150 properties were empty, the 
service is now on target for this to be 100 or less by Christmas. There will always 
be a number of properties empty for a variety of reasons, for example 20 
properties can become empty in just one week, many of which will need 
substantial repairs. With a stock size of approximately 10,300 homes, 80 to 100 
void at any one time is comparable with good performing peers.   

3.34 Housing Repairs and Improvements. The responsive Repairs Service is also 
under going considerable service improvements to deliver higher rates of 

Page 28



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

customer satisfaction. This includes a more efficient purchasing/stores function, 
improved ways of managing waste disposal from site, transferring more 
responsive work to planned improvements. This programme of improvements will 
be imbedded over the next 12 months. Alongside this and as part of new ways of 
working introduced by commissioning a new Housing (IT) operating system, the 
“My Tenancy” online offer has been extended to cover repairs reporting. From 
month to month in 2019 the percentage of repairs has been steadily climbing 
(with the exception of September), 30% plus of all repairs are reported in this 
way. Following additional system improvements to the portal it is hoped to double 
its uptake during 2020. 

3.35 As part of the Tenancy Standard regulated by Homes England, the Council is 
required to keep its stock to what is known as the Decent Homes Standard. This 
standard is designed to enable tenants to have a reasonable level of comfort 
benefitting from modern fittings. As at 1 October 2019 99.93% of the Council’s 
housing stock complied to this standard. This is an excellent result. The reason 
for a small number of homes not meeting the standard is down to tenant 
preferences to not have the work completed, for example not wishing to have a 
central heating system. Where this occurs the Council upgrades the property 
once it becomes void.  

3.36 Training and professionalisation of the work force. The Grenfell tragedy has 
also rightly underlined the importance of maintaining a trained and suitably 
qualified workforce to implement Council housing policy and manage a range of 
high risk housing management functions. Swindon’s professional membership of 
the Chartered Institute of Housing continues to be higher than any other local 
authority in the South West. The Housing Service provides the highest number of 
apprenticeships across the Council, with regularly over 20 apprenticeships 
across all areas including trade operatives. 

Community Safety 

3.37 The Community Safety team (CSP) has developed a Risk Management Panel to 
tackle the most complex and highest risk issues affecting Swindon residents, who 
are being supported by agencies across the Borough. The Panel identifies and 
assesses individual risks and tries to mitigate those risks by co-ordinating a joint 
response by partners. This intensive case management approach has had 
considerable success in cases where imminent risk to life is a common theme. 
Successes include obtaining a Civil Injunction against a domestic abuse 
perpetrator with multiple victims, who were unable to take action through criminal 
justice routes due to fear of repercussions. 

3.38 Swindon has been a statistical outlier nationally with the number of repeat 
perpetrators identified at MARAC (Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference). 

Page 29



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

Establishing a referral pathway to the Risk Management Panel to focus on 
tackling perpetrators has seen a significant reduction in repeat perpetrators. 

3.39 The CSP team in partnership with the police and housing have made good use of 
Closure Orders and Partial Closures to protect victims of cuckooing by County 
Lines drug dealers. This has enabled support services to work with vulnerable 
people that would not be accessible without the orders in place. 

3.40 The CSP team has obtained five civil injunctions against anti-social street 
drinkers in the town centre. These orders allow for better management of the 
anti-social behaviour and encourage engagement with substance misuse support 
services.   

3.41 Turning Point, our local provider of alcohol and drug treatment, continue to work 
with partners to reduce the harm caused by substance misuse. They have 
delivered training to partner agencies and conduct engagement work with high 
risk and prolific offenders. We have Substance Misuse Liaisons workers based at 
the hospital who work with individuals who turn up at GWH as a result of their 
substance misuse as well as Cell Intervention workers who again provide early 
intervention, in this case where offending behaviour is linked with substance 
misuse (since April 2018 they have worked with over 175clients).  Our drug 
related deaths are low in comparison to national and regional figures.  This is in 
part due to the successful roll out of Naloxone (we have very good distribution 
with a wide range of stakeholders) which reverses the effect of overdose from 
opiates.  

3.42 Our two year Local Alcohol Action Area project has successfully been completed 
which has resulted in an upgrade of the licensing database system with an option 
for mapping licensed premises, training for door staff, Ask for Angela, funding for 
a gazebo to support NTE night time economy workers and provide a safe space 
to talk to and help support vulnerable people within the town centre, improving 
safety (signage developed to guide people through the town centre between Old 
Town and Regents Circus) and diversity within the night time which will inform 
the spatial strategy for the Town Centre in the forthcoming Local Plan Review. 
The Local Plan Review will establish planning policies around the mix and 
location of land uses in the Town Centre.  

3.43 We continue to raise awareness of the harms caused by substance misuse and 
last November actively supported the multi-agency activity around Alcohol 
Awareness week with a booth in the Pop-up-Café (Brunel shopping centre 
Swindon), a drop in session at Booth House and a workshop at North Star 
College engaging with over 114 students as part of their wellbeing week.  

Page 30



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

3.44 We were successful in our bid for funding to tackle the harm caused to children of 
alcohol dependent parents. This was a partnership bid that has resulted in over 
£570k of additional funding coming into Swindon to tackle this issue. 

What would you do differently? 

Licensing 

3.45 The Licensing team have to respond to changes in Government guidance and 
legislation. This has been particularly challenging around establishing a charging 
regime for kennelling, boarding and canine care operations. Charging guidance 
was not in place when the legislation was introduced, leaving Councils in the 
position of not being able to set fees. This gave us a headache around whether 
we decided to charge, then reset mid-year, or to withhold fee requests until such 
time as the new charging regime was set whilst allowing operators to trade. We 
opted for the latter so that we didn’t have to recharge or recoup fees. Whilst this 
was accepted by the vast majority of boarders, it did prove to be complicated a 
minority.  However, the regime is now in place and fees are clear. 

3.46 I was keen to ensure that Licensing benefitted from early engagement with the 
digitisation agenda as there is much more that could be done with a fully digital, 
fit for purpose process. A lot of key staff time continues to be invested in this 
process to the detriment of day to day service delivery. It is my hope that 
digitisation will deliver the expected improvements and in doing so should enable 
a more efficient and effective service delivery.  

Public Protection  

3.47 Similarly, there are ongoing opportunities around digitalisation of some of the 
public protection services which will increase efficiency and effectiveness.  
Officers have identified key areas that can be accessed online such as 
registration of new food business and access to food hygiene information, 
training, infectious disease information, private water supply information, allergen 
information, Health & Safety information, Feed, Animal Health, Approval 
information and report complaints. The next phase of the digitisation journey is to 
ensure that information is available to enable on line access and that devices are 
fit for purpose to assist staff in their day to day work.  

Housing 

3.48 The Housing Service is delivering a Service Improvement Plan during 2019/20. 
Some of the improvements are already making a positive impact such as the 
improvements to the Voids Service, rent collection rates and on-line repairs 
reporting. Additional work is underway to improve the technology available for all 
mobile working. Handheld devices that enable live interaction with the main 

Page 31



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

Housing operating system will reduce unnecessary inter team hand overs, paper 
forms and add pace to service deliver. All of this will improve customer 
satisfaction with the Housing Service.   

Community Safety 

3.49 The work of the CSP team on the Risk Management Panels has highlighted the 
complexity and risk involved in the lives of a number of Swindon residents. These 
are cases where early intervention and prevention options have not been 
exercised or not been successful. The Risk Management process can only be 
successful with full engagement from all relevant partners and if the response is 
a shared commitment to supporting the most vulnerable. This is a resource 
intensive process but the outcome far outweighs the investment. The CSP team 
will continue to work with partners to develop and maintain that engagement and 
commitment. 

3.50 Swindon’s Multi-Agency Domestic Abuse Strategy, covering the next five years, 
will look to respond with a Coordinated Community Response (CCR) across 
partnerships and with communities. By using an early intervention approach we 
can reduce the impact of domestic abuse and prevent escalation, which will 
increase safety and wellbeing and break the cycle of those affected. Alongside 
this, working with perpetrators to address and disrupt their abusive behaviours 
and hold them accountable for their actions, we can reduce crisis intervention. 

Reducing Drugs, Alcohol and Substance Abuse 

3.51 To facilitate an increased focus on preventing drug and alcohol misuse and the 
harm caused by it we have: 

3.51.1 Introduced a new multi-agency Harm Reduction quarterly meeting to plan, 
coordinate and evaluate work on this agenda targeting vulnerable groups. 
Chaired by Public Health Team with membership from Wiltshire Police, 
AWP, Swindon Mind, Salvation Army, local pharmacies, Turning Point and 
other key SBC colleagues. 

3.51.2 Introduced a range of digital campaigns, using the successful Turning 
Point e-platform. These have included Sober for October, Stoptober and 
Alcohol Awareness week. 

3.51.3 Turning Point have run alcohol awareness training for local pharmacies 
promoted through the LPC. This has trained pharmacy staff to engage 
service users in health promoting conversations re substance misuse 
using scratch cards to facilitate. 

3.52 In order to engage those with Dual Diagnosis we are: 

Page 32



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

3.52.1 Refreshing our local strategy for this vulnerable group. We are 
investigating running a Dual Diagnosis steering group with Wiltshire 
Council, with whom we co-commission the substance misuse service. 

3.52.2 Turning Point and AWP are jointly running a Dual Diagnosis operational 
forum to skill and information share. They are also discussing complex 
cases to ensure integrated working. 

3.53 In order to reduce hospital related admissions for alcohol we have commissioned 
two specialist substance misuse workers based at GWH from Avon & Wilts 
Partnership (AWP). They have an in reach role at the hospital offering 
consultancy, assessment, review and onward links to community services 
(particularly the community drug and alcohol service). They prioritise trying to 
intervene with patients who repeatedly present at GWH with alcohol related 
issues/ ‘Frequent Flyers’. 

3.54 The community service is increasingly targeting engaging alcohol users. They 
have recently developed a community alcohol group that meets outside the main 
treatment hub. There is some evidence that alcohol users may be less likely to 
present for treatment in an environment where illicit drug users are also 
accessing treatment. 

3.55 From a low base the numbers of alcohol clients in treatment is increasing and the 
main source of referrals into the service is now from the alcohol using cohort. The 
numbers of alcohol using service users successfully exiting treatment is also 
improving. Both community and residential detox interventions are available to 
this group. 

3.56 Public Health England recently noted a 57% increase in numbers of alcohol only 
clients in treatment from April 2018 to March 2019 which places Swindon well 
within the top 10% in the country and completely counters the general trend of 
declining numbers. They further noted that with high levels of Ministerial scrutiny 
around alcohol this is very good news indeed. 

3.57 We have commissioned Club Soda – a national organisation who advocate 
mindful drinking to deliver local events in Swindon. Also Dear Albert – who 
deliver local peer led events in the town. We are using the Turning Point e-
platform to engage service users. This is now the main referral point for alcohol 
users into the service. 

What are the Challenges and Priorities facing your Portfolio? 

Public Protection 

Page 33



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

3.58 Given current and future budgetary pressures prioritisation of service provision 
will need to continue to focus on its statutory responsibilities and those areas 
which are most able to deliver the needs of our community as recognised through 
the Councils vision and priorities and in particular by protecting those who are 
most vulnerable or at risk. 

3.59 Staffing levels in the teams remain tight, and posts are still being filled in the 
restructure. We now have a fully operational senior team within Public Protection, 
though some of these officers are new to that level of work. Their development 
will be essential in meeting our statutory functions and delivering service 
improvement going forward.  

Licensing 

3.60 The licensing service continues to deal with a wide range of important and high 
profile issues. Much time has been invested in a programme to renew the main 
IT support system for licensing, including taxis and this work will continue as part 
of the Directorate Service Improvement Plan. Currently we only have one fully 
qualified permanent Licensing officer (the Licensing Manager), whose time 
inevitably is diverted to other more strategic matters. Whilst a temporary solution 
is in place I would have liked the ongoing restructure to have been further 
advanced to provide the Licensing Manager with the professional support she 
needs, and to ensure that the team is working in the most effective manner 
possible.  

3.61 Particular challenges remain around our taxi fleet, which will be addressed in the 
next year. The Government is currently considering guidance around the 
possibility of the mandatory introduction of CCTV into licenced taxi cabs, which 
would provide additional protection and security to both drivers and users. 
Assuming this guidance mandates the use of CCTV, the Licensing Committee 
will be asked, at the earliest opportunity, to use it as a guide to the introduction of 
a local policy or protocol covering the potential use of mandatory CCTV in cabs. 
Another important issue to be tackled in the next year is that of the age of our 
fleet linked to the air quality agenda and the need to reduce our carbon footprint. 
A report will be taken to the Licensing Committee seeking to introduce a new 
policy around the replacement of older, more polluting vehicles with more energy 
efficient models at renewal.  

Housing 

3.62 Housing Repairs. The social housing 4 year rent reduction of 1% per year has 
exacerbated the capital funding shortfall in the HRA.  As reported in the Medium 
Term Financial Plan to Cabinet in July 2019 a balanced budget can be achieved 
over the next 5 years, however, the total funding available to invest in the stock to 

Page 34



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

achieve “just in time” major repairs and renewals is £112.8m with a shortfall of 
£81.4m.  

3.63 Homelessness is the other key area where although budget pressures have 
eased thanks to our success with performance related grant awards, this still 
remains a challenge for future years. In particular, the success rate of winning 
Rough Sleeper Grant Initiative funding needs to be maintained to continue the 
good work see in reducing the number of rough sleepers down from 45 in 
November 2017 to 24 in September 2019. 

3.64 Housing Voids. A 2 to 7 year contract has been let for vacant property repairs to 
compliment the in-house team. Poor performance by either the contractors or in-
house services will be closely managed by the Head of Housing and the lessons 
learned from the previous contract will continue to be shared and embedded to 
improve performance. 

Community Safety 

3.65 The issue of County Lines continues to be an area of focus across the agencies 
given the drastic impact it can have on young people and vulnerable adults. The 
development of local lines and linked violent crime is a developing concern. 
Sharing of intelligence and increased awareness raising are both key to working 
towards tackling County Lines.  Focus must lie in reducing the impact of County 
Lines on the availability of drugs and the exploitation of vulnerable and young 
people. 

3.66 Domestic Abuse is still a key area of focus for the CSP team. We can predict in a 
population of 221,996 (estimate June 2019) that approximately 13,000 people 
(aged 16 to 59 years) experience domestic abuse (DA) each year (5.9%) in 
Swindon; and that one person can experience multiple incidents of DA. Police 
recording for Swindon indicates 4,920 incidents of DA in the Borough have been 
reported in 2018/19. 2,542 of the reports were considered a crime. Research 
shows that on average only 20% of incidents are reported to the Police which 
indicates that there were approximately 19,500 unreported incidents in 2018/19. 
433 high risk cases were referred by professionals to the Swindon MARAC (Multi 
Agency Risk Assessment Conference) in 2018/19. In those cases, there were 
702 children living within the family. 

Reducing Drugs, Alcohol and Substance Abuse 

3.67 Implementation of the Innovation project to reduce the harm to children of alcohol 
misuse parents is now underway.  This multi strand project is now operational 
with a monthly steering group chaired by senior management in Children’s Early 
Help Service. The service is based around an operational hub based in SBC 
Early Help delivering family based interventions. This is supported by additional 

Page 35



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

service provision targeting alcohol misusing parents (Turning point), early 
interventions with emerging mental health and alcohol issues (TAMHS/Step), 
alcohol and parental conflict/domestic violence (LIFT Psychology), Peer 
Mentoring service and awareness campaign (ADFAM) and ACEs awareness 
training (KCA Training). A quarterly performance report is submitted to Public 
Health England and a full evaluation of this pilot programme is planned in 
partnership with the Tavistock Institute. 

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 The Committee can choose not to operate a Cabinet Portfolio Question and 
Answer session system. 

5. Implications, Diversity Impact Assessment and Risk Management 

Financial and Procurement Implications 

5.1 There are no direct financial or procurement implications arising from this report. 

Legal and Human Rights Implications 

5.2 Section 21 of the Local Government Act requires every local authority to 
establish an overview and scrutiny function to hold the Executive to account, 
undertake policy development and review, monitor, and improve performance. 

All Other Implications (including Staff, Sustainability, Health, Rural, Crime and 
Disorder) 

5.3 There are no other direct implications arising from this report. Any further 
implications will be identified when a topic is reviewed by the Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee and in any recommendations made by it. 

Diversity Impact Assessment  

5.4 No Diversity Impact Assessment is required at this stage. Any DIA that is 
required during review of topics included within the work programme will be 
identified at the appropriate stage. 

Risk Management 

5.5 No risk management issues have been identified at this stage. Any risk 
management issues will be identified at the appropriate time when a topic is 
under review by the Overview Scrutiny Committee and if it makes any 
recommendations. 

Page 36



Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Michael Ash, 
Head of Housing, Communities and Housing, mash@swindon.gov.uk 

6. Consultees 

6.1 The author has consulted appropriate Corporate Directors, Directors, Heads of 
Service, other officers, and relevant partners on the purpose, content, and 
recommendations of the report.  

7. Background Papers 

7.1 None. 

8. Appendices 

8.1 None. 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018-2019 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Vicki Yull 
(Committee Officer), 07980 752043, vyull@swindon.gov.uk. 

Author: Chief Legal Officer 

Wards: All 

Parishes Affected: All  
 

1. Purpose and Reasons 

1.1 To consider the Scrutiny Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
Annual Report for 2018/2019 and make any comments on the work carried out 
by the Committee and its Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

2. Recommendations 

The Scrutiny Committee is recommended: 

2.1 To receive the Scrutiny Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
Annual Report for 2018/2019. 

3. Detail 
   
3.1 The Council has six Overview and Scrutiny bodies (a Scrutiny Committee and 

five Overview and Scrutiny Committees) that support the Council’s decision-
making and policy development processes and the work of the Cabinet and the 
Council as a whole. 

3.2 The Scrutiny Committee also monitors the decisions of the Cabinet. It can ‘call-in’ 
a decision that has been made by the Cabinet whether or not it has been 
implemented. This enables it to consider whether the decision is appropriate. It 
may recommend either that the Cabinet or Cabinet Member reconsider the 
decision or that the matter be referred to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for investigation. 

3.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees may be consulted by the Cabinet or the 
Council on forthcoming decisions and help with the development of policy for 
both the Cabinet and the Council.  

3.4 The specific roles and functions of the Scrutiny Committee and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees are set out in Article 6 of the Council’s Constitution. 

3.5 This Annual Report is a record of the work of the Scrutiny Committee and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees in the Municipal Year 2018/2019.   

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 No alternative options are proposed. 

 

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018-2019 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Vicki Yull 
(Committee Officer), 07980 752043, vyull@swindon.gov.uk. 

5. Implications, Diversity Impact Assessment and Risk Management 

Financial and Procurement Implications 

5.1 There are no financial or procurement implications. 

Legal and Human Rights Implications 

5.2 Legal and Human Right considerations have been taken fully into account in 
compiling this report. The Council is required to comply with the requirements of 
the Local Government Acts 1972 and 2000 and associated Regulations and 
Statutory Instruments. 

All Other Implications (including Staff, Sustainability, Health, Rural, Crime and 
Disorder) 

5.3 There are no specific implications that relate to staff, sustainability, health, rural 
or crime and disorder within this report. 

Diversity Impact Assessment  

5.4 A Diversity Impact Assessment has not been completed for this report.   

Risk Management 

5.5 A risk assessment has not been completed for this report. 

6. Consultees 

6.1 None. 

7. Background Papers 

7.1 None. 

8. Appendices 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Scrutiny Committee and Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 
Annual Report for 2018/2019. 

Page 40



Appendix 1 

 

 
Swindon Borough Council  

 

Scrutiny Committee 
 
Annual Report 
 
Municipal Year 2018 - 2019 
 

 

 

  

Page 41



Appendix 1 

Foreword by the Chair of the Scrutiny Committee 

This will be the last Annual Overview and Scrutiny report that I shall be introducing as 
Chair of the Scrutiny Committee. During my tenure some important changes have 
taken place. Not least the loss of both officers and offices in support of the Overview 
and Scrutiny role. It has fallen on the remaining Officers and Members to research and 
challenge policy development.  
 
Too often non-executive Members are able to challenge policy only after the Cabinet 
decisions have been made rather than at a prior stage when they can influence it. 
Members may have the opportunity to contribute to policy development through a Task 
Group report, or directly with officers or a Cabinet Member, a process sometimes 
known as pre-scrutiny. Cabinet Members also have the opportunity to engage with 
non-executive members in the policy development process by bringing “green papers”, 
the debate on which will shape the final policy. The number of Task Groups has 
reduced and has given way to officer reports that are questioned as part of scrutiny 
meetings. There is little evidence that this approach to policy development is leading to 
informed decision-making and improved policy development. 
 
I have raised the matters above in my introduction as the function of Overview and 
Scrutiny is to hold the authorities decision-makers to account. This is fundamental in 
the successful functioning of local democracy. How effective a scrutiny body is helps 
to drive the level of improvements and efficiency within the authority itself. This cannot 
happen if there is an acceptance that decisions already made by one group of 
Members should always be supported without critical challenge. Whilst it is hard to 
override political allegiance critical challenge is a basic function of Overview and 
Scrutiny and should be more than just divisional politics driven. It is why, where 
possible, that compliments and critical challenge should be bedfellows through 
advocating and questions. 
 
A call-in resulted in a move to a vote without a debate. At the time there was legal 
direction that a mover could only move after a debate. I have written to the Chief Legal 
Officer and asked that we look at making the constitutional guidance clearer and that 
any call-in taken to Scrutiny will always result in a debate. 
 
The public role within the Overview and Scrutiny function has diminished in some 
areas. I regard public participation in Scrutiny meetings as important, it widens our 
consideration and provides intelligence on the impact of policy. Members in a similar 
way assist policy development and service delivery decisions for those local 
authorities attending our Scrutiny meetings. This is illustrated by the dissatisfaction 
expressed by the public and Members on the poor service provided by IMH when 
running Doctors’ Surgeries. This added weight to the decision to end the IMH tenure.  
 
In the last year we have heard through Cabinet Members how successful the local 
economy is yet at the same time we have heard how difficult it has been for some 
residents. Many cannot enjoy our town as we would like due to economic and health 
reasons. Reports acknowledge that we have a diverse town and the challenge for 
Council is to ensure all our residents enjoy the town’s benefits. It is through our 

Page 42



Appendix 1 

policies and scrutiny that we have a way to ensure greater participation for those who 
like to participate.  
 
The advances in answering public and Members questions has been maintained with 
an overall improvement in directly answering written questions. There are still some 
who answer by referring to references rather than simply answering the questions they 
know. I hope this habit reduces to match the expectations of the questioners. 
 
I have previously stated that the Scrutiny process is at its bests when it ensures good 
decision-making, and this depends on Members being the check and balances for 
policy decisions. It is the responsibility of Overview and Scrutiny Members to ensure 
we have a successful local authority and democracy.  
 
I would like to thank all those who have participated and supported the Overview and 
Scrutiny function in the last year. The report below shows the work we have 
undertaken. 
 
 
Councillor Bob Wright - Chair of Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



Appendix 1 

Introduction  

The Council has six Overview and Scrutiny bodies (a Scrutiny Committee and five 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees) that support the Council’s decision-making and 
policy development processes and the work of the Cabinet and the Council as a 
whole.   
 
The Scrutiny Committee also monitors the decisions of the Cabinet. Currently, all 
decisions taken at a Cabinet meeting are “called-in” to Scrutiny.  In addition, Scrutiny 
can ‘call-in’ a decision that has been made by the Cabinet Member whether or not it 
has been implemented. This enables it to consider whether the decision is appropriate. 
It may recommend either that the Cabinet or Cabinet Member reconsider the decision 
or that the matter be referred to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 
investigation. 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committees may be consulted by the Cabinet or the 
Council on forthcoming decisions and help with the development of policy for both the 
Cabinet and the Council.  
 
The specific roles and functions of the Scrutiny Committee and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees are set out in Article 6 of the Council’s Constitution. 
 
This Annual Report is a record of the work of the Scrutiny Committee and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees in the Municipal Year 2018/19.   
 

 

  

Page 44



Appendix 1 

Scrutiny Committee 

Number of meetings and Membership of the 
Committee for 2018/2019 
 
In the Municipal Year 2018/19, the Scrutiny Committee met on ten occasions. The 
Committee comprised the following Borough Councillors:  
 

Conservative Councillors Labour Councillors 

Claire Ellis (until July 2018) Emma Bushell 

Emma Faramarzi Jane Milner-Barry 

Fionuala Foley (from September 2018) Des Moffatt 

Brian Mattock James Robbins 

Barbara Parry Chris Watts 

Maureen Penny (until September 2018) Bob Wright 

Tim Swinyard  

Vera Tomlinson  

Steve Weisinger (from July 2018)  

 

Leader of the Council’s Annual Report to Scrutiny 

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Leader of the Council reports to the 
first meeting of the Scrutiny Committee in each Municipal Year on the Council’s 
achievements in delivering against the Administration’s specific priorities and targets in 
the preceding year, and the challenges and priorities for the Council in the 2018/19 
Municipal Year. 
 
At the Scrutiny Committee meeting on 18th June 2018, the Leader of the Council, 
Councillor David Renard, highlighted achievements during the preceding year which 
included:  

 Pledge 14: Build up to 3,500 homes on Wichelstowe. A joint venture agreement 
had been signed with Barratt Homes and, following a competitive tender, plans 
for a new pub and restaurant near Waitrose had been secured.   

 Pledge 22 – to secure the North Star Regional Leisure destination. The Council 
had outline planning permission for the North Star development and was 
awaiting the final application.  

 Lydiard House and Park remained open and work had started to improve the 
historic building.  

 The Council had continued to reduce the number of delayed discharges of care. 
 
The Leader saw the following as specific tasks for the year ahead: 

 Ensuring that the Council’s statutory care services are provided.  

 Ensuring that relationships with the police, schools, the hospital, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group, and the relevant charities and third sector groups are 
enhanced in order to ensure that all residents are protected.  

 

Page 45



Appendix 1 

The Scrutiny Committee was given the opportunity to put questions to the Leader on 
the issues raised in his report and presentation and used this debate as the basis for 
establishing its Work Programme for the year. 
 

Work Programme 

The Scrutiny Committee is required to have a Work Programme that details the 
activities that it will be undertaking during the Municipal Year. The Overview and 
Scrutiny process seeks to represent the voice and concerns of people across the 
Borough and the annual Work Programme seeks to ensure that Councillors have the 
opportunity to put forward suggestions for review by the Overview and Scrutiny 
function.   
 
The Work Programme details the various topics and issues that the Committee intends 
to consider during the coming year with the aim of producing evidence based 
recommendations intended to provide service improvements for Cabinet and, where 
appropriate, external agencies/bodies to consider.  
 
In addition to selecting various topics and issues for inclusion on the Work 
Programme, the Scrutiny Committee has a number of “standard” items that also need 
to be incorporated, including: 

 Review of Cabinet Decisions – The Scrutiny Committee is required to review 
the decisions taken by Cabinet.  

 Leaders Report – the Scrutiny Committee receives an annual presentation and 
a six monthly update from the Leader of the Council on the Administration’s 
priorities for the year and performance against identified targets and objectives. 

 Cabinet Member Question & Answer Sessions – each Cabinet Member is 
expected to appear before the Scrutiny Committee to report on performance in 
relation to their portfolio responsibilities, performance and future plans, and to 
answer members’ questions on issues raised. 

 
The Work Programme is necessarily flexible to allow the Committee to respond to 
issues that might arise during the course of the year and, to that end, it is reviewed at 
every Committee meeting to ensure that it remains relevant and that members and 
officers have sufficient capacity to effectively achieve its objectives. 
 
At its meeting on 18th June 2018, the Scrutiny Committee considered and agreed a 
rolling Work Programme for the 2018/19 Municipal Year, taking into account the issues 
raised in the Leader of the Council’s presentation to this meeting. 

Consideration of Cabinet Decisions 

It is a primary function of the Scrutiny Committee to meet at regular intervals to review 
the policies, process and implications of Cabinet and Cabinet Member decision 
making. In reviewing Cabinet decisions, the Scrutiny Committee has the following 
remit: 

Page 46



Appendix 1 

 To consider requests for “call-in” as defined in the Council’s “Call-in” Procedure. 
Call-in is intended for use only in exceptional circumstances when members 
have evidence to suggest that the decision was not made in accordance with 
due process, as set out in Article 13 of the Constitution.  All decisions taken at 
Cabinet meetings are “called-in” automatically under the Constitution. 

 To refer decisions back to Cabinet (or the decision maker) for reconsideration.  
It may do this once for any individual decision after which, if there is no 
agreement, the decision will be referred to Council for determination. 

 To refer Cabinet and Cabinet Member decisions to the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee for investigation without delaying the implementation of the 
decision concerned. 

 
During the course of the 2018/19 Municipal Year, the Scrutiny Committee met on 
seven occasions to review decisions arising from meetings of the Cabinet. The 
Scrutiny Committee’s review of Cabinet decisions is greatly facilitated by the support 
of the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Members who regularly attend Scrutiny 
Committee meetings to introduce matters relating to their individual portfolios and to 
respond to questions put by Scrutiny members.  
 
In 2018/19 no decisions were referred back to Cabinet, but one Cabinet Member 
delegated decision was called-in.  
 
At its meeting on 22nd October 2018, the Committee considered a call-in request in 
respect of a decision made by the Cabinet Member for Finance concerning the 
transfer of five sites to the Swindon Housing Company. 
  
In accordance with the Council’s call-in procedure, the Committee was invited to 
consider the evidence provided by the four Councillors who had requested the call-in 
as to why the decision failed to meet the requirements of the Council’s principles of 
decision making, as set out in Article 13 (Decision Making) of the Council’s 
Constitution, with particular regard to the carrying out of due process in reaching the 
decision and / or failing to fully appreciate the implications of the decision, and to 
determine whether the matter should be referred back for further consideration. 
  
The Committee did not support the case put forward in the notice of call-in and did not 
refer the matter back to the Cabinet Member for further consideration. 

Cabinet Member Question and Answer Sessions 

The Scrutiny Committee has, over a period of years, utilised question and answer 
sessions with Cabinet Members as its primary method of reviewing performance and 
ensuring that identified priorities are being successfully delivered. All Members of the 
Cabinet are required to come before the Scrutiny Committee at some time during the 
year to take part in a question and answer session that focusses on the full extent of 
their portfolio. Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to focus question and answer 
sessions with Cabinet Members on specific topics and / or services in order to avoid 
duplication. 
 

Page 47



Appendix 1 

During 2018/19 Scrutiny Committee conducted question and answer sessions with 
Cabinet Members on the following occasions: 
 

Date of 
Meeting 

Cabinet Member Portfolio Responsibilities 

16th July 2018 Cabinet Member for 
Town Centre 
 

 Provide the political leadership for: 
o the continued economic and 

cultural development and well-
being of the Town Centre; and 

o key partners, e.g. InSwindon, Old 
Town Business Association. 

 Ensure that the Council's agreed 
priorities within the portfolio are 
delivered. 
 

13th August 
2018 

Cabinet Member for 
Adults 
 

 Adult Services (older people, 
people with a learning disability, 
physical disability and mental 
health).  

 Adult Voluntary Sector Contracts. 

 Implementation of Care Act 2014.  

 Adult Local Safeguarding Board. 

 Public Health – including health 
promotion, prevention and health 
and wellbeing services. 

 Supported Housing.  

 Learning Disability Partnership 
Board. 

 Maintaining links between the 
Council and partner organisations 
in the Health Services. 

 Oversight of Better Care Fund and 
joint Commissioning of Adult 
Social Care and Clinical 
Commissioning Group. 

 Mental Health Champion – the 
Local Authority Mental Health 
Challenge. 

 Swindon Borough Council 
representative on the Sustainable 
Transformation Partnership 
Sponsoring Board and Integrated 
Care Alliance Board Swindon. 

 

10th September 
2018 

Cabinet Member for 
Economic Prosperity 

 Set the strategic vision to allow the 
economy to prosper. 

 Provide the overarching direction to 

Page 48



Appendix 1 

enable the Borough to have the 
range of vocational and higher 
education opportunities necessary to 
meet employers’ needs for skills. 

 Provide the political leadership for 
business growth in all areas 
including town centre, investment, 
R&D, Switch on to Swindon, and 
tourism. 

 Provide the strategic vision for the 
next generation of digital cities. 

 Ensure that the Council's agreed 
priorities within the portfolio are 
delivered. 
 

22nd October 
2018 

Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services 
and School 
Attainment 

 Provide strategic leadership and be 
the statutory lead Member for 
Children’s Services.  

 Provide the political leadership for 
the improvement plan. 

 Through the senior officers, ensure 
Children are Safeguarded. 

 Provide political leadership for the 
contract/compliance/procurement 
workstream of the Swindon 
Programme.  

 Provide the political leadership for 
the strategic provision of: 

a) Corporate Parenting 
b) Early Help 
c) Youth Justice 

 Promote Children’s Health and 
Wellbeing.  

 Provide political leadership through 
the Swindon Challenge Board in 
raising school attainment.  

 Ensure that the Council's agreed 
priorities within the portfolio are 
delivered. 

 To work with the Cabinet Member for 
Highways and the Environment to 
provide political leadership for the 
Demand Management workstream of 
the Swindon Programme. 

19th November 
2018 

Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Planning 

 Have overview of the Strategic 
Spatial Planning and Development 
Planning Framework. 

Page 49



Appendix 1 

 Provide political leadership for the 
New Eastern Villages programme. 

 Promote Sustainability. 

 Have overview of the Wichelstowe 
Joint Venture. 

 Set the direction for future strategic 
infrastructure programmes to support 
economic growth. 

 Ensure that the Council's agreed 
priorities within the portfolio are 
delivered. 
 

14th January 
2019 

Cabinet Member for 
Corporate and 
Customer Services 

 Performance and Risk. 

 Human Resources and 
Organisational Development. 

 Communications. 

 Health and Safety. 

 Customer Services. 

 Information Technology. 

 Digitalisation. 

 Lydiard House and Park.  

11th February 
2019 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Public 
Safety 

 Provide the strategic direction for the 
management of all aspects of the 
Council’s social housing. 

 Provide strategic direction to reduce 
and prevent homelessness where 
possible. 

 Promote partnership engagement to 
address rough sleeping. 

 Provide strategic leadership to 
promote safe public areas.  

 Set the strategic vision for the 
Borough’s continuing social 
development.  

 Ensure that the Council's agreed 
priorities within the portfolio are 
delivered. 

25th March 
2019 

Cabinet Member for 
Finance 
 

 Annual Budget (Revenue and 
Capital Programme). 

 Finance Management Overview. 

 Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 Procurement. 

 Revenue and Benefits Services. 

 Welfare and Benefits Policy. 

 Commercial Investment Fund. 

Page 50



Appendix 1 

 

25th March 
2019 

Cabinet Member for 
Highways and 
Environment 

 Waterside Depot, including 
Household Waste and Recycling 
centre (but not PPS). 

 Streetsmart. 

 Public Toilets. 

 Waste Disposal/Waste Minimisation. 

 Street Lighting. 

 Street Cleaning. 

 Recycling. 

 Refuse Collection-Domestic and 
Trade. 

 Ground and Tree Maintenance and 
Open Spaces. 

 Removal of graffiti and abandoned 
vehicles. 

 Parks (Streetsmart services only). 

 Playgrounds. 

 Maintenance of Roundabouts and 
non-HRA verges. 

 Building Services, cleaning, catering 
and security services. 

 Gullies, drainage, minor road repairs 
and potholes. 

 Public Transport, Concessionary 
Fares, Specialist Transport, Council 
Transport and Fleet Management. 

 Traffic and Transport Forward 
Planning including Local Transport 
Plan and implementation. 

 Building community capacity. 

 Envirocrime. 
 

 
On each occasion, the Cabinet Member attending has submitted, and presented, a 
report to Scrutiny Committee that has been the focus of members’ questions and 
observations. A standardised approach has been utilised for these reports which, at 
the Chair of Scrutiny Committee’s request, addresses performance and future 
planning issues by responding to the following questions: 

 What have you done well?  

 What would you do differently? 

 What are the Challenges facing your portfolio. 
 
This approach has been very successful, both in allowing Scrutiny members to “dig 
deeper” into performance issues and suggest how performance might be improved 
upon and also to raise matters of particular concern which might otherwise not be 
prioritised.  

Page 51



Appendix 1 

 
The Committee functions, largely, in a non-party politically motivated fashion and, 
whilst debate can be boisterous, it has also paved the way for joint working and even, 
on occasion, all-party resolution of issues. The willing, and even enthusiastic, 
participation of Cabinet Members in the question and answer sessions, and their 
continuing provision of full and open responses to Scrutiny members’ questions, often 
pursued further outside the scope of the meeting, is commendable and noteworthy. 

Status of outstanding requests for information 

At every meeting, the Committee receives a report advising on the status of 
outstanding issues and member requests for information. These concern matters 
raised by the Committee, usually during the consideration of Cabinet minutes and / or 
Cabinet Member Question and Answer sessions, where a Cabinet Member, or, 
occasionally, a senior officer, has agreed to take a particular action in response to a 
position taken by the Scrutiny Committee or when additional information has needed 
to be provided. This summary report has proven very successful, both in co-ordinating 
responsive action and ensuring that the required action is taken within an appropriate 
period of time. It is now very unusual for a matter raised at a Committee meeting to 
remain outstanding beyond the date of the subsequent meeting.      

The Leader of the Council's Half-Year Update   

At the, roughly, half-point in each Municipal Year, the Leader of the Council is invited 
to attend a meeting of the Scrutiny Committee to outline how the Authority has 
performed in the first half of the year, particularly in relation to the particular priorities 
and targets identified by him at the first Scrutiny Committee meeting of the year (see 
above). This mid-year presentation by the Leader affords Scrutiny Committee, and the 
Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees, an opportunity to review Work 
Programmes to accommodate revised priorities and / or matters of urgency. This year, 
the Leader of the Council made his half-year update to the Scrutiny Committee at its 
meeting on 10th December 2018.  
 
Councillor Renard introduced his report, commenting on the Council’s achievements to 
that point in 2018/19 and highlighting the challenges for the remainder of the year. 
Following his presentation of the report, members were given the opportunity to put 
questions to the Leader of the Council. The following issues were raised by Scrutiny 
members: 

 The progress of implementing the Vision, Priorities and Pledges by officers. 

 How the Planning Committee balances competing demands when considering 
proposals such as the North Star Village for example, where the proposed 
Snowdome building will not be ‘zero carbon’ but will grow Swindon’s economy.  

 How the proposed developments at the North Star Village will attract visitors 
from large distances, but will have a resultant increase in traffic and travel 
emissions within the town, which may not be of benefit to Swindon residents or 
its environment.  

Page 52



Appendix 1 

 How Ward councillors can liaise with planning officers in ensuring that any 
planning conditions imposed on the North Star development are met.  

 The interrelationship between the capital spend and revenue savings planned 
at Coate Water, and what is being done to ensure that this investment is not 
wasted and that the right support is in place for this asset.   

 The significant development that has taken place so far at Kimmersfields and 
expectations of when the project will be finished, given that Homes England is 
a key partner and owns 40% of the remaining site to be developed.   

 How Zurich are the ‘anchor tenant’ in Kimmersfields, and the plans for the 
Tricentre 1 building that they will be vacating. 

 The creation of a Town Centre Movement Strategy to evaluate traffic 
movement in and around the town centre, which would take in to account the 
implications of consented and planned new development whilst providing 
evidence to assist with the prudent and responsible management of the 
network, as discussed by Cabinet at its meeting on 11th July 2018.  

 The slippage on delivering the southern access routes in to the Wichelstowe 
development, and the changes that have been made to the design. The 
Committee noted that the Local Enterprise Partnership funding for this project 
has to be used by March 2021, and that there will be knock on effects to the 
rest of the development if the southern access routes have not been completed 
by then.  

 Proposals for the park and ride facilities at Junction 15 and Junction 16 of the 
M4, plans for re-opening a park and ride facility in North Swindon, and whether 
a budget has been set to improve the traffic situation in Rodbourne.  

 How to make connectivity work across the Borough, ensuring a joined-up 
approach to delivering proposals.  

 How the Business Engagement Officer can assist businesses in Rodbourne 
with their concerns such as the lack of street signage and the travel times 
within the area potentially putting off visitors. It is anticipated that the 
introduction of tariff matching in the Bristol Street car park in March 2019 
should help alleviate some of the traffic problems in the Rodbourne area.   

 Complaints received regarding the new fee systems on the car parks in the 
town centre, and that business owners in the town centre would like free 
parking introduced to compete with out of town areas.  

 Recognising the importance of having a strong parking enforcement regime 
across the Borough, and the current recruitment campaign for four 
Enforcement Officer vacancies.  

 The excellent career development choices provided for young people by 
apprenticeships, and the Council’s Strategy on this matter. The Committee 
noted that the Growing the Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee had an 
item on its agenda for 30th January 2019 to review how the Council encourages 
companies to provide meaningful apprenticeships resulting in jobs.  

 The possibility of Parish Councils becoming involved in the provision of 
vehicular charging points across the Borough. 

 The shortage of social workers nationally and the problems this causes the 
Council in driving forward its agenda of improvements and ensuring that 
children develop meaningful relationships with staff.  

Page 53



Appendix 1 

 Resolving the issues between the salaries and employment offer for permanent 
and agency social worker staff.   

 The reasoning behind the early finish of Swindon Challenge now that there is a 
more collaborative approach across schools in Swindon, and more rigorous 
and detailed plans are in place. The Committee noted that organisations such 
as the Swindon Secondary Schools Attendance Network and the Swindon 
Association of Secondary Heads are helping to shape best practice and 
introduce action plans, which will be a positive step forward in improvements 
and attainment. 

 
No changes were made to the Scrutiny Committee’s Work Programme as a result of 
matters raised during the consideration of the Leader’s half-year update. 

Budget Setting Process - 2019-20 

The Scrutiny Committee has specific responsibility under its terms of reference, and 
under the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, to fulfil the 
Council’s Budget Scrutiny Function. Responsible financial management underpins the 
Council’s Vision, Priorities and Pledges by ensuring best use is consistently made of 
all available resources as well as providing focus for its transformation work. The 
scrutiny of the budget function is an important element in ensuring the organisation 
understands the financial context within which it operates and develops plans to 
remain financially stable that will underpin the Council’s ability to achieve its Vision, 
strategies, plans and priorities, including the corporate objectives. 
 
At its meeting on 14th January 2019, the Committee received a report that provided 
members with an opportunity to understand better the strategic context and framing for 
the direction of travel of the organisation to deliver the Vision for Swindon, within the 
expected financial context, and the particular processes the Council has adopted to 
ensure it has a balanced budget for 2019/20 and a sustainable future financial 
position. The report also afforded the Committee an opportunity to receive a current 
budget position statement from the Cabinet Member for Finance and the Director of 
Finance.  
 
In furtherance of the Committee’s budget scrutiny function, and in accordance with its 
specific responsibility as set out in the Council’s Constitution (Article 6 and the Budget 
and Policy Framework Procedure Rules refer), Scrutiny Committee members put 
questions to the Cabinet Member for Finance and the Director of Finance on the 
Council’s budget position and the issues raised in the report relating to the financial 
context within which the budget proposals have been framed. 

 

A Review of Outsourcing / Business Transfers 

At its meeting on 19th November 2018, the Committee considered a report setting out 
details of the Council’s significant business transfers and service outsourcing 

Page 54



Appendix 1 

transactions that had taken place since 2005. The Appendix to the report distilled the 
relevant details from the projects and noted the advantages and disadvantages, 
including the lessons learned from the transactions, with the ambition of improving 
commissioning capability and practice across the Council. 

Possible effects of leaving the EU 

At its meeting on 10th December 2018, the Committee considered a report setting out 
the issues identified so far for the Council in light of the departure of the United 
Kingdom from the European Union (“Brexit”) on 29th March 2019. The report also 
addressed the Council’s response to Brexit through both its inward investment and 
business retention and expansion programmes. The report was submitted following 
this Committee’s request for an update at its meeting on 10th September 2018 along 
with a subsequent Council resolution on 20th September 2018.  

Summary 

The Scrutiny Committee has, in 2018/19, completed a significant Work Programme 
that has put its members at the centre of the Council’s decision-making process and 
the review of all aspects of the Council’s service provision. Whether through its debate 
of the evidence supporting Cabinet decisions and its analysis of the Council’s budget 
setting process, or its assessment of the performance of individual Cabinet Member 
portfolios via question and answer sessions, the Scrutiny Committee has fulfilled its 
function to provide quality assurance and effective challenge to the Cabinet decision-
making process, helping to ensure that decisions are made in accordance with 
Constitutional requirements. The Committee has approached its function 
enthusiastically and with a high level of commitment from its members.   

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Adult's Health, Adult’s Care and Housing Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 55



Appendix 1 

Number of meetings and Membership of the 

Committee for 2018/19: 

In the Municipal Year 2018/19, the Adult’s Health, Adult’s Care and Housing 

Committee met on 5 occasions. The Committee comprised the following nine Borough 

Councillors:  

 

Conservative Councillors    

Maureen Penny (Chair for meetings 21st June 2018 and 
12th September 2018)               
Fionuala Foley (Chair for meetings 6th November 2018,                         
29th January 2019 and 5th March 2019) 
Malcolm Davies  
Mary Friend  
Nick Martin  
Caryl Sydney-Smith 

                                       

Labour Councillors 

Claire Crilly  

Steph Exell  

Julie Wright  

Robert Wright 

 

Appointment of Co-optees 

The Council’s Constitution allows that each Overview and Scrutiny Committee be 
entitled to appoint a number of people as non-voting co-optees. At its meeting on 21st 
June 2018, the Committee was invited to consider whether any non-voting co-opted 
members should be sought to support its work programme for the year. 
 
The Committee agreed that Carol Willis be appointed as the Healthwatch Swindon, 
Michelle Howard be appointed as the Equalities Advisory Forum representative, Kate 
Moore be appointed as the Tenant Scrutiny Panel representative and Rosemary Curtis 
be appointed as the Homeless Organisations Standing Together in Swindon 
representative on the Committee. These appointments were for the remainder of the 
Municipal Year 2018/19.   
 

Work Programme 

At the commencement of each Municipal Year, each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is required to establish a work programme that details the activities that it 
will be undertaking during the municipal year. The work programme details the various 
topics and issues that each Committee intends to look into during the coming year with 
the aim of producing evidence based recommendations intended to provide service 
improvements for Cabinet and external agencies/bodies to consider.  
 
The work programme is developed taking into account: 
 

 Corporate priorities and objectives, including the Cabinet Forward Plan 

 Partnership strategic priorities and objectives 

Page 56



Appendix 1 

 The interests and concerns of Members, Council officers, members of the public 
and other stakeholders such as community and voluntary groups and local 
businesses 

 
It is important that Overview and Scrutiny adds value to the work of the Council and 
the Borough and produces tangible outcomes for local people that result in real service 
improvements. Selecting the right topics is crucial to ensure that Overview and 
Scrutiny will be effective. Each year, a consultation exercise is undertaken with Partner 
Organisations, Councillors and the public to find out what issues are important and 
might be included in the work programme for the year.  The results of that consultation 
exercise are reported to the first meeting of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
the Municipal Year to support members in identifying which issues will be included in 
the work programme for the year. As with the Scrutiny Committee, work programmes 
are sufficiently flexible to allow the Committee to respond to issues that might arise 
during the course of the year and, to that end, it is reviewed at every Committee 
meeting, or as often as the Committee sees fit, to ensure that it remains relevant and 
that members and officers have sufficient capacity to effectively achieve its objectives. 
 
The Adult’s Health, Adult’s Care and Housing Committee considered its work 
programme at its meeting on 21st June 2018 when it determined that the following 
topics be included in the Work Programme: 
a) Regular updates of performance and key issues from the Adult Social Care 

Commissioning, Housing Department, Great Western Hospital, Avon and Wiltshire 
Partnership NHS Trust Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group.  

b) The Green Paper - Rough Sleeping Strategy. 
c) Social Care: The Green Paper on Older People. 
d) Standards and safety of High Rise Council Housing.  
e) The effect on health and social service delivery in light of the increase in the 

population projections for Swindon.   
f) The Supported Employment Strategy. 
g) The provision of support for rough sleepers in Swindon. 
h) Actions being taken to address domestic abuse. 

 

Performance for Adult's Social Care Commissioning 

It is a key purpose of the Adult’s Health, Adult’s Care and Housing Committee to hold 
Providers of Health Services to account. To that end, any provider of Health Services 
in Swindon is required to provide information on the planning and provision of health 
services within the Borough and consult with the Committee on any planned 
substantial changes or developments to service provision.  
  
At its five meetings during the year, the Committee received a report providing an 
update on performance and key issues relating to the commissioning and performance 
of Adults Health and Social Care Services. The reports were presented in a standard 
format, responding to each of the following questions with a “snapshot” of performance 
and key issues in that particular time period:  
 

 What are the challenges that your organisation is facing? 

Page 57



Appendix 1 

 What have you done well? 
 

Over the course of the meetings, the Cabinet Member for Adults and Health and the 
Corporate Director Adult Social Services and Health drew the following key issues to 
members’ attention: 

 The ongoing work to reduce spend on Learning Disability services as spend per 
service user in Swindon remained high compared to other authorities. 

 The identification of improvements to safeguarding services around adult 
services to better understand Domestic Abuse the impact of coercive and 
controlling behaviour (especially on older people); application of Mental 
Capacity when there are safeguarding concerns; quality assurance processes; 
and personalisation in safeguarding. 

 The action plan set up for a care home to address concerns by the Care Quality 
Commission. 

 The range of initiatives underway in Swindon to tackle obesity and promote 
physical activity include Football Fans in Training, Health Walks, Park runs, and 
weight management programmes. 

 The improvement in the Delayed Transfer of Care performance. 

 The work with external partners and services across the council to identify 
opportunities to improve resilience and prevent long term conditions by 
promoting health and wellbeing amongst Swindon residents. 

 The reduction in the number of older people being admitted into permanent 
care. This was due to timelier assessments, the effectiveness of the reablement 
service and the improved management oversight at first point of contact. 

 The “Illegal Tobacco Community” Engagement events held to inform the public 
of the harms of illegal tobacco. 

 The support provided by various areas of the community including carers and 
the Voluntary Sector. 

 The budget surplus in light of the challenges faced by the department.  

 The reduction in the delayed transfer of care cases.  

 Redesigning the learning disability services, focusing on aligning spend with 
similar funding allocated by similar authorities.  

 Addressing the adult safeguarding challenges identified by the safeguarding 
service audit and performance management exercise recently undertaken.  

 Supporting providers of care homes to drive up provision quality.  

 The successful reduction of smoking in Swindon that was achieved through a 
range of strategies.  

 The work of the “Front Door” services that prolong people’s independence 
through improving first point of contact /front door services.  

 The Reablement Service and Fessey House programme commended in the 
HSJ (Health Service Journal) 2018 Value Awards for supporting people living 
independently at home following an episode of care.  

 The effective management of admission to residential and nursing care.  

 The Learning Disability Services offering support service to enable those with 
disabilities to actively contribute to society. 

 The timely identification of adults at risk and robust compliance with adult 
safeguarding processes to ensure their safety. 

Page 58



Appendix 1 

 A higher proportion of Swindon Care Homes judged as good or outstanding by 
Care Quality Commission. 

 Timely assessments and reviews for carers were being undertaken following 
the implementation of a new system. 

 The promotion of achieving a healthy weight and an active lifestyle has resulted 
in the reduction of excess weight prevalence in Swindon. 

 The approach being taken to reduce the number of people who smoke in 
Swindon. 

 The improvement in the delayed transfer of care provision. 
 

Following the presentation of the reports to each meeting of the Committee, the 
Cabinet Member for Adults and Health and the Corporate Director Adult Social 
Services and Health responded to Members’ questions and comments on the issues 
raised. Over the course of the year, the following issues were discussed: 

 The promotion of healthy living within the community, with a particular focus on 
diabetes and obesity. 

 Partnership working between health providers to help those wanting a lifestyle 
change, particularly to prevent obesity and diabetes. 

 The work undertaken by officers, resulting in the Social Services under-spend. 

 The facilities provided for people with learning disabilities in Swindon. 

 The procedure for assessing care homes and the agencies involved in the 
process. 

 The Council’s recruitment of community volunteers and how the Council 
engages with them. 

 The commissioning of mental health services from the AWP and voluntary 
sector providers.  

 The number of disabled people seeking employment.  

 Expenditure across learning disability services, particularly for out of borough 
placements.  

 The protocols in place to safeguard individuals.  

 Actions undertaken to improve the quality of services provided in care homes.  

 Monitoring individuals’ quality of life when living independently.  

 The reduction in the number of referrals received by the safeguarding team.  

 Addressing obesity and how the “Beat the Street” initiative helps the whole 
community by promoting walking, cycling and running for the entire family.  

 Data on smoking provided by Public Health England.  

 The commissioning of mental health services from the AWP and voluntary 
sector providers.  

 The number of disabled people seeking employment.  

 Expenditure across learning disability services, particularly for out of borough 
placements.  

 The protocols in place to safeguard individuals.  

 Actions undertaken to improve the quality of services provided in care homes. 

 Monitoring individuals’ quality of life when living independently.  

 The reduction in the number of referrals received by the safeguarding team. 

 Addressing obesity and how the “Beat the Street” initiative helps the whole 
community by promoting walking, cycling and running for the entire family.  

Page 59



Appendix 1 

 Data on smoking provided by Public Health England.  

 The success of the “Beat the Street” exercise initiative and the plan to repeat 
this exercise next summer. 

 Ferndale School’s crowing as winners of the “Beat the Street” exercise initiative. 

 Robert Buckland MP’s campaign with the Swindon Seniors Forum, the police, 
the NHS, the Local Authority and the Third Sector to tackle the issue of 
loneliness. 

 The current consultation on proposals to reshape day centres, and how those fit 
in with supporting individuals. 

 The success of the recent event on dementia held at the County Ground, 

 Work being done to improve the numbers of Learning Disability reviews that are 
undertaken. 

 The 30% increase in referrals being received by the Safeguarding Team, as 
compared to the same period last year, an analysis of which will be brought to 
the next meeting of this Committee. 

 The plans for improving the nursing home in Swindon which has been rated by 
the CQC as ‘inadequate’. 

 The low number of carers who have received an assessment or review since 
April 2018, and plans for increasing the frequency of assessments. 

 The plans for diverting people into community based solutions to help ensure 
they maintain and prolong their independence, including maximising working 
opportunities with voluntary based organisations and community navigators.  

 Details on case studies will be included in the report to the next meeting of this 
Committee.  

 The funding for the Community Navigators, by the CCG, and how they cover 
both Swindon and Shrivenham. 

 

Performance for Housing 
 
At its meeting on 29th January 2019, the Committee received a report by the Cabinet 
Member for Housing and Public Safety, and the Head of Housing regarding the key 
current challenges and successes in the Housing Services.   
 
Following the presentation of the report, the Head of Housing and Community Safety 
responded to members’ questions and comments on the following issues: 

 The excellent work undertaken with the homeless over the winter months. 

 The good feedback being received from users of The Haven, a new night 
shelter in Swindon. 

 The attendance at the Breakfast Club of staff in the Housing Options Team, 
which has been recognised as the best time to engage with the homeless. 

 The lack of understanding amongst agencies, such as probation services for 
example, of the duty to refer homelessness cases to the Council, and the 
actions being taken to help improve awareness. 

 The costs of voids, given that close to £1m was lost in rents last year, and 
 

Green Paper – Rough Sleeping Strategy 
 

Page 60



Appendix 1 

At its meeting on 21st June 2018, the Committee received a report by the Head of 
Housing submitted a report setting out the key challenges facing the Council and its 
success in responding to recent increases in rough sleeping. The Committee’s views 
were sought on the emerging priorities for the Rough Sleeper Strategy and the related 
bid to the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government for additional 
resources to support those sleeping rough. She explained that the Rough Sleepers 
Strategy correlated to the Homeless Strategy.  The Committee was advised that the 
report also summarised the key priorities for the Rough Sleeping Strategy, which were: 

 Working in partnership to prevent people sleeping rough in the first place – 

 No One Arrives on the Street 

 Rapid joined up multi-agency response when people do end up on the streets. 

 Provide an Outreach Service for those with complex or multiple needs. 

 In partnership, once housing solutions have been identified for individuals then 
a range of services are to be made available to support them. 

 Develop a range of accommodation and support solutions tailored to individual 
needs 

 The need to tackle anti-social behaviour and crime as this encourages those 
sleeping rough to engage. This keeps Swindon safe and clean for all users. 

 
Following the presentation of the report, the Head of Housing and Community Safety 
responded to members’ questions and comments on the following issues: 

 The involvement of the voluntary sector when drafting the Rough Sleepers’ 
strategy. 

 The discussions to be undertaken on the development of the Green Paper: 
Rough Sleepers Strategy, with the Housing Cabinet Member Advisory Group to 
obtain their contribution. 

 The multi-agency support being provided to the rough sleepers in Swindon. 
 
In response to members’ various comments and questions, the Head of Housing 
agreed to include information on the number and location of the houses bought by the 
Council to support rough sleepers in Swindon.   
 

Update on Fire Safety to Residential Blocks of Flats.  
 

At its meeting on 12th September 2018, the Committee received a report by the Cabinet 
Member for Housing and Public Safety and the Head of Housing on the management and 
fire safety improvement works being undertaken on the Council’s residential block of flats.  
The Committee noted that a range of consultation exercises with residents were being 
undertaken and these included consultation on the proposed replacement of fire doors at 
David Murray John (DMJ) building, the installation of a fire suppression system at George 
Hall Court and emergency escape lighting in the Council’s medium rise blocks of flats.  
 
Following the presentation of reports over the year, the Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Public Safety with the Head of Property Maintenance, responded to members’ questions 
and comments on the following issues:  
 

 The quality and type of fire safety doors being installed at DMJ.  

Page 61



Appendix 1 

 Procedures being implemented when replacing the fire safety doors at DMJ.  

 The processes used to ensure tenants are engaged with where English is not their 
first language.  

 Specialist health and safety training being given to caretakers at the relevant 
properties.  

 Awareness raising work undertaken to ensure all occupants were made aware of 
evacuation procedures, particularly relating to the use of passenger lifts.  

 Safety testing of white goods in Council properties and need to ensure that 
electrical installation is to current standards so that this is not required.  

 

Supported Employment   
 
At its meeting on 6th November 2018, the Committee received a report by the Cabinet 
Member for Economy Prosperity on how the Council was helping people with heath 
and care needs and in receipt of social care to find and maintain employment. The 
report highlighted how national studies indicated a link between paid employment and 
better physical and mental health and that with the right support, employment was an 
achievable goal and increased independence, improved mental health, and the ability 
to learn and develop.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Economy Prosperity drew the following key issues to 
members’ attention: 

 The Council’s Supported Employment Strategy was approved by the Health 
and Wellbeing Board on 10th October 2018. 

 The work of the Supported Employment Officer to develop an action plan to 
deliver the five objectives outlined in the strategy. 

 The range of internal and external stakeholders who were consulted with and 
who noted that a change of mind-set to deliver the strategy would be a 
challenge. 

 The key activities that had taken place over the past six months to deliver the 
strategy. 

 The activities to be undertaken over the next six months. 
 
Following the introduction of the report, the Cabinet Member for Economy together 
with the Cabinet Member for Adults and Health and the Director of Adult Social 
Services responded to members’ questions and comments on the following issues: 

 The tendency of volunteers to remain in situ over progressing to paid full time 
employment. 

 The project being promoted locally by the Routes to Employment 
Commissioner. 

 Measuring Swindon’s Employment Supported Strategy implementation against 
other local authorities. 

 Comparison between the current strategy and the previous Youth Training 
Schemes and the lessons learnt. 

 The Employment Supported Scheme’s impact on the Enterprise Works. 

 Designing training to ensure employers’ needs were met. 

 Provision of targeted career’s advice for people with learning disabilities. 

Page 62



Appendix 1 

 The resources being provided by the Local Authority to the Voluntary Sector. 
 
Following the meeting, the Commissioner, Routes to Employment, circulated 
information on a) Swindon’s Employment Supported Strategy implementation against 
other local authority’s performance and b) on the quality and quantity of careers advice 
available for people with learning disabilities. 
 

Winter Homelessness Provision 
 
At its meeting on 6th November 2018, the Committee received a report by the Cabinet 
Member for Housing and Public Safety and the Head of Housing on the arrangements 
being implemented to support those at risk of sleeping rough during the forthcoming 
winter months. The reasons for becoming homeless and sleeping rough in Swindon 
were brought to the Committee’s attention.  They were also updated on the Rough 
Sleeper Reduction Strategy which was developed in consultation with the 
Homelessness Organisations Stand Together in Swindon (HOSTS) and that it had 
been submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board on 10th October 2018 for their 
approval. The Committee’s attention was also drawn to the funding received from the 
Government’s Rough Sleeping initiative and how this funding was to be used. The 
Committee further noted that the Council voluntarily supports the Severe Weather 
Emergency Protocol (SWEP) and instigates the service when the temperature drops to 
0 degrees or less for 3 consecutive nights. 
 
Following the introduction of the report, the Cabinet Member for Housing and Public 
Safety, with the Head of Housing, responded to members’ questions and comments 
on the following issues: 

 The details of the Rough Sleeper Reduction Strategy which were now available 
on-line. 

 The opening of the Day Centre referred in 3.3 of the report and the 
arrangements being made to implement the Rough Sleeping initiative. 

 Importance of communication between commissioners and providers to ensure 
the Day Centre was a success. 

 Training stuff and volunteers at the Day Centre. 
 

Population Projections in Swindon 
 
At its meeting on 6th November 2018, the Committee received a report by the 
Corporate Director Adult Social Services and Health that provided an overview of 
population change and ageing in Swindon and some of the implications for the 
economy, public services, society and the individual. The Committee noted the 
positive news that the community of Swindon would be able to benefit from the 
programmes being implemented. The Corporate Director Adult Social Services and 
Health advised that the data was collated in collaboration with the Public Health 
department and referred to the ageing population and changing structure of the 
population in Swindon that would bring both opportunities and challenges for the 
economy, services and society at national and local levels. 
 

Page 63



Appendix 1 

Following the introduction of the report, Cabinet Member for Adults and health with the 
Corporate Director Adult Social Services and Health responded to members’ questions 
and comments on the following issues: 

 The impact on the community due to the declining levels of home ownership. 

 The need for the Planning Department to consider population growth in 
Swindon when reviewing the Local Plan. 

 The infrastructure put in place when new developments were given planning 
permission to ensure people did not feel isolated. 

 

Holding Providers of Health Services to account  

It is a key purpose of the Adult’s Health, Adult’s Care and Housing Committee to hold 
Providers of Health Services to account. To that end, any provider of Health Services 
in Swindon is required to provide information on the planning and provision of health 
services within the Borough and consult with the Committee on any planned 
substantial changes or developments to service provision.  
 

A. NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group 

At four of its five meetings during the year, the Committee received a report of the 
NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) providing an update on 
performance and key issues relating to commissioning and performance. The reports 
were presented in a standard format, responding to each of the following questions 
with a “snapshot” of performance and key issues in that particular time period: 

 What are the challenges that your organisation is facing? 

 What have you done well? 
 
Over the course of the meetings, the Executive Nurse at NHS Swindon Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) presented the report and drew the following key issues 
to members’ attention: 

 The planning and provision of health and social care services within the 
Borough to include the Health Based Place of Safety in Swindon and the 
procurement of Swindon Extended Primary Care Access and GP Out of Hours 
Service. 

 The need to improve engagement with hard to reach groups. 

 NHS England’s authorisation of the temporary consolidation of two of three 
HBPoS Suites in Swindon and Salisbury to a third site in Devizes in Wiltshire for 
12 months to provide an opportunity to address the CQC improvement 
requirements particularly around assessment times and to meet the 
requirements of The Policing and Crime Act 2017. 

 The launch of a 12 week consultation process across the BANES, Swindon and 
Wiltshire areas regarding the Maternity Transformation Plan. 

 The merger of Eldene Health Centre with Victoria Cross Surgery and the 
closure of Nythe Branch Surgery.  

 The improvement in the call times for the Prescription Ordering Direct (POD) 
Service following the recruitment of more staff.  

 The replacement of the IT system which would help monitor patient flow. 

Page 64



Appendix 1 

 The achievement of national standards for cancer referrals from doctors. 

 Waiting list for the provision of acute healthcare had improved against targets 
set by NHS England.  

 The consultation with patients, carers and the local community on the changes 
proposed when prescribing gluten free products.  

 The implementation of the Swindon and Shrivenham General Practice Forward 
View Delivery Plan. 

 Monitoring of the Swindon/GWH system Accident and Emergency Sustainability 
Plan for 2018/19 against key indicators. 

 The consultation of the Maternity Transformation Plan would commence in mid-
November.  

 All registered patients at the five practices in the Moredon Hub had received a 
letter providing details on the rationale for the changes implemented, and how 
subsequent issues are being addressed.  

  A learning event is being planned within the next 6 – 8 weeks, to which key 
stakeholders and those members of the public who have lobbied or contacted 
the CCG regarding the problems at Moredon Hub, will be invited. The aim will 
be to work through learning points, and co-produce a plan for improvements. 

 Healthwatch Swindon’s unannounced observation of the call centre at the 
Moredon Hub on the 28th January 2019, which had identified that only six 
people were answering telephone calls. 

 The reasoning as to why IMH had commenced on a contract without enough 
staff to deliver it, the serious shortage of staff, and the lack of a recruitment 
drive prior to January. 

 How the modelling for the contract had not shown the unmet demand due to the 
lack of information on missed / lost calls. 

 The errors with the computer mail merge that resulted in letters being sent to 
registered patients at the five GP practices involved in the hub. 

 The reasons for introducing a single call centre covering bookings for all five 
practices. 

 The success of a sustained reduction in delayed transfers of care, and the 
resilience amongst social care colleagues in coping with winter pressures. 

 The introduction of a new model of supporting and caring for people who are at 
the end of their lives. 

 The successful introduction of the ‘Red Bag Scheme’ in care homes, which 
assists with the admission of elderly people to hospital. 

 The successful bid for funding to assist with early intervention on mental health 
issues in schools in Swindon. 

 The success of the sunflower lanyards launch at Great Western Hospital where 
children with hidden disabilities wearing the sunflower lanyards were 
immediately visible to staff.  

 Recruitment of staff to provide a bespoke service of care and support for 
patients who were terminally ill and were requesting to be discharged home.  

 The merger of Swindon, Wiltshire and Bath and North East Somerset CCGs to 
centralise services.  
 

Page 65



Appendix 1 

Following the presentation of the reports to each meeting of the Committee, the 
Executive Nurse at NHS Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) responded to 
Members’ questions and comments on the issues raised. Over the course of the year, 
the following issues were discussed: 

 The need to undertake a cross services recruitment drive that would include the 
CCG, GWH and AWP, in order to attract key workers to Swindon. 

 The work being undertaken by the Housing Department to ensure housing was 
provided for new healthcare staff 

 The number of Swindon patients accessing the Devizes place of safety over the 
past three months. 

 The ways used to engage staff and stakeholders in the procurement process to 
commission Primary Care Extended Access and GP out of hour’s services 

 The issues raised by the Sub Group of Adult Health and Adult Social Care and 
Housing Overview & Scrutiny regarding scrutinising of SCCG Governing Body 
Performance Report submitted to the Committee’s meeting May 2018. 

 Doctors working within the NHS, under an Independent Management Group, to 
support practices in Swindon.  

 The process of requesting an appointment to see a doctor at the surgery.  

 The range of bodies scrutinising the work of the CCG and the Great Western 
Hospital Trust.  

 Choices available to prospective parents were not determined by demographics 
or individual financial constraints. 

 The medical needs of some prospective mothers determine the location of a 
child’s birth to ensure clinical safety. 

 Engagement with prospective mothers who opt to stay in full time employment 
until the baby’s due date. 

 Dealing with the increased volume of patient contacting the North Swindon 
surgeries during the week and how this was addressed by IMH Group. 

 The new technology being used by IMH Group and how the increased demand 
during some days of the week affected the volume of telephone calls. 

 The consultation being undertaken to review the number of prescriptions being 
written for gluten free products. 

 Doctors’ training now included a focus on nutrition to help patients adopt a 
better lifestyle. 

 Future plans for the roll out of the ‘Red Bag Scheme’, and whether other 
schemes such as the ‘Bobby Van’ could assist the elderly, in their own homes, 
with being ready for admission to hospital should the need arise. 

 The effect of targets being missed on the standards for cancer treatment, and 
how patient harm is monitored and measured. 

 The reasons for the new model of service provision for the Swindon Walk In 
Centre and the Urgent Care Centre, whereby a number of health services will 
be amalgamated and operated under a new contract by Medvivo Group Ltd, 
from April 2019, and the importance of communicating changes to residents. 

 The expected date for the consultation on changes to the CCG’s policy on 
gluten free prescribing. 

 The importance of ensuring an effective communication strategy is in place 
prior to the changes to non-emergency patient transport being implemented. 

Page 66



Appendix 1 

 The estimated opening date for the Junction Calming Café. 

 The Motion adopted by Full Council at its meeting in January 2019 regarding 
domestic abuse, and whether the CCG could take into account those children 
subject to it in the project on early intervention on mental health issues. 

 The potential reasons behind the low number of dementia tests being 
undertaken in Swindon. 

 The proposals for engaging with patients, the public, and partners to develop 
the national ambitions in the NHS Long Term Plan in to local plans, an update 
of which will be brought to the first meeting of this Committee in the new 
Municipal Year. 

 The need for further training in customer service techniques at the IMH 
surgeries.  

 How and where the minutes of the public meeting to be held by the CCG on the 
26th March 2019 would be circulated.  

 The cancer diagnostic services provided by Churchill Hospital (Oxford) included 
PET scans and that the service was commissioned by NHS England.  

 The success of the “Red Bag” scheme which supported older people in care 
homes having a smoother, speedier and more supported journey in and out of 
hospital and how the scheme parameters would be widened to include older 
people returning home.  

 How promoting and raising awareness of the sunflower lanyards brings benefits 
to children with hidden disabilities.  

 Discussions on the extent of CCG’s involvement in addressing homelessness in 
Swindon.  

 

B. Great Western Hospital NHS Foundation Trust Update 

At its five meetings during the year, the Committee received a report of the Great 
Western Hospital Trust (GWH) providing an update on performance and key issues 
relating to commissioning and performance. The reports were presented in a standard 
format, responding to each of the following questions with a “snapshot” of performance 
and key issues in that particular time period:  

 What are the challenges that your organisation is facing? 

 What have you done well? 
 
Over the course of the meetings, the Director of Strategy, Great Western Hospital 
(GWH), presented the report and drew the following key issues to members’ attention: 

 The Care Quality Commission inspection in 2017 with nearly two thirds of 
services now rated as good or outstanding. 

 The increase in demand for services within the Emergency Department. 

 The impact of Swindon’s increase in population and its effect on the hospital’s 
capacity. 

 The referral to treatment indicators, which were positive compared to national 
targets but had dipped during the winter months. 

 The hospital’s achievement of most of its cancer indicators, including the 31 day 
waits for diagnosis to first treatment, the 31 day wait for second treatment, the 

Page 67



Appendix 1 

62 day wait for first treatment from a referral from the NHS cancer screening 
services. 

 The financial pressures on the hospital and the work being undertaken to 
reduce the deficit which will make the hospital eligible for some national 
Sustainability and Transformation funding. 

 The work with other Trusts to submit a bid for capital funds to support the 
expansion of the emergency department and other parts of the estate due to 
lack of capacity at the hospital. 

 The appointment of Julie Marshman as new Chief Nurse. 

 The infection control regime, which saw no hospital acquired cases of MRSA 
blood stream infections in 2017/18. 

 The excellent team work from hospital and Carillion staff during a major incident 
at the hospital. 

 GP referrals and the fact that the majority were now being done electronically 
(digitally, maybe?). 

 The new e-observations system enabling staff to manage patient observations 
electronically will be rolled out across the Trust this summer. 

 The hospital’s full accreditation again from UNICEF’s Baby Friendly Initiative 
after a recent assessment. 

 The success of the #EndPJParalysis campaign that sees patients up and 
moving out of their hospital bed, enabling them to get home more quickly. 

 Maintaining consistently good performance against the rising demand for 
services in the Emergency Department. 

 Quarter 1 waiting target achieved for all cancers.  

 The use of an independent provider to reduce the waiting list backlog for the 
Ophthalmology Department.  

 Radiology and endoscopy diagnostic tests completed within timescales. 

 Performance and procedures for stroke patients.  

 Discharge medicine from the Pharmacy now has a reduced turnaround time.  

 The work being undertaken by Neonatal Consultant, Dr Sarah Bates, on 
Maternity and neo-natal safety.  

 The appointment of a new Deputy Chief Nurse for the Trust.  

 The Staff Excellence Awards held at the Swindon’s Steam Museum in tribute to 
all staff who go above and beyond every day for patients’ needs.  

 Progress made in stabilising and improving Adult Community Health Services 
with the aim of creating a single integrated community and acute service. 

 The Home First Initiative pilot that saw patients discharged form hospital more 
quickly. 

 The Older Patients Pathway Pilot that focused on ensuring patients who arrived 
at the Emergency Department were assessed, treated and discharged with as 
little time spent in hospital as appropriate.  

 The Trust’s positive progress against the “Sign Up To Safety” Initiative that 
helps ensure the NHS is the safest healthcare system in the world.  

 Progress made to recruit staff into the Trust.  

 Financial pressures faced by the Trust. 

 That the CQC had awarded the GWH with an overall rating of ‘requires 
improvement. 

Page 68



Appendix 1 

 The ‘Good’ rating now being 78% overall on key lines of enquiry, demonstrating 
that there had been improvement since the last inspection. 

 The successful bid for £30m to help redesign emergency care at the hospital. 

 The improvements required in Medical Care, as identified by the CQC 
inspection, and the plans for addressing them. 

 The outcomes of the peer review that had preceded the CQC inspection and 
how GWH measures itself and how the CQC undertakes its inspection. 

 The five departments that had been judged as requiring improvements under 
the ‘safety’ categorisation of the inspection, and what this meant in practical 
terms for implementing changes to make those improvements. 

 The significant improvements made in service areas since the last inspection. 

 An overview of the power outage at GWH.  

 The regular in-house and external meetings with partners to review cancer 
performance.  

 Actions being taken to support challenging areas including urology, colorectal, 
head and neck cancers.  

 An explanation of the Trust’s priorities for 2019/20.  

 The Trust’s plans for expanding the Emergency Department.  

 The action plans being implemented across a number of departments following 
the Care Quality Commission’s (CQC) inspection.  

 The reasons for delays in appointment bookings and actions taken to address 
this. 

 GWH as the first hospital in England to launch the new sunflower lanyard pilot 
to support children with hidden disabilities.  

 The progress made on early sepsis identification and patient treatment.  
 
Following the presentation of the reports to each meeting of the Committee, the 
Director of Strategy, Great Western Hospital (GWH), together with the the Cabinet 
Member for Adults, the Corporate Director Adult Social Services and Health, the 
Director of Public Health and the Executive Nurse at NHS Swindon Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) responded to Members’ questions and comments on the 
issues raised over the year. Over the course of the year, the following issues were 
discussed: 

 GWH’s preparation for A&E pressures during the winter months. 

 The breakdown of data provided for scrutiny by the Committee 

 The national shortage of nurses and how GWH was addressing this. 

 The distribution of medication in hospital wards on patient discharge. 

 The waiting list for ophthalmology services. 

 The bid for funding submitted to the National Executive to help deal with the 
population growth in Swindon. 

 The need to attract developer’s funding from the Section 106 Agreements and 
the Community Infrastructure Levy to address the population growth in 
Swindon. 

 The myriad ways various health services were promoting preventative care on 
obesity and diabetes within the community. 

 Correlation between the reduction in primary care provision and the increase in 
number of patients attending the Emergency Department.  

Page 69



Appendix 1 

 Measuring turnaround time for ambulances after they discharge patients at the 
Emergency Department.  

 The turnaround time for patients waiting in the Emergency Department and the 
targets set by the Trust.  

 The cost of using external providers for the Ophthalmology Department.  

 The measures being undertaken to combat sepsis and how information is rolled 
out to the primary care.  

 Correlation between the reduction in primary care provision and the increase in 
number of patients attending the Emergency Department.  

 Measuring turnaround time for ambulances after they discharge patients at the 
Emergency Department.  

 The turnaround time for patients waiting in the Emergency Department and the 
targets set by the Trust.  

 The cost of using external providers for the Ophthalmology Department.  

 The measures being undertaken to combat sepsis and how information is rolled 
out to the primary care.  

 The work of the Trust in implementing the Older Patient’s Pathway Initiative. 

 Recruitment of students who were on placements at GWH. 

 The use of technology (Skype) to recruit staff from overseas. 

 The recruitment campaign that promoted Swindon as a central location to live 
and work at. 

 The support of the Asian community in Swindon when new people move into 
the area. 

 The support given to homeless people on discharge from the Emergency 
Department. 

 The Trust’s duty to refer homeless people to the appropriate services to enable 
them to get support. 

 Planning financial budgets to ensure there was no adverse impact on current 
and future programmes. 

 The work of the Primary Care in reducing diseases by promoting the benefits of 
healthy eating and lifestyle. 

 The purpose of the private patient unit at the GWH, including to assist with any 
shortage of beds as well as generating income, and the medical conditions it is 
able to treat. 

 Previous reports provided by GWH on the work being done on sepsis, and the 
inclusion of an update on this in the report for the next meeting of this 
Committee. 

 The excellent work done by Mr McNamara in support of the Radiotherapy 
Appeal. 

 Possible reasons for the increase in attendances at the emergency department 
throughout December and January compared to the same period over the last 
three years. 

 The ‘smoke-free site’ at the hospital, 

 How GWH accounts for growth in the number of residents in bordering areas 
who may want to access its facilities. 

Page 70



Appendix 1 

 Discussions on the collaborative work with Thames Valley Cancer Alliance on 
supporting the review of cancer pathways and that whilst performance had 
improved, there were still challenges to be addressed.  

 How the Emergency Department’s (ED) was continuously assessing 
performance and that the department had successful launched the Ambulatory 
Care and Triage unit.  

 Discussions on actions being taken to change the work culture within GWH, to 
help staff review the Care Quality Commission as a tool that offers service 
improvement. 

 Implementation of the new outpatient appointments booking service to ensure 
patients were offered appointments as quickly as possible.  

 How whilst the setting of waiting times for hospital appointments were 
determined nationally, the actual waiting times at GWH was dependent on the 
patients’ case.  

 Discussions on the recruitment of two Admiral Nurses who were providing the 
specialist dementia support to families in need.  

 Discussions on the effect of the power outage on 1st February 2019 on the daily 
running of the hospital and the actions being taken to ensure maximum 
resilience in future.  

 The development of local support within the community to promote physical 
activity for the elderly, particularly those suffering with dementia.  

 The advertising campaign on social media and in GP’s practices to raise public 
aware of the first signs of sepsis and on what actions to take. 

 

C. Avon & Wiltshire Partnership NHS Trust 

At each of its five meetings during the year, the Committee received a report of the 
Avon and Wiltshire Partnership NHS Trust (AWP) providing an update on performance 
and key issues relating to commissioning and performance. The reports were 
presented in a standard format, responding to each of the following questions with a 
“snapshot” of performance and key issues in that particular time period:  

 What are the challenges that your organisation is facing? 

 What have you done well? 
 
Over the course of the meetings, the Managing Director, Avon and Wiltshire NHS 
Partnership Trust (AWP), presented the report and drew the following key issues to 
members’ attention: 

 The AWP Transformational Programme, which entailed a review of the current 
models of care and development of new initiatives. 

 The temporary closure of the Swindon Health based Place of Safety. 

 The challenges faced by the service, including financial pressures, recruitment 
and retention, engaging and supporting staff and bed availability. 

 The achievements accomplished by the service, including the establishment of 
the Acute Community Unit, the Adult Resource Centre, the reduction of out of 
area placements and the establishment of the Swindon Town FC sports group 
for service users. 

 The implementation of the trust wide financial improvement plan.  

Page 71



Appendix 1 

 The recruitment drive being undertaken for Band 5/6 nurses.  

 The reduction in the number of delayed transfer of care cases.  

 The initial feedback received from the Care Quality Commission inspection 
undertaken in September 2018.  

 Results of the staff survey.  

 The Acute Community Unit who were helping patients to receive home 
treatment and facilitate an early discharge from acute wards.  

 The establishment of the Adult Resource Centre where educational/ learning 
groups and activities were operational.  

 How the Local Acute Care Pathway had minimised out of borough placements 
for Swindon residents.  

 The work of the Swindon Recovery Team being positively identified for its high 
levels of quality service by the Royal College of Psychiatrists’ Combined 
Committee. 

 The success of the Swindon LIFT Psychology team which offers a wide range 
of support, from psycho-educational courses to one-to-one intervention, 
depending on individual needs. 

 Following the implementation of the Trust Transformation Programme, changes 
to some models of care, which include Primary Care Liaison Service (PCLS) 
and the Acute Community Unit (ACU) were undertaken.  

 The development of a Trust wide programme to address recruitment and 
retention. 

 The improvements within the bed management process that aided patient flow 
across the various STPs (sustainability and transformation partnerships). 

 Care Quality Commission report and findings pending following their inspection 
in September 2018. 

 As part of the Trust’s “Listening in Action Programme”, a staff survey was 
underway with results influencing future projects. 

 The Acute Community Unit pilot project was extended to January 2019.  

 The minimal delays in discharging patients from Applewood Court and offering 
alternatives to hospital admission. 

 The reduction of out of borough placements. 

 The recruitment to the substance misuse liaison posts. 

 The range of support provided by Swindon LIFT Psychology. 

 The evaluation of the Swindon Acute Unit being carried out to determine if an 
expansion to the service would be undertaken and to note that a decision was 
anticipated by the end of March.  

 The performance of the Health Based Place of Safety and how a review of the 
service was being conducted by the Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) to inform future work.  

 
Following the presentation of the reports to each meeting of the Committee, the 
Managing Director, Avon and Wiltshire NHS Partnership Trust (AWP), together with 
the Cabinet Member for Adults and health and the Chief Operating Officer, NHS 
Swindon CCG, responded to Members’ questions and comments on the issues raised. 
Over the course of the year, the following issues were discussed: 

Page 72



Appendix 1 

 The need to modernise Canal House for the benefit of the residents and the 
nearby community. 

 The programmes for Mental Health patients to ensure their physical needs were 
also met. 

 The work being undertaken to support patients during the three month pilot of 
the Acute Community Unit. 

 The challenges for AWP as a Trust within a large geographical area to address 
financial, recruitment, retention and bed management issues. 

 Placement of patients out of borough if it was imperative for their care.  

 Staffing levels in Sandalwood Court, Devises.  

 Housing made available for key workers at Sandalwood Court.  

 Description of the types of facilities available for mental health patients.  

 Target times for assessing Section 136 patients.  

 The support provided by Swindon MIND on recruitment and service provision 
made available at Swindon’s “Calming Café”. 

 The preliminary comments by the CQC on the provision of internal and external 
break-out spaces for patients. 

 The implementation of the Listening Action Programme and how this benefits 
patients. 

 The relocation of the health based place of safety to Devizes, and evaluation of 
the impact this has had on service provision and the residents of Swindon in the 
subsequent twelve months. 

 The positive feedback received in response to Healthwatch Swindon’s current 
telephone survey, in conjunction with Healthwatch Wiltshire, of those who have 
used the service in Devizes. 

 The number of visitors to the health based place of safety in Devizes who come 
from outside the area. 

 The health based place of safety unit covering the Avon and Somerset Police 
Force area, and the escalation process in place to transfer people from one unit 
to the other should one unit be full, to ensure the person receives an 
assessment within 4 hours. 

 The scale of mental health issues amongst the homeless and the consequent 
importance that AWP attends forums discussing homelessness. 

 The process undertaken and the organisations involved in determining how and 
when a patient was to be detained at a place of safety under Section 136 
criteria.  

 Discussions on how the street triage service works in conjunction with the 
police and on how the advice and support offered to people who may be 
experiencing mental health difficulties at the pre-arrest stage helps reduce the 
number of people who were not mentally ill, being detained under section 136.  

 How “Listening into Action” (LiA) was an initiative designed to help AWP 
introduce new ways of working. This initiative allowed frontline staff to lead on 
changes they know would benefit service users and would help create a better 
working environment.  

 

Domestic Abuse Task Group 

Page 73



Appendix 1 

At its meeting on the 5th March 2019, the Committee received a report from its 
Domestic Abuse (DA) Task Group.  This Task Group was established to undertake a 
review of domestic abuse in Swindon. The Director of Health updated the Committee 
on the membership and role of the volunteers on the task group. The Chair referred to 
the suggestions highlighted in the report aimed at raising awareness of the support 
available in Swindon for those experiencing domestic abuse. The Committee heard 
that the support of parish councils in promoting the services available in Swindon 
would be beneficial.  
 
The Director of Health responded to members’ questions and comments regarding 
follow-up support for children witnessing domestic abuse and the additional funding 
required for this work. She also confirmed that all the work by the group and their 
recommendations would be incorporated in the new domestic abuse strategy which 
was currently in the process of being updated.  
 
The Committee requested that the Head of Housing presented an update on the work 
being undertaken by the department to address the challenges faced by people in The 
Swindon Domestic Abuse Support Centre regarding move-on accommodation at a 
future meeting of the Committee.  
 

Summary 

Overview & Scrutiny within Swindon is based on the principle of being Member-led, 
thereby making the best use of the local knowledge and expertise that Councillors 
possess. This has been reflected in the work undertaken by the Adult's Health, Adult’s 
Care and Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 2018/19 where it ensured the 
decisions and work the Council and its partners take reflect the opinions, wishes and 
interests of the Swindon residents.  Over the year, the Committee reviewed and 
scrutinised reports submitted to ensure that there are robust arrangements in place 
across the local health and care provision.  Through the diligent leadership of the 
Chair, good relationships developed between the Committee and internal and external 
stakeholders.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Children's Health, Social Care and Education 

Page 74



Appendix 1 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Number of meetings and Membership of the 

Committee for 2018/19: 

In the Municipal Year 2018/19, the Children’s Health, Social Care and 
Education Committee met on 5 occasions. The Committee comprised the 
following nine Borough Councillors:  
 

Conservative Councillors 
Barbara Parry (Chair) 
Alan Bishop 
Nick Martin  
Roger Smith  
Caryl Sydney-Smith  
 

Labour Councillors 
Matthew Courtliff 
Fay Howard 
Carol Shelley 
Nadine Watts 
 

 

Appointment of Co-optees 
 
The Council’s Constitution allows that each Overview and Scrutiny Committee can 
appoint a number of people as non-voting co-optees. The Children’s Health, Social 
Care and Education Overview and Scrutiny Committee is also required by the 
Council’s Constitution to appoint parent governor and diocese representatives to its 
membership. It may also choose to appoint additional co-opted members.  
 
At its meeting on 6th July 2016, the Committee was invited to confirm appointments 
and to consider whether any non-voting co-opted members should be sought to 
support its work programme for the year.  
 
The Committee agreed the appointment of Liz Townend as the Church of England 
Diocese representative and confirmed the appointment of the following non-voting 
representatives: 
 

(a) Alison Paul (Swindon Association of Special School 
Headteachers). 

 (b) Gary Evans (Swindon Association of Primary Headteachers). 
(c) Steve Colledge (Swindon Association of Secondary 
Headteachers). 

 (d) Steve Henderson (Equalities Advisory Forum). 
 (e) Carol Willis (Swindon Healthwatch). 
 (f) Jacqui Watt (Swindon SEND Families Voice). 
 (g) Elaine Poulter (Parent Governor). 

 

Page 75



Appendix 1 

 

Work Programme 

 
At the commencement of each Municipal Year, each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is required to establish a work programme that details the 
activities that it will be undertaking during the Municipal Year. The work 
programme details the various topics and issues that each Committee 
intends to look into during the coming year with the aim of producing 
evidence based recommendations intended to provide service improvements 
for Cabinet and external agencies/bodies to consider.  
 
The work programme is developed taking into account: 

 Corporate priorities and objectives, including the Cabinet Forward Plan 

 Partnership strategic priorities and objectives 

 The interests and concerns of Members, Council officers, members of 
the public and other stakeholders such as community and voluntary 
groups and local businesses 

 
It is important that Overview and Scrutiny adds value to the work of the 
Council and the Borough and produces tangible outcomes for local people 
that result in real service improvements. Selecting the right topics is crucial to 
ensure that Overview and Scrutiny will be effective. Each year, a consultation 
exercise is undertaken with Partner Organisations, Councillors and the public 
to find out what issues are important and might be included in the work 
programme for the year.  The results of that consultation exercise are 
reported to the first meeting of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee in the 
Municipal Year to support members in identifying which issues will be 
included in the work programme for the year. As with the Scrutiny 
Committee, work programmes are sufficiently flexible to allow the Committee 
to respond to issues that might arise during the course of the year and, to 
that end, it is reviewed at every Committee meeting, or as often as the 
Committee sees fit, to ensure that it remains relevant and that members and 
officers have sufficient capacity to effectively achieve its objectives. 
 
The Children’s Health, Social Care and Education Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee considered its work programme at its meeting on 4th July 2018 
when it determined that the work for this Municipal year would be centralised 
around the five Pillars of Improvement which were: 

 Workforce 

 ICT 

 Quality of Social Work Practice 

 Placement stability and sufficiency 

 Early Help Hub, Troubled Families and Early Help Offer (combine with 
partners pillar 

 
The Committee then determined that the following topics be included in the 
work programme: 

Page 76



Appendix 1 

 

 Children’s Services performance that included the latest indicators 
across Children’s Services. 

 Update from the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) following an 
Ofsted visit.  

 Early Help Hub, Troubled Families and Early Help Offer 

 The conversion of Special Educational Needs and Disability 
statements to Education and Health Care Plans (EHCP) plans 

 Update on the Special Educational Needs and Disability inspection 

 Improving the quality of practice through better recording of cases 

 Multi-agency scrutiny on Swindon’s response to Child Exploitation, 
Missing, Vulnerable Children and on-line internet safety 

 Update from the Education Other Than At School (EOTAS) team on 
the provision and long term outcomes of young people 

 Processes and outcomes for children with Special Educational Needs 
and Disabilities and on any alternative provision being provided. 

 Exclusions, attendance (register marking and attendance network), 
Children Missing Education, Children Elected Home Education 

 Education Standards and Improvement 

 Members of the Youth Forum and Youth Parliament on their work 
programme and achievements for the year.  This would give the 
Committee an opportunity to identify any issues raised that Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee can assist with. 

 Children’s commissioned services for physical and mental health, 
including Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS), 
Targeted Mental Health Services (TaMHS) and internal paediatric 
services 

 

Children’s Services Performance Report 
 
It is a key purpose of the Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee to hold Providers of Health Services to 
account. To that end, any Commissioner of Children’s Health and Social 
Care Services in Swindon is required to provide information on children’s 
health and social care services within the Borough and consult with the 
Committee on any planned substantial changes or developments to service 
provision. 
 
At three of its five meetings during the year, the Committee received a report 
providing an update on performance and key issues relating to 
commissioning and performance of Children’s Services. The reports were 
presented in a standard format, responding to each of the following questions 
with a “snapshot” of performance and key issues in that particular time 
period:  

 What are the challenges that your organisation is facing? 

 What have you done well? 
 

Page 77



Appendix 1 

Following the presentation of each of the reports, the Corporate Director of 
Children’s Services responded to Members’ questions and comments. Issues 
raised over the course of the year include: 

 The number of social care referrals to 4th July 2019. 

 The number of children in need (Section 17 [Section 17 of the Children 
Act 1989 states that it is the general duty of every local authority to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children within their area who are in need; and so 
far as it is consistent with that duty, to promote the upbringing of 
such children by their families]). 

 The number of children on Child Protection Plans. 

 Children Looked After. 

 The number of Troubled Families Claims. 

 The Placements of Children Looked After. 

 The rate of care leavers in education, employment or training. 

 The re-offending rates from the Youth Offending Teams. 

 The percentage of pupils with Special Education Statements or Educational 

 Health Care Plan. 

 The percentage of pupils who were not in education, employment of 

 Training. 

 The number of fixed term exclusions. 

 The number of pupils educated at home. 

 The number of troubled Families claims. 

 The number of referrals and assessments. 

 The rate of care leavers in education, employment or training. 

 The re-offending rates from the Youth Offending Teams. 

 The Placements of Children Looked After. 

 The percentage of pupils with Special Education Statements or 
Educational Health Care Plan.  

 The percentage of pupils who were not in education, employment of 
training. 

 The number of fixed term exclusions. 

 The number of pupils educated at home. 

 Information on the Local Children’s Safeguarding position on Serious 
Case Reviews (SCR’s),  

 Update on Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP’s),  

 Actions being undertaken to address Electively Home Educated 
Children and Children who were missing education.  
 

Following the introduction of the report, Children’s Services Officers attending the 
meetings over the year responded to the members’ questions and comments in 
respect of the following matters: 

 The reasons behind the increase in demand for early help and social care 
services in Swindon. 

 The number of social care contacts by parents that progressed into referrals 
compared to other Local Authorities (LAs). 

 The support being provided to parents and young people where referrals did not 

Page 78



Appendix 1 

meet the Local Authority’s (LA) criteria. 

 The range of initiatives being undertaken by schools, in discussions with the LA, 
to continue reducing the number of permanent exclusions. 

 The assessments undertaken by the LA of home educated students. 

 The placement of children looked in LA run facilities and with foster carers.  

 The recruitment and training of foster carers.  

 Guidance for school where a student does not meet the threshold for 
support following a MASH assessment.  

 Future work to be conducted to assist pre-schools in completing Early Help 
records in preparation for children progressing into schools. 

 The number of EHCP referrals from Reception and Year 1 class children. 

 The number of health visitor vacancies. 

 The process of electively home educated children in accessing an Early Help 
Record. 

 Reasons for the increase in the number of children who self-harm and actions 
being undertaken to address this. 

 The quality of training for social workers impacting on their retention. 

 A general update on the Children’s Services self-assessment exercise 
undertaken with external agencies including Ofsted. 

 The number of children on Child Protection Plans and actions taken to support 
these children. 

 The rise of Key Stage 4 children being home educated. 

 The increase in the number of children screened by the Multi-Agency 

 Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and the recruitment of staff to deal with this 
increase. 

 How the Early Help Hub effectively screened 90% (476) of families 
within 2 working days.  

 The reduction on the number of contacts into MASH. 

 The detailed audit commissioned to determine the reasons for the high 
number of social care re-referrals. 

 How in respect of the Healthy Child Programme, 2.6% (12) young 
children who would have missed the initial assessment are being 
followed up by Health Visitors to ensure these assessments are 
undertaken. 

 How after monitoring a range of criteria as part of the Troubled 
Families Programme, 650 troubled families had attained successful 
outcomes since the beginning of the programme.  

 The range of positive activities in place to support looked after children  

 The successful campaign undertaken by the Fostering Team to recruit 
local foster parents. 

 That all statutory assessments had been completed.  

 How Swindon compared reasonably with national statistics regarding 
Care Leavers who were in education, employment or training, 
although it was noted that there is a downward trend and action is in 
place to reshape this.  

 The successful work being undertaken by health visitors in seeing children 
under reception age, with visits at their highest since 2017/18 was noted. 

Page 79



Appendix 1 

 As a result of the increase in additional social worker capacity and the focused 
improvement work across social care and early help, the number of 

 Children in Need requiring a social worker but not subject of a Child Protection 
plan or looked after, had decreased. 

 The Local Safeguarding Board would be publishing the Serious Case Review 
(SCR Q) report once all court proceedings had been concluded. 

 The successful recruitment of ten staff including Health Visitors, Early Years 

 Practitioners and Staff Nurses for the Healthy Child Programme has helped 
stabilise the staffing position, and increase capacity in the health visiting team. 
This will enable the detailed risk assessment to be reviewed to continue to 
capacity is targeted according to need and priorities. 

 In collaboration with schools, pupils missing education are quickly identified and 
arrangements implemented to help them return to education. 

 The reasons for school exclusions and the actions taken by schools, in 
collaboration with Children’s Services to address this. This includes support by 
the Fair Access Panel to ensure pupils’ re-integration into schools. 

 The difference in terminology between contacts and referrals was explained 
and effective partnership working between the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub 
and partner agencies was noted. 

 The spread of work undertaken with the Housing Department to identify, 
procure and commission residential placements to meet children’s specific 
needs was discussed and information on current placements presented. 

 The Board recognised the energy put into the foster carer recruitment 
drive which had resulted in the recruitment of fifteen foster parents, 
with twelve currently going through the Foster Care Panel process. 

 The link between the completion of statutory assessments and the number of 
compliments and complaints received was explained. 

 The impact of tailored support being provided by the Support in Employment 
team together with the Care leavers team for those not in education, 
employment or training was discussed. It was noted that Ofsted commented 
favourably on this during the recent focused visit. 

 The success of the apprenticeship scheme where an increase in care leavers 
was successful in gaining employment is part of the initiative. 

 The 2019/20 increase in budget allocated to Children’s services would 
enable the department, together with its partners, to deliver its 
priorities. 

 The actions and outcomes of Practice Management to determine 
effectiveness of services in safeguarding children. 

 

Children's Health, Social Care and Education Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee sub-group  

 
At its meeting on the 23rd January 2019, the Committee received a report by the Chair 
of the Committee regarding the creating of the sub-group.  A draft copy of the Terms of 
Reference for the Children's Health, Social Care and Education Overview and Scrutiny 
Sub-Group was submitted for the Committee’s approval. She also submitted the 
minutes of the sub-group’s first meeting held on 19th December 2018 for the 

Page 80



Appendix 1 

Committee’s consideration.  The second meeting of the sub group was held on the 
28th February 2019.  The Committee noted that the minutes for the sub-group would 
be incorporated in the minutes of the Committee.   
 

Special Education Needs Local Area Inspection 
 
At its meeting on the 4th July 2018, the Committee received report on the progress 
made in preparation for the new joint local area SEND (Special Educational Needs 
and Disability) inspection and on the progress being made transferring statements of 
special educational needs into Education, Health & Care Plans (EHCPs). Reference to 
the Children & Families Act 2014 was made as this highlighted significant changes to 
be made to the approach in meeting the needs of children and young people with 
special educational needs and/or disabilities, giving families and children/young people 
a stronger voice in the process of assessing and determining their needs, at individual 
and strategic level.  The areas to be inspected by Ofsted and reference to the work 
being undertaken for each area was made.  
 
Following the introduction of the report, the Head of Education, with the 
Commissioner, Education, responded to the members’ questions and comments in 
respect of the following matters: 

 The importance of joint working between schools within a climate of reduced 
funding. 

 The need for a conversation between schools and health partners regarding 
timely diagnoses of patients. 

 The recording and accountability of EHCPs for the benefit of the student. 

 The need for a debate on funding for students on EHCPs. 

 The involvement of the Parent Carer Forum in supporting the work by the Local 
Authority (LA) and the Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) by 
helping parents achieve the best for their child. 

 Joint working by the LA with the Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group to 
ensure better outcomes for students on EHCPs. 

 The outcomes of the recent self-evaluation exercise and the resource 
implications of items identified as needing to be addressed. 

 The provision of services for 20 to 25 year olds needing Special Educational 
Needs support by the LA. 

 
Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) Referrals, Assessment and 
Threshold 
 
At its meeting on the 4th July 2018, the Committee received report on the MASH and 
Threshold’s process in determining which children receive statutory services and at 
what level. The report introduced the findings and recommendations of the focused 
OFSTED visit in April and provided a brief outline of the improvements that were 
required in order to support children and families at the right levels. The Service 
Manager explained that MASH was able to demonstrate improvements in the key 
areas identified by OFSTED. This was achieved through the Improvement Plan 
generated following the visit and areas of improvement covered included: 

Page 81



Appendix 1 

 

 Timeliness: MASH was progressing all work within 24 hours. 

 Thresholds: All staff are using the ‘Threshold Document’ (Continuum of Need 
Framework), 

 Management oversight and scrutiny: The introduction of a new MASH Model 
has ensured that Management oversight and scrutiny is applied at the 
screening and signing off points. 

 Early Help pathway: The Early Help Hub is now established and early help 
pathways were being considered at Level 2. 

 The quality and timeliness of case recording and planning for children: The 
introduction of a Contact Analysis Grid to gather initial information on cases that 
go into MASH. 

 The poor quality of information from partners: Referrals from partners that were 
received which do not provide sufficient detail and accurate information to 
enable the presenting concerns to be understood. 

 Embedded practice development consultants within MASH & Assessment 
Team: Working together alongside managers, learning inputs and audits to 
validate decision making and integrate a life learning model. 

 Increased staffing expertise and capacity. 

 Increased the capacity of the Designated Officer role and its business support. 
There was now a full-time LADO available at all times and an improvement plan 
was in place to ensure improved management oversight, effectiveness of the 
arrangements, quality assurance and audit activity. 

 
During the course of the meeting, the Head of Education together with the Service 
Manager - Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) responded to the members’ 
questions and comments in respect of the following matters: 
 

 The importance of having active and timely communication flows between the 
Local Safeguarding Children’s Board, MASH and schools. 

 The work undertaken between MASH and the Early Year Hub. 

 Staffing of MASH. 
 

Early Help Hub, Troubled Families and Early Help Offer 
 
At its meeting on the 4th July 2018, the Committee received a report on the Troubled 
Families and Early Help programmes of work.  The report drew attention to the 
improvements, performance and future work planned by the department. The 
Committee noted that the report had been structured to provide information on the 
Troubled Families Programme and the Early Help Offer and Early Help Hub, and also 
highlighted the partner agencies work with families with complex needs to ensure 
more effective, early intervention leading to better, sustainable outcomes for the 
families. 
 
Following her introduction of the report, the Principal Officer, Health and Wellbeing & 
Interim Service Manager for Early Help, responded to members’ questions and 
comments on the following issues: 

Page 82



Appendix 1 

 

 The Troubled Families task force supported all troubled family members, 
resulting in a multi-agency approach. 

 The “team around the school” model being piloted by the Swindon Academy 
that supports students and their families. 

 The support to be provided to schools regarding troubled families. 
 

Multi-agency scrutiny on Swindon’s response to Child Exploitation, 
Missing, Vulnerable Children and on-line Internet safety 

 
At its meeting on the 19th September 2018, the Committee received a report providing 
an overview of current work being done in Swindon to address the issues of Child 
Exploitation, Female Genital Mutilation and Missing Children. The Committee’s 
attention was drawn to the local response to these issues and to the latest information 
on the numbers of children/young people at risk and what work was being carried out 
to address these issue within Swindon. 
 
The Child Exploitation and Missing Children Manager together with the Head of Public 
Protection and the Children and Young People ICT Manager gave a presentation at 
the meeting highlighting the definitions of criminal exploitation, female genital 
mutilation, missing children, national and international trafficking, cyber bullying and 
online internet safety. 
 
Following the introduction of the report, the Child Exploitation and Missing Children 
Manager together with the Head of Public Protection, Deb Smith, Detective 
Superintendent, Wiltshire Police and the Children and Young People ICT Manager, 
responded to the members’ questions and comments in respect of the following 
matters: 

 The recent recruitment of a missing child coordinator and confirmation that she 
has been undertaking preventative work and liaising with the Multi- 

 Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) team to support missing children. 

 Demographics of missing children. 

 County Lines violence, exploitation and drug trafficking. 

 The work of the OPAL team to help and support traumatised children. 

 The collaboration between the Local Authority, schools and the external 
agencies to raise awareness about the dangers of cyber bullying and sexual 
exploitation. 

 The promotion of this work through the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board 
(https://www.swindonlscb.org.uk/Pages/Home.aspx) 

 The range of Councillors’ engagement to support this work. 

 The need to raise awareness through a social media campaign targeting young 
people. 

 
Technology to Support Social Care Delivery and Quality of Practice 
 
At its meeting on the 19th September 2018, the Committee received a report by the 

Page 83



Appendix 1 

performance Lead, Children’s Services setting out the progress and plans in relation to 
the ICT Pillar as outlined in the Children’s Social Care Strategic Improvement Plan. 
The report identified the key work streams and actions underway within Children’s and 
the Central IT teams to improve the technology platform and devices the workforce 
can utilise to equip them with the right tools to effectively assist in the delivery of social 
care and early help service provision. 
 
The Committee was advised that efficient technology was crucial in improving the data 
held and accessed in relation to children and families and the role this played in 
supporting and informing social workers in service delivery. The Performance Lead, 
Children Services referred to the improvements in the Councils IT infrastructure 
following the replacement of the Social Care system and implementation of a new 
Document Management system. The Committee was advised that training and support 
was available for the workforce and that this would help them achieve better outcomes 
for children in Swindon. 
 
Following the introduction of the report, the Performance Lead, Children Services, 
together with the Interim Assistant Director, Social Work responded to the members’ 
questions regarding the input of social workers in the implementation of the new 
system and how a parallel system would be in place whilst the new system was being 
embedded. 
 

Specialist Resource Provisions and Provision for Deaf and Hearing 
Impaired Pupils  
 
At its meeting on the 28th November 2018, the Committee received a report on the 
specialist resource provisions (SRPs) which are based in Swindon schools to meet the 
needs of children and young people with special education needs and disabilities.  

At the request of the Chair of the Committee, representatives from Red Oaks Primary 
School and the Hearing Support Service attended the meeting and informed the 
Committee on the range of facilities and provision available for children at the 
Resource Centre and on the work undertaken at the school. Tamara Turchet, Senior 
Advisory Teacher Hearing Support Team, Zoe Norman, Manager at the Special 
Resource Provision (SRP) at Red Oaks Primary School and Rachel Surch, 
Headteacher of the school, gave a presentation on the services and support provision 
available for deaf and hearing impaired pupils in Swindon, particularly at Red Oaks 
Primary School.  
 
Following the presentation of the report, the Head of Education responded to 
members’ questions and comments on the following issues: 

 That the SRP takes children from the point of diagnoses during the Early Years 
and primary school stages.  

 The number of children using the services varied across Key Stages and that 
children in Key Stage 1 sometimes recovered following medical intervention 
and then returned to full time mainstream education.  

 How support regarding financial, emotional and practical issues was provided to 
parents.  

 Regular meetings were held with neighbouring Local Authorities to share good 

Page 84



Appendix 1 

practice.  

 That visual phonics was developed over time at Red Oaks Primary School and 
this linked BSL (British Sign Language) to the children’s overall education. All 
children at the school use BSL.  

 How recruitment of staff with a BSL Level 3 qualification was difficult and this 
affected pupils being admitted into the school. On further challenge the 
Committee heard that discussions were being held between the three families 
affected by this situation and local schools on the best way to ensure the 
children attended mainstream education and receive the support they needed.  

 That factors such as the family environment, language use, levels of reading 
and writing and the ability to combine this with learning BSL affected the 
attainment and outcomes of hearing impaired children.  

 A benchmarking exercise with other Local Authorities regarding the education 
attainment of deaf children was conducted by the school.  

 That due to parental preferences where they requested their child attended a 
local school, the number of schools providing special resource provision 
supporting pupils with various Special Educational Needs had grown in 
Swindon.  

 

Education Other Than at School  
 

At its meeting on the 28th November 2018, the Committee received a report by the 
Head of Education with the Special Educational Needs Commissioner on the 
Education Other Than at School (EOTAS) service, which included four separate 
services that supported a range of vulnerable children and young people. The 
Committee noted that these include the Pupil Referral Unit, a Centre for Vulnerable 
and Anxious pupils, the Hospital School and an Adolescent Unit based at Marlborough 
House (NHS facility).  
 
The Head of Education with the Head of the Pupil Referral Unit referred to the routine 
work to ensure there was challenge and scrutiny of the effectiveness of the support 
being provided within EOTAS and that the pupils were made to feel valued. This 
helped students engage with the service resulting in better outcomes for them.  
 
Following the presentation of the report, the Head of Education responded to 
Members’ questions and comments on the following: 

 How students welcomed the provision of education tailor made for them at the 
new Fernbrook Centre. The new accommodation has made a significant 
difference.  

 That following the relocation to new premises, the Centres were able to support 
a higher number of vulnerable students.  

 The positive feedback was received form Ofsted the previous year for the 
provision of full time education of vulnerable and anxious students attending 
Clapham Hobbs Centre, Fernbrook Centre and the Adolescent Unit based at 
Marlborough House.  

 That pupils transitioning to the new premises were supported by various teams 
in Children’s Services including Swindon Tuition Service.  

Page 85



Appendix 1 

 Confirmation that discussions were being conducted with the three Swindon 
Associations of Headteachers to produce a graduated response to exclusions 
by delivering effective strategies. These would help support vulnerable pupils 
and enable them to remain in mainstream education.  

 How the outcomes for the pupils attending the Centres were monitored and 
tracked and the results for the past year had indicated that pupils had positive 
Risk of Need Indicator outcomes. The Committee noted that this was due to the 
implementation of individual programmes and guidance, resulting in 93% of 
students remaining in post 16 education. The Committee heard that the other 
7% (4 students) were being supported by youth engagement workers.  

 

Exclusions from Schools  
 
At its meeting on the 28th November 2018, the Committee received a report by the 
Head of Education with the Special Educational Needs Commissioner that provided 
information on the number of fixed term and permanent exclusions from schools, the 
reasons for those exclusions and the actions being taken.  The Committee was 
advised that the overall number of permanent exclusions had decreased slightly from 
the previous year. The Committee noted that whilst there were only 2 permanent 
exclusions in the primary setting, this year saw some schools reporting an increase in 
behaviour management issues.  
 
The Head of Education explained that due to this, discussions were being undertaken 
with Nylands School to increase provision and provide tailored support for pupils. He 
further referred to the discussions held with Secondary schools. Through the support 
of the Alternative Provision Working Party and the Fair Access Panel, pupils at risk of 
exclusions were able to transfer into another school where they would undertake a 
fresh start.  
 
Following the introduction of the report, the Head of Education, together with the 
Additional Provision and Reintegration Manager, responded to the members’ 
questions and comments. Members noted that:  

 The Department had commissioned an external review across a number of 
Swindon secondary schools to identify good practice in order to reduce the 
number of exclusions. This was then cascaded to all schools.  

 Pupils at risk of exclusion who were on Early Help Records were supported by 
the Early Help Hub and cases graduated to the Fair Access Panels if needed.  

 There was no clear correlation between academic achievement and exclusions.  

 The Fair Access Panel met every fortnight but had a limited remit. The 
Committee further heard that its aim was to support students moving to 
alternative schools and they worked closely with parents to ensure parental 
preference was considered when reviewing cases.  

 Ethnicity profile of excluded students matched the profile of Swindon students.  

 There was no clear correlation between young people who were repeatedly 
excluded and mental health issues.  

 
 

Page 86



Appendix 1 

Pupils Electively Home Educated  
 
At its meeting on the 28th November 2018, the Committee received a report by the 
Head of Education on the number of pupils who are Electively Home Educated (EHE), 
Children Missing Education (CME) and school attendance. He drew the Committee’s 
attention to the two aspects of work where the Education Welfare Service was the lead 
service but was also supported by other internal and external partners.  These 
included the Elective Home Education (EHE) and to the Children Missing Education 
(CME) teams.  
 
The Head of Education further referred to the data and advised that a) the number of 
home educated pupils had increased nationally and this was reflected in Swindon; b) 
school attendance was better than the national average in primary schools, with 
secondary schools similar to the national average; c) schools were being supported by 
the Education Welfare Service (EWS) through the Traded Services agreement; d) 
support was being provided by the EWS to parents who opt for home schooling; and 
e) the process of identifying and monitoring children missing education was resulting in 
less children missing education.  
 
Following the introduction of the report, the Head of Education, responded to the 
members’ questions and comments. Members noted:  

 That there were a number of reasons why parents decide to home educate their 
children and these included a breakdown of relationship with the school and 
opting for more vocational and creative studies.  

 That in respect of missing children, the EWS liaise with the Police and the Multi 
Agency Safeguarding Hub and occasionally if necessary Interpol to ensure child 
safety by identifying the whereabouts of a child, particularly if it was believed 
that the child had been taken out of the country. Swindon operates a robust 
policy of not removing children from the CME list until their whereabouts are 
known or all possible avenues have been exploited.  

 That data reflected students accessing pupil premium were more prone to miss 
education. This issue is challenged by the Local Authority with Headteachers. 

 That the Professional Lead in the EWS was offering support and guidance to 
the Swindon Secondary Attendance network helping them further support those 
pupils who are persistently absent from school.  

 That in respect of pupils on part time timetables, guidance to schools was 
issued last year by the Local Authority and whilst schools recorded this 
information, a new system was being implemented by the Local Authority to 
overall monitor this information. The Committee were advised that this 
monitoring was the responsibility of all partners and not exclusive to the Local 
Authority.  

 
Progress Update of Youth Participation 
 
At its meeting on the 23rd January 2019, the Committee received a report by the 
Project Manager, Swindon Ten to Eighteen Project on the performance and key issues 
relating to youth participation, Swindon Youth Council, Thought Tank (special 

Page 87



Appendix 1 

educational needs & disabilities participation group) and outreach participation work. 
He explained that the Youth Participation contract was coming up for tender with the 
current contract ending in April 2019.  
  
The Project Manager drew particular attention to the following points:  

 The “Pupils Voice Survey” conducted between the Youth Council and the 
Swindon Challenge Board identified pupils in need of help to improve English 
and Mathematics enabling better outcomes for their GCSE grades. This was a 
positive outcome of a joint piece of work with Swindon Challenge Board.  

 The Youth Council’s success at promoting mental health awareness through 
their displays at the World Mental Health Day Event held at The Wyvern 
Theatre, Swindon.  

 The effective partnership between the CCG and Youth Council resulted in a 
successful NHS Mental Health Trailblazer bid bringing an additional £1.2 million 
resource over 2 years to be used to support young people. This will enable 
young people needing mental health support to access services more easily 
and to suggest where they would like to receive their services. The model is 
school focused.  

 The spread of work undertaken by Thought Tank included a) support provided 
to officers around the Council’s SEND and Transitions work, b) trialling 
‘Planning Live’ events for young people entering into the transition period, 
enabling them to better benefit from adult services, c) the successful Transitions 
Roadshow’ consultation enabling young people to run their own roadshows, d) 
designing and understanding a ‘High Needs Implementation’ Survey together 
with the Swindon SEND Families Voice , e) the creation of a short film to 
highlight the importance of children and young people with SEND participating 
and being consulted in all areas that affect them and f) the rewording of the 
“Survey Monkey” questionnaire regarding SEND High Needs Implementation 
Support to ensure young people are able to understand and complete it.  

 
Following the presentation of each of the reports, the Project Manager, STEP 
(Swindon Ten to Eighteen Project), responded to Members’ questions and 
comments.  Issues raised include: 

 Youth Council membership included young people from a range of minority 
groups and also included Looked after Children. This ensured there was 
challenge and scrutiny of the effectiveness of the services provided by internal 
and external stakeholders for these groups of children.  

 Differentiation between the previous contract successfully bid by STEP in 2011 
and the new contract currently out for tendering. Members noted the strong and 
positive relationship with STEP that has resulted in effective work undertaken 
by the team for the benefit of young people in Swindon.  

 

Targeted Mental Health Services (TaMHS) and Child and Adolescent 
Mental Health Services (CAMHS ) 
  
At its meeting on the 23rd January 2019, the Committee received a report by the 
Principal Officer for Health and Wellbeing, Children, Families and Community Health, 

Page 88



Appendix 1 

and the Children’s Commissioning Lead, Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) on performance and key issues relating to Targeted Mental Health Services.  
 
Ms Gill May, Executive Nurse at NHS Swindon CCG, introduced the report and 
explained that it captured the work of the TaMHS and CAMHS services together with 
the work commissioned by the CCG. The Committee noted that the report included a) 
the success of the Trailblazer initiative that had positively impacted the TaMHS and 
CAMHS services in terms of demand, with children getting at the right place at the 
right time following collaboration with schools; b) information on the recently published 
NHS long term plan which reflected a stronger emphasis on young people with mental 
health issues; c) how the CCG demonstrated the level of assessments being 
undertaken; d) the increased demand for TaMHS services and that this was expected 
to plateau as ‘Trailblazer’ services are taken up by schools; e) TaMHS processes with 
Council colleagues to reduce the waiting list, how it was monitored and financial 
funding appropriately targeted; f) how the CCG, as a commissioner, was holding the 
CAMHS team to account over the low percentage of assessments carried out within 
four weeks and g) how the CCG was supporting CAMHS through a recovery plan to 
improve their services.  
 
Following the introduction of the report, the Executive Nurse, together with the Head of 
Children, Families and Community Health, responded to the members’ challenge and 
questions and where clarification was sought. Members heard:  

 That referrals were made through a variety of sources including schools, GP 
practices and other professionals within the Health Service ensuring effective 
and timely mental health provision.  

 That the breakdown of the CAMHS referral data as reflected in 3.19 of the 
report did not include the number of assessments held in schools.  

 That there was no benchmarking data available for the TAMHS service to allow 
comparison with other Local Authorities.  

 That TaMHS and CAMHS prioritise Looked After Children and all those 
presenting with life threatening conditions. The Committee heard that for out of 
hours support, a Hospital Liaison CAMHS Nurse was located at the Emergency 
Department (ED) in Great Western Hospital.  

 That through the Trailblazer initiative, further early intervention training will be 
offered to schools, with implementation from December 2019.  

 That school budgetary constraints were not deferring a high number of schools 
buying into CAMHS and TaMHS traded services and engaging with the 
Trailblazer initiative. The Committee heard that the Trailblazer initiative would 
change how the TaMHS and CAMHS work with schools, would strengthen local 
service provision and communication.  

 That whilst the majority of children started treatment within 18 weeks of referral 
to CAMHS, those on the waiting list were offered support through a range of 
resources including a counselling service. The Committee further heard that the 
CCG regularly requested an audit of cases to ensure no children were at risk of 
harm and to monitor the quality of case work.  

 That part of a School counsellor’s role was to support children suffering mental 
health difficulties. The Committee heard that appropriate training for the 
Trailblazer initiative was vital and this would need to include upskilling and 

Page 89



Appendix 1 

sharing expertise between schools. This would ultimately benefit the children 
involved.  

 

Local Area SEND Inspection 

 
At its meeting on the 13th March 2019, the Committee received a report by the Head of 
Education on the outcomes of the Local Area Inspection of SEND (Special Education 
Needs and Disabilities) that took place between 19th and 23rd November 2018.  The 
Committee was also given a presentation highlighting the key outcomes and 
recommendations of the inspection. He advised that a) Ofsted and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) attended to judge the effectiveness of the local provision in 
implementing the disability and special educational needs reforms as set out in the 
Children and Families Act 2014, b) they were focusing on how well the various 
partners in Swindon identified, assessed and provided for the needs of children and 
young people; c) a written statement of action was reviewed by Her Majesty’s Chief 
Inspector and that, d) with Swindon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), the 
Department had until 14th April 2019 to respond to the key areas of weakness 
identified and submit the Written Statement of Action (WSOA) to Ofsted who will be 
returning after eighteen months to review progress, in October 2020. 
 
Following the presentation, the Head of Education, responded to the members’ 
questions and comments in respect of the following matters: 

 The success of the sunflower lanyards launch at Great Western Hospital where 
children with hidden disabilities wearing the sunflower lanyards were 
immediately visible to staff. 

 The pathways available for children and young people were being reviewed 
with the CCG to ensure better provision of service. This review was being 
undertaken over the next eighteen months. 

 Due to the CCG’s’ difficulty in recruiting consultant paediatricians to Swindon, 
an interim designated medical officer had been recruited to undertake some of 
the work. 

 The recruitment of healthcare staff was a national issue and Swindon’s 
successful national recruitment drive had been undertaken in January 2019. 

 Experienced interim staff recently recruited in the SENAT team to support 
officers in the Department to meet statutory duties. 

 

Report on work of Youth Engagement Service, U-Turn Substance 
Misuse Service and Youth Offending Team 
 
At its meeting on the 13th March 2019, the Committee received a report from the Youth 
Offending Team, Youth Engagement and U-Turn, to give greater insight into the work 
they do, how they work together and the outcomes they achieve both individually and 
collaboratively. The Service Manager, Restorative Youth Services, introduced the 
report and advised that the services worked in collaboration with social care services 
to achieve positive outcomes. He advised that the data presented in the report outlined 
the characteristics of children and young people they work with, the effectiveness of 
resources and practices utilised and how the various geographical areas across the 

Page 90



Appendix 1 

Borough were supported. 
 
In response to challenge and questions by Members, the following information was 
provided: 

 The spread of work undertaken by services included a) provision of advice and 
guidance to parents of young people using drugs, b) pre-meetings with children 
and young people in a supportive environment to build up confidence and build 
up a relationship, c) participating in school assemblies, d) supporting local 
groups in raising awareness of the impact of drug taking, and e) with 
commissioner’s support, undertake social services work including cognitive 
behavioural therapy. 

 The distribution of resources are configured to target criminal exploitation in 
specific areas. This included using the expertise of the Community Safety 

 Partnership Board and Local Safeguarding Children’s Board Members. 

 The family background of the number of young people being supported by the 
Youth Engagement team, was discussed and patterns of need identified. 

 The strong working relationship with the Police services, particularly with police 
community support officers (PCSO) was noted. Through the support 

 of the Youth Engagement Team, the community was now able to benefit from 

 PCSOs coaching and mentoring young people. 

 Members challenged the processes undertaken by the departments to ensure 
out of reach and isolated young people were identified and helped. 

 Clarification was sought on how funding was allocated. The Committee was 
advised that a feasibility study was being undertaken to amalgamate services to 
create a new Family Intervention and Support Service (FISS) ensuring that 
work was streamlined to the benefit of young people in Swindon. 

 

Education Standards and Performance Report 

On the 23rd January 2019, the Committee received a report showing how well 
Swindon children and young people have achieved in their public 
assessments in primary and secondary schools. The report highlighted 
where there have been improvements in performance, measured against 
national averages and also where a decline had occurred. It also provided 
information on attendance and behaviour, which can be an indicator of pupil 
and school performance. The report sought to ensure that full information on 
how children and young people achieve was available in the public domain 
and was open to scrutiny.  The Committee also noted that the report reflected 
the work of the Swindon Challenge Board since its establishment on March 
2017. 
 
Following the presentation of the report, the Head of Education responded to 
Members’ questions and comments on the following: 

 That positive support by parents given to children during their early years 
resulted in better developmental progress as the children get older.  

 Members challenged the Key Stage 1 results. It was confirmed that these were 
positive for the future and were generally impacting Key Stage 2 figures, where 

Page 91



Appendix 1 

there was higher attainment particularly in Mathematics. The Committee heard 
that demographics and social-economic factors should not be a barrier to higher 
achievement.  

 That as part of the Ofsted inspection regime, schools indicated on their website 
how pupil premium funding was being allocated and the impact this was having. 
School audits undertaken by the Local Authority also focused on this, with 
particular emphasis on disadvantaged pupils.  

 Members challenged the most recent dataset regarding school’s performance. 
They were advised that these were provisional and based on Ofsted reports 
published, local knowledge and status changes on GIAS (Edubase 
replacement). The Committee heard that when schools became academies, 
they had to wait until the next inspection regime before their Ofsted grades 
could be changed. Members noted further that with the assistance of the School 
Performance Board and the Referral Support Centre, most schools needing 
improvement had made considerable progress.  

 That early indications show that the recruitment of three Higher Education 
Learning Officers (HELOs) to work with schools and young people had been 
positive. The Committee heard that due to the effective partnership with Oxford 
Brooks University, good practice was being cascaded across all schools to the 
benefit of young people.  

 Members challenged the exclusion dataset. It was noted that the number of 
permanent exclusion for secondary schools went down last year; both 
secondary and primary schools figures were still causing concern. Members 
heard about the involvement of the Swindon Challenge Board in assisting 
schools, resulting in positive outcomes where the number of fixed term 
exclusions went down and the number of days young people were excluded 
was considerably reduced. Members were encouraged to see a direct impact of 
the Swindon Challenge Board on reduced exclusions. Members also heard 
about the involvement of Mr Tom Bennet, Government Behaviour specialist, 
who had already spoken to all headteachers and would be running a course for 
senior leaders in March 2019. Further information available at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/behaviour-in-schools 

 

Summary 

Over the previous year the Children’s Health, Social Care and Education 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee has continued to focus on scrutinising the 
actions being taken to improve children’s services.  The Committee has 
scrutinised many issues over the year including reviewing education 
standards, the LA’s engagement with the young people in Swindon 
particularly on mental health issues, the support provided for those with 
Special Educational Needs and how Swindon addressed Child Exploitation, 
Missing, Vulnerable Children and on-line Internet safety.   As members of the 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee, the Committee challenged 
the Council and other public services to make sure that they give young 
people in Swindon every chance to live happy, fulfilling and successful 
lives.  Members of the Committee worked closely with internal and external 

Page 92



Appendix 1 

stakeholders and used their experience of representing children and families 
in their wards to recommend to officers how they can ensure services meet 
the needs of the community.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



Appendix 1 

Communities and Place Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

Number of meetings and Membership of the 

Committee for 2018/19: 

In the Municipal Year 2018/19, the Communities and Place Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee met on five occasions The Committee comprised the following nine 
Borough Councillors:  
 

Conservative 

Councillors 

Labour 

Councillors 

  

Claire Ellis (Chair) 
Dale Heenan 
Kevin Parry 
Roger Smith 
Vera Tomlinson 

Steve Allsopp 
John Ballman 
Matthew Courtliff 
Janine 
Howarth 

  
 
  

 

 
Following his appointment to Cabinet, Councillor Dale Heenan was replaced as a 
member of the Committee by Councillor Garry Perkins in November 2018. 
 

Work Programmes 

At the commencement of each Municipal Year, each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is required to establish a work programme that details the activities that it 
will be undertaking during the municipal year. The work programme details the various 
topics and issues that each Committee intends to look into during the coming year with 
the aim of producing evidence based recommendations intended to provide service 
improvements for Cabinet and external agencies/bodies to consider.  
 
The work programme is developed taking into account: 

 Corporate priorities and objectives, including the Cabinet Forward Plan 

 Partnership strategic priorities and objectives 

 The interests and concerns of Members, Council officers, members of the public 
and other stakeholders such as community and voluntary groups and local 
businesses 

 
It is important that Overview and Scrutiny adds value to the work of the Council and 
the Borough and produces tangible outcomes for local people that result in real service 
improvements. Selecting the right topics is crucial to ensure that Overview and 
Scrutiny will be effective. Each year, a consultation exercise is undertaken with Partner 
Organisations, Councillors and the public to find out what issues are important and 
might be included in the work programme for the year.  The results of that consultation 
exercise are reported to the first meeting of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
the Municipal Year to support members in identifying which issues will be included in 

Page 94



Appendix 1 

the work programme for the year. As with the Scrutiny Committee, work programmes 
are sufficiently flexible to allow the Committee to respond to issues that might arise 
during the course of the year and, to that end. It is reviewed at every Committee 
meeting, or as often as the Committee sees fit, to ensure that it remains relevant and 
that members and officers have sufficient capacity to achieve its objectives effectively. 
 
The Communities and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered its work 
programme at its meeting on 27th June 2018 when it determined that the following 
issues would be the subject of review: 

 Highways Winter Programme Review. 

 StreetSmart Waste Service Changes. 

 Library Strategy. 

 Review of Grass Cutting. 

 Comparison of Parish Borough Council costs for Grounds 
Maintenance (oral update). 

 StreetSmart six month service review. 

 Update on Waste Service rollout. 

 Comparison of Parish Borough Council costs for Grounds 
Maintenance. 

 Volunteering and Locality working update. 

 Highways Incentive Fund. 

 Highways six month service review. 

 Highways post-winter service review. 

 Update on Parishing (subject to Cabinet Decisions). 
 

Presentation on Major Road Schemes within the 

Borough 

At its meeting on 27th September 2018, the Committee were given a presentation by 
the Mr Jason Humm, Head of Highways and Transport, updating them on major road 
schemes within the Borough. During his presentation, the Head of Highways and 
Transport highlighted: 

 The M4 Junction 16 improvement works, including drone footage of traffic 
following completion of the upgrade. 

 The infrastructure, layout and groundwork of the redesigned Junction 16. 

 Safety and sustainable transport work within the Sustainable Transport package 
over the last three years, including crossing facilities and cycleways on Queens 
Drive, improvements to the town centre, completion of the eastern and southern 
flyers. 

 Forthcoming work to improve access to Spring Gardens from the Magic 
Roundabout. 

 On-going work in respect of the Quality Bus Corridor under a three-phase 
programme to Regent Circus, the Witchelstowe bus route and Mannington 
funded by Local Economic Partnership monies. 

Page 95



Appendix 1 

 Design work for the Southern Access via a tunnel under the M4, the new 
Eastern Villages, including the White Hart junction, and the Gable Cross 
Roundabout. 

 An update on the road-resurfacing programme approved by Cabinet in March 
2018. 

 The delivery programme for schemes approved under the Capital Programme 
under the Council’s maintenance settlement as agreed by Cabinet in March 
2018. 

 Funding priority for the maintenance of major carriage ways. 

 Minor road and footway maintenance and funding streams available for this 
work.  

 
The Head of Highways and Transport then responded to questions and comments in 
respect of:  

 The monitoring of accident statistics and officer reviews of the Greenbridge 
roundabout scheme and possible improvements including potential changes to 
advance road markings, pedestrian crossings, the continued use of 24 hours 
traffic signals and road signage. 

 Domestic waste collections on major roads should these be closed for 
maintenance or other work. 

 
The Committee thanked the Head of Highways and Transport for his presentation and 
requested that (a) following the officer review of the advance road markings, the 
continued use of 24 hours traffic signals and road signage a report be submitted to this 
Committee setting out any proposed modifications, and (b) That the Interim Head of 
Streetsmart be requested to submit an update to this Committee setting out the 
Council’s communications policy in respect of waste and recycling collections in 
residential where these are disrupted by road closures or major roadworks. 
 

Waste Strategy Questionnaire and Short Term 

Proposals 

The Committee wished to scrutinise the proposed public questionnaire and short term 
options relating to the Council’s ten year Waste Strategy which was currently under 
development. At its meeting on 4th September 2018, the Committee received a joint 
report by the Interim Head of StreetSmart and the Cabinet Member for Highways and 
the Environment setting out details of the questionnaire and short-term option under 
consideration and links to the Council’s vison and strategy.    
 
The Interim Head of StreetSmart introduced the report on behalf of the Cabinet 
Member for Highways and the Environment, remarking on the forthcoming 
engagement with the public on the Council’s Waste Strategy. 
 
Issues raised by members during their debate of the report and presentations 
included: 

 Reasons for the fall in recycling rates within the Borough despite an increase in 
the number of recycling boxes issued. 

Page 96



Appendix 1 

 The forthcoming communications campaign in relation to recycling which would 
include the promotion of items that can be recycled and the consistent 
enforcement of the Council’s existing waste collection and recycling policy. 

 The use of targeted education in areas with below average recycling rates. 

 Potential short-term proposals and annual action plans within the ten year 
Waste Strategy to increase recycling.  These included but were not limited to, 
reserving the right not to collect black bins containing excess recyclable 
materials, ceasing the recycling of plastic, and charges for replacement 
recycling boxes.  

 The inclusion of plastic waste within the material turned into fuel for industry as 
this would improve the quality of the fuel and ensure that Swindon plastic did 
not end up in foreign landfill whilst producing a cost saving to the Council.  

 Whether existing black bins would be large enough for household waste if 
plastic materials were no longer collected and formed part of general waste. 

 The frequency of general household waste collections and whether there were 
plans for consultation on changing the current fortnightly cycle. 

 The current green waste collection service and the need to advertise this could 
be purchased on a pro-rata basis during the financial year. 

 The system for the issue of additional or broken recycling boxes, potential 
charges and the potential for such charges to affect the recycling rate within the 
Borough. 

 Plans for public engagement in respect of the survey that would run between 
10th September and 19th September 2018, including the use of Parish and 
community facilities in addition to being available on-line. 

 The timescales for the public consultation and agreement of the Council’s 
updated Waste Strategy. 

 The clearance of litter left in streets following refuse and recycling collections. 

 The advantages and disadvantages of the introduction of a recycling collection 
for electrical goods. 

 Responses to questions contained in the questionnaire and the need to reduce 
the length of its introduction and number of questions to increase the likelihood 
of the public participating. 

 
The Committee noted the report and supported the contents of the proposed 
questionnaire subject to the removal of questions 12 and 13. The Committee also 
requested that the Interim Head of StreetSmart submit an update report to the 
Committee covering (a) the results of the Waste Strategy Questionnaire, (b) ways the 
Council can work with local and national businesses to reduce packaging, and (c) the 
possible role of waste wardens in educating the public in respect of the Council’s 
Waste and Recycling Strategies together with their enforcement. 
 

Presentation on Parking on Verges and Pavements 
within the Borough 

In response to members’ wish to review parking on verges and pavements, the 
Service Manager Transport Planning and Traffic Management made a presentation to 
the Committee at its meeting held on 12th December 2018.  The presentation covered 

Page 97



Appendix 1 

issues relating to the legal, logistical, enforcement and financial implications of the 
introduction of local of Borough-wide car parking restrictions. 
 
Following his presentation the Service Manager Transport Planning and Traffic 
Management responded to Members’ questions and comments in respect of the 
following matters: 

 The absence of a general prohibition on pavement parking within the Borough.  

 Current legislation available to be utilised by the Council in respect of parking 
on pavements. 

 Police enforcement of the criminal offence of driving on pavements.  

 Police responsibility for traffic enforcement action, including the removal of an 
offending vehicle, where a car, parked on a pavement, was causing an 
obstruction. 

 The adoption by the Council of legislation to deal with vehicles and the role its 
enforcement officers in responding to situations where vehicles were 
obstructing dropped kerbs and driveways, including obstruction caused by 
vehicles parked on pavements. 

 Parking on verges was only illegal within the Borough if there were parking 
restrictions in place for the adjoining road.  Such restrictions also applied to 
adjoin grass verges and pavements.  

 Damage to kerbs and grass verges arising from cars parking on them. 

 In the absence of the introduction of national legislation, the Council would need 
to introduce a traffic regulation order to prevent pavement parking in any 
specific location or Borough-wide. 

 The introduction of any Borough-wide Road Traffic Order would have significant 
implications. 

 There had been discussions with ward councillors regarding the introduction of 
traffic regulation orders for parking but these had not been taken forward when 
the overall implications, including displacing parked cars into adjoining streets 
and areas and parking in narrow streets, had been considered. 

 The consultation and legal process and costs associated with the introduction of 
Traffic Regulation Orders. 

 The considerable time and resources used by Slough Council when introducing 
a Borough-wide ban on parking on verges and pavements. 

 The Council’s current review of parking standards for new housing 
developments. 

 Current enforcement issues and those likely to arise should Traffic Regulation 
Orders be put in place around the Borough. 

 The benefits of undertaking a cost/benefits analysis prior to the creation of any 
Traffic Regulation Orders. 

 
The Committee noted the contents of the presentation and thanked the Service 
Manager Transport Planning and Traffic Management for his attendance at the 
meeting and for his presentation. 
 

 

Page 98



Appendix 1 

Presentation on Pothole Repairs 

In response to members’ wish to review pothole repairs within the Borough the Service 
Manager Highway Asset Management and Project Delivery made a presentation on 
pothole repairs to the Committee at its meeting held on 12th December 2018.   
 
Following his presentation, the Service Manager Service Manager Highway Asset 
Management and Project Delivery responded to Members’ questions and comments in 
respect of the following matters: 

 The current Code of Practice which commenced in October 2018 and which 
contained 36 recommendations that set the framework for maintenance of the 
highway on a risk based approach for the management of the Council’s 
Highway Infrastructure, including planned and unplanned maintenance based 
upon a local level of service, local accountability and local affordability. 

 The portfolio of Highway assets, which included carriageways, footpaths, 
bridges, street lighting, traffic signals and highway land. 

 That gulley maintenance was undertaken on a risk-based approach with three 
categories of maintenance level. 

 That the estimated value of the Council’s Highway Infrastructure was 
approximately £1.3 billion and covered approximately 863 km of carriageway. 

 The Council’s main responsibilities and duties under the Highways Act 1980 
and Traffic Management Act 2004. 

 The inspection process for all highways, footpaths and cycleways within the 
Borough, which provided a detailed inspection at least once or twice a year. 

 Routine highways maintenance to potholes, patching, kerbs, paving, road signs, 
street nameplates and road linings. 

 The process for inspections of potholes on highways, footpaths and cycleways 
and how these were categorised for repairs and patching.  

 Programmed maintenance to larger footways and carriageway projects 
identified by the Highway Asset Team. 

 Techniques and technology used for pothole patching within the Borough and 
the investigation of alternative materials for pothole repairs.  

 The number of potholes identified within the Borough and length of time the 
backlog of repairs would take if funding were available. 

 The defect management plan operated by the Council to prioritise and repair 
potholes once they have been reported. 

 The level of insurance claims made against the Council in relation to damage 
caused by potholes. 

 How the standard of repairs to the highway and footpaths undertaken by utility 
companies is monitored and where necessary enforced. 

 The co-ordination of works by utility companies to limit inconvenience to 
highway users and to prevent highways and footpaths being needlessly 
disrupted. 

 
The Committee noted the contents of the presentation and thanked the Service 
Highway Asset Management and Project Delivery for his attendance at the meeting 
and his presentation. 
 

Page 99



Appendix 1 

Greenbridge Roundabout 

The Service Manager Highway Asset Management and Project Delivery made an oral 
presentation to the Committee at its meeting held on 12th December 2018 updating 
Members on issues relating to the Greenbridge Roundabout following improvement 
upgrades to the roundabout. 
 
The officer responded to Members’ questions and comments in respect of the 
following issues arising from his oral report: 

 Work undertaken to traffic signals to reduce queueing on the approached to the 
roundabout and changes to lining on the road to better define lanes on the 
roundabout. 

 The use of traffic lights to prioritise traffic from different locations depending on 
traffic levels. 

 The benefits of putting in signage, identifying lanes to use, on the approach to 
the roundabout to ease traffic movement. 

 The rationale for linking traffic lights to pedestrian crossings rather than 
installing part-time traffic lights. 

 The traffic modelling predictions used in preparing the Greenbridge Roundabout 
improvements. 

 How the development of the Greenbridge Roundabout will be used to inform 
future developments. 

 The effect of the future Eastern Village developments on the ability of the 
Greenbridge Roundabout to cope with increased traffic volumes. 

 
The Committee noted the contents of the oral report and thanked the Service Highway 
Asset Management and Project Delivery for his attendance at the meeting and his 
presentation. 
 

The Council’s Communication Strategy 

At its meeting on 9th November 2019, the Committee received a presentation by the 
Head of Communications in respect of the Council’s Communications Strategy for 
2018/19. The Committee also considered a report relating to the Council’s 
Communications Strategy previously considered by the Cabinet at its meeting held on 
11th July 2018. During his presentation, the Head of Communications drew the 
Committee’s attention to: 

 The Cabinet’s endorsement of the Council’s current Communications Strategy 
at its meeting held on 11th July 2018. 

 How the Local Government Association Communications Peer Review finding 
and stakeholder input and feedback helped inform the Communications 
Strategy which was based on best practice across the public sector. 

 The team’s background and work to place communications at the centre of the 
Council’s work and to support the work undertaken throughout the authority. 

 The application of the OASIS model (Objectives, Audience Insight, 
Strategy/Idea, Implementation and Scoring Evaluation) to target clear and 
concise messages to the public and within the Council. 

Page 100



Appendix 1 

 The role of the Communications Team in helping the Council to meeting its 
strategic priorities through the application of the OASIS model, for instance, 
during the Voter ID publicity Campaign for the Local Elections held in May 2018 
and its shortlisting for the 2019 Local Chronicle Campaign of the Year Awards. 

 The award of a Gold and Silver in September 2018 from the Chartered Institute 
of Public Relations Pride South Awards for the Voter ID and Staff Flu 
Vaccination campaigns. 

 The creation of a stakeholder database of more than 500 local voluntary, 
community and religious organisations. 

 The core priorities and projects set out within the Communications Strategy for 
the coming year based upon consultations with service departments and 
Councillors.  

 
Following his presentation of the report, the Head of Communications 
responded to members’ specific questions and observations on the following 
matters: 

 The identification of targeted audiences and the most relevant communication 
tools to reach them during any campaign. 

 The use of social media and twitter as a cost effective in reaching younger 
audiences and/or targeted groups. 

 The recent on-line Waste Strategy survey completed by over 3,000 local 
residents. 

 Recent campaigns including rough sleeping and homelessness, Foster Carer 
recruitment, the severe weather protocol, pothole repairs, recycling, the use of 
housing repairs, portal voter ID and waste strategy. 

 The potential for the streaming of meetings to reach a wider public audience. 

 The need to give residents an overview of the wide range of activities 
undertaken on their behalf. 

 The sustainability of differing levels and types of campaigns undertaken by the 
Council. 

 The assessment of the impact of various campaigns and how lessons arising 
could be learnt and disseminated to service departments. 

 How the Council can work and co-operate with Parish Councils and other 
partners in formulating campaigns. 

 The need to inform the public of the results of consultations and the reasons 
why some options might not be acted upon. 

 The use of Overview and Scrutiny Committees in helping to shape proposals 
prior to formal public consultations. 

 
The Committee noted the presentation and thanked the Head of Communications for 
his presentation. 
 

Transfer of Community Assets to Parish Councils 

In response to members’ wish to review the transfer of Community Assets to Parish 
Councils Borough the Head of Property Assets submitted a report to the Committee at 
its meeting held on 6th March 2019.  In his report the Head of Property Assets 

Page 101



Appendix 1 

highlighted the following issues: 

 The identification of transferable assets. 

 The process for the transfer of assets from the Council to Parishes. 

 Legal and financial issues relating to the transfer of assets to Parish 
Councils. 

 Progress made to date in the transfer of assets to Parish Councils. 
 The situation regarding the future transfer of assets. 

 

Following his presentation, the Head of Property Assets responded to Members’ 
questions and comments in respect of the following matters arising from his report and 
presentation: 

 The Council had commenced the transfer of assets to Parish Councils in 2017. 

 That the time period for the transfer of assets had varied depending on 
discussions between the Council and Parishes and the complexity of the 
agreements involved and Parish Council and Borough Council staff resourcing. 

 There were currently on-going discussions with six Parish Council regarding the 
possible transfer of a range of assets. 

 The details of transfers of assets had been included within a number of Cabinet 
Member Briefing Notes. 

 Work was on-going in respect of the collection of data on assets yet to be 
transferred to Parish Councils and to create officer capacity to facilitate the 
timely transfer of assets. 

 Work to advise Parish Council of the conditions of assets that were available for 
transfer in order that the Parish Councils were fully aware of the condition of 
such assets. This was one of the reasons for the delay in transferring assets as 
Parish Councils needed to understand the financial commitment involved. 

 The budget implications of upgrading assets, including play parks, prior to their 
transfer to Parish Councils. 

 That any Section 106 monies available to upgrade transferred assets had been 
passported to the appropriate Parish Councils and that further capital monies 
had not been set aside for such work other than matched and transitional 
funding previously agreed with Parish Councils. 

 The need for officers to investigate further those assets transferred to Parish 
Councils requiring work to ensure that they are fit for purpose. Should funding 
be required to assist Parishes undertake this work the Head of Property be 
requested to bring this to the attention of the appropriate Cabinet Member. 

 The position of land management should it be transferred back from a Parish 
Council to the Borough Council. 

 The rationale for the difference in the lease lengths of assets transferred to 
Parishes, which had largely been based upon requests from individual Parish 
Councils. 

 Clause in leases and vesting order to control the change of use of land and 
other assets transferred to Parish Councils. 

 The status of land identified under SHELA (Strategic Housing (and 
Employment) Land Availability). 

 The process for change of use of land transferred and for any potential 
development of transferred land. 

Page 102



Appendix 1 

 Should transferred land be developed or there be a change of use of an asset it 
would require a change of use agreement with Swindon Borough Council.  As 
part of any approval to develop or change a use of an asset that led to an 
increased value arising from such approval then as part of the agreement 
Swindon Borough Council would give consideration to how such added value 
should be allocated between the Borough and Parish Council. 

 Whether asset transfers in the future would include StreetSmart assets that 
were not currently planned.  It was noted that the Borough was currently 
considering asset transfers requested by Parish Councils. 

 The timeline for the current list of asset transfers and additional legal resources 
to facilitate these transfers in a manner satisfactory to the Parishes and 
Borough.  

 The benefits of keeping Ward Councillors up to date with the transfer of assets. 

 The future of any play areas that were not transferred to Parish Councils. 

 The benefits of Ward Councillors being advised of any assets within their Wards 
that Parish Councils have indicated that they do not wish to receive through a 
transfer. 

 
The Committee noted the contents of the presentation and thanked the Head of 
Property Assets for his attendance at the meeting and his presentation. 

Summary 

The Communities and Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee had a comprehensive 
and wide-ranging Work Programme for the 2018/19 year and it achieved its aims as 
set out at the beginning of the year. The Committee’s Work Programme evolved 
during the year as priorities and workloads of Service Departments changed.  The 
additions and deferment of items was agreed by the Chair in consultation with Senior 
Officers.  The Committee responded efficiently to Constitutional and challenged the 
Cabinet Members and officers and assisted in addressing the challenges faced by the 
service throughout the year, all the while maintaining a high level of commitment from 
its members. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



Appendix 1 

Growing the Economy Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

Number of meetings and Membership of the 

Committee for 2018/19: 

In the Municipal Year 2018/19, the Growing the Economy Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee met on 5 occasions. The Committee comprised the following nine Borough 
Councillors:  
 

Conservative Councillor 
Emma Faramarzi (Chair) 
John Haines 
Dale Heenan 
Roger Smith 
Caryl Sydney-Smith 
 

Labour Councillors 
Mark Dempsey 
Paul Dixon 
Imtiyaz Shaikh 
Chris Watts 
 
 

 
Following his appointment to Cabinet, Councillor Dale Heenan was replaced as a 
member of the Committee by Councillor Garry Perkins in November 2018. 
 

Work Programme 

At the commencement of each Municipal Year, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
are required to establish a work programme that details the activities that it will be 
undertaking during the municipal year. The work programme details the various topics 
and issues that each Committee intends to look into during the coming year with the 
aim of producing evidence based recommendations intended to provide service 
improvements for Cabinet and external agencies/bodies to consider.  
 
The work programme is developed taking into account: 

 Corporate priorities and objectives, including the Cabinet Forward Plan 

 Partnership strategic priorities and objectives 

 The interests and concerns of Members, Council officers, members of the public 
and other stakeholders such as community and voluntary groups and local 
businesses 

 
It is important that Overview and Scrutiny adds value to the work of the Council and 
the Borough and produces tangible outcomes for local people that result in real service 
improvements. Selecting the right topics is crucial to ensure that Overview and 
Scrutiny will be effective. Each year, the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and the Corporate Director for Economy, Regeneration and Skills 
considered the issues that they felt were important and might be included in the work 
programme for the year.  The outcome of this meeting were reported to the first 
meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in the Municipal Year to support 
members in identifying which issues will be included in the work programme for the 

Page 104



Appendix 1 

year. As with the Scrutiny Committee, work programmes are sufficiently flexible to 
allow the Committee to respond to issues that might arise during the course of the 
year. To that end, it is reviewed at every Committee meeting, or as often as the 
Committee sees fit, to ensure that it remains relevant and that members and officers 
have sufficient capacity to effectively achieve its objectives. 
 
The Committee considered its work programme at its meeting on 20th June 2018 when 
it determined that the following issues be included in its work programme for the year: 

 New Visions, Priorities and Pledges 

 National Industrial Strategy 

 Digital Portfolio including Broadband 

 Digital Billboards 

 Higher Education Provision including Apprenticeships 

 Switch on to Swindon  

 Regeneration of the Town Centre  
 

Inward Investment and Business Retention and 

Expansion 

At its meeting on 20th June 2018, the Committee received a report by the Cabinet 
Member for Economic Prosperity informing the Committee of the Council’s Inward 
Investment and Business Retention Strategies. The report summarized the activity 
required to achieve the Inward Investment and Business Retention and Expansion 
objectives linked to Swindon Borough Council’s Economic Strategy to 2026.  
Julia Stuckey, Inward Investment Manager, advised that Swindon’s Inward Investment 
strategic aims were to raise Swindon’s profile as an investable destination and attract 
long-term inward investment from growing companies in priority sub-sectors, creating 
high value jobs and increased business rates. 
 
The Inward Investment Manager commented that Inward investment is the activity 
intended to target and attract external companies to an area, which have a propensity 
to invest, relocate and grow. This may originate from foreign direct investment (FDI) or 
domestic direct investment (DDI). DDI (UK generated Inward Investment) is much 
more prevalent than FDI, yet it is rarely measured, supported or promoted. Swindon’s 
successful Switch on to Swindon programme offers an attractive Place Marketing 
opportunity for this area. 
 
Councillor Oliver Donachie, the Cabinet Member for Economic Prosperity, Julia 
Stuckey, Inward Investment Manager and Philippa Venables, Head of Economy and 
Skills responded to the observations and questions put by the Chair and Councillors 
Heenan, Watts on the following matters: 

 How could the Council demonstrate Inward Investment 

 100% retention of business rates 

 Providing support for smaller sized businesses through the Swindon and 
Wiltshire Local Economic Partnership (SWLEP) 

 Strengthening relationships with strategically important companies 

 Securing low interest business loans through the SWLEP 

Page 105



Appendix 1 

 Working with larger companies on their supply chains 

 The Corporate Dashboard and Business Intelligence Tool 

 The Developers Forum 
 Switch on to Swindon ambassadors 

 
The Committee noted the report and requested that the Inward Investment Manager 
forward detailed data on the number of smaller sized companies in Swindon and 
Wiltshire together with regional comparisons and a link to the Council’s Corporate 
Dashboard to Members of the Committee. 
 

Swindon and Wiltshire LEP Industrial Strategy Update 

At its meeting on 26th September 2018, the Committee received an update from the 
Head of Strategic Growth and Cabinet Member for Economic Prosperity made a 
presentation to the Committee in respect of the Council’s approach to Industrial 
Strategy. 
 
The Head of Strategic Growth and Place and Cabinet Member for Economic 
Prosperity made a presentation to the Committee in respect of the Council’s approach 
to Industrial Strategy in respect of the following issues: 

 The five foundations of productivity set out in the Industrial Strategy White 
Paper Overview namely, Ideas, People, Infrastructure, Business Environment 
and Places. 

 The Grand Challenges and Missions of the Industrial Strategy identified by 
Government, namely, Artificial Intelligence and the Data Economy, the Future of 
Mobility, Clean Growth, an Ageing Society and Industrial 4.0 Overachieving 
(key in the delivery) and how these aligned to Swindon’s strengths and policies. 

 Key areas to build on in Swindon including the automotive sector (low or zero 
carbon vehicles) and health and life sciences and prevention and treatment of 
chronic illnesses. 

 Clean growth through increasing productivity whilst maintaining emission 
targets and design of new buildings. 

 The delivery of targets through LEPs and officer involvement in the LEP 
Working Group defining areas of work, engaging with partners and 
presentations to Government.  

 That the Challenges and Missions identified by Government were not related to 
any available money or grant funding although the shared prosperity fund was 
being introduced in 2019. 

 The work of the Wiltshire and Swindon LEP in examining evidence base in 
relation to its Strategic Economic Plan identifying key sectors for the region, and 
regeneration and growth zones. 

 The incorporation of the National Industrial Strategy White Paper (BEIS), Local 
Industrial Strategies (Local Enterprise Partnerships), South West Local 
Enterprise Working Group and Local Authorities, business and partners within 
the creation of a Swindon Industrial Strategy. 

 The LEP approach of creating strategies through the development of an 
evidence base and refreshing Strategic Economic Plans. 

Page 106



Appendix 1 

 The South West Local Enterprises Partnership’s “Big Ideas” including a 
business led multi campus university, electronic vehicles and battery storage, 
hydrogen as an alternative source of clean energy, cyber resilience and the use 
of big data, immunology development and medi tech, defence and aerospace 
supply chain development and land and air autonomous vehicles. 

 Swindon’s key sectors including advanced manufacturing (automatic focus), life 
sciences and health, digital technology to advance manufacturing, and financial 
and professionals services and work with local businesses to encourage growth 
and withstand Brexit. 

 Swindon’s productivity challenges such as the availability of key sector skilled 
workers, research and Development opportunities in key areas, the timely 
availability of suitable employment land and the local supply chain. 

 Possible solutions to challenges facing Swindon including building Research 
and development space, innovative models to meet employee training and 
employer needs, recruitment campaigns with industry, regional partnerships, 
supply chain zoning and digi-tech cluster development. 

 Work to encourage new business creation and relocation and engagement with 
existing employers to support them. 

 The Grant Thornton report findings and measures to address the fall in Swindon 
health related metrics and the challenges in this this area, which was in contrast 
to the positive results in other measurements which showed Swindon in the 90th 
percentile and that Swindon was in the top quartile across all categories. 

 Increased uses of automotive systems in manufacturing and how this might 
affect future employment within the town. 

 The need to identify future employment skill sets, to maximise the employment 
opportunities this offered Swindon and to ensure that these could be provided 
locally through innovative upskilling by retraining and training for young people. 

 The need to widen training budgets from traditional silo methods to allow people 
to continue developing skills throughout their lives in conjunction with 
employers. 

 Ensuring all employers had access to the upskilling training programmes 
available within the Borough. 

 The need for the Council to identify wider levels of work to complement the 
LEPs High Level strategies. 

 Future opportunities in cyber defence and translating and transferring data into 
systems and how stem skills being developed in Swindon. 

 The work of Switch Onto Swindon Group in attracting workers with 
skillsets for vacancies that cannot currently be filled locally.  

 Potential funding streams from Central Government to drive local 
training programmes. 

 
The Committee noted the presentation.   

 

The Council’s Refreshed Vision, Priorities and 
Pledges - Update 

 
At its meeting held on 26th September 2018 the Committee received a presentation in 

Page 107



Appendix 1 

respect of the Council’s visions and pledges relating to the remit of the Committee and 
responded to Members’ comments and questions in respect of the following issues: 

 Pledge 1 which set the ambition for Swindon to compete at the forefront of 
digital innovation with a commitment to using technology for positive change. 

 Pledge 2 which related to Swindon’s reputation as a sustainable energy 
exemplar, by exploring technology that converts energy from waste, facilitating 
the move to electrified transport, and developing opportunities to invest in 
renewable energy to reduce the carbon footprint. 

 That Swindon produced 51.2% of its energy requirements through green energy 
during peak production. 

 The current Council led consultation on recycling and the future recycling within 
the town. 

 Pledge 3 – refreshing and implementing the Master Plan for Swindon’s Town 
Centre and supporting the Council’s vision of a vibrant modern place and 
working to promote Swindon effectively through improving the town’s 
reputation. 

 Pledge 4 – Supporting business by working in partnership to create condition to 
promote business growth and success. 

 Pledge 9 – to increase the number of people staring an apprenticeship in line 
with the targets in the Apprenticeship Strategy. 

 Pledge 10 – to secure a range of options to access Higher Education in 
Swindon and to drive up pupil attainment. 

 Pledge 11- to work with partners to increase the level of skills of Swindon’s 
workforce to support all residents, including the most vulnerable, to access 
employment. 

 Pledge 16 – the delivery of a programme to ensure that residents, visitors and 
businesses feel that Swindon’s town centre is a safe place to live, work, visit 
and do business. 

 The role of Park and Ride in carbon emission reduction. 
 Inward investment within the Borough and how this was affected by economic 

and political issues around the world. 
 
The Committee noted the presentation and requested an update report on Park and 
Ride within the Borough be considered at its January meeting.  This update was 
subsequently considered in March 2019. 

Swindon and Wiltshire Local Enterprise Partnership 

 
At its meeting held on 7th November 2018, the Committee a joint presentation from the 
Head of Strategic Growth and Place and the Cabinet Member for Economic Prosperity 
updating Members on issues relating to the Council’s Digital Pledge, Digital Bill 
Boards, Smart Energy Technology and Digital Skills . 
 
Following the presentation the Cabinet Member and officers responded 
Members questions on a number of points arising from the joint presentation 
including: 

Page 108



Appendix 1 

 The diversity of the digital pledge, which covered much of the work of the 
Economy and Skills Directorate. 

 The role of the Business technology team in supporting digital technologies in 
Swindon through business retention and the expansion of inward investment. 

 The Council’s engagement with businesses including digital interventions and 
the identification of skills sets within the town to strengthen the town’s business 
offer. 

 The Council’s strategic approach, based on research and market intelligence, 
which had identified digital technology as a strategically important sector for 
Swindon. 

 Work to create a digital technology network in Swindon during the first quarter 
of 2019. 

 Support provided to digital technologies in Swindon, which included funding 
bids to the European Structural Investment Fund and Wiltshire LEP to attract 
Mall to Medium Enterprise (SME) businesses. 

 Work to support Swindon based through the roll-out of superfast broadband 
within the Borough, which included £6 million of contracts for hardware 
refreshes of broadband equipment (which could support 5G provision). 

 Support to enable businesses to access Ultrafast Broadband by connecting 
industrial estates and linking future commercial developments. 

 Work to understand further the benefits and impact of 5G in Swindon and how 
this will shape future working practices and investment across a number of 
industries. 

 Meeting with the “3 Network” and businesses regarding the potential roll-out of 
5G in Swindon and the expansion of fibre provision in Swindon. 

 The opportunity to attract high skill employers and employees to the Borough 
should Swindon be involved in an early roll-out of 5G in Swindon. 

 Work to identify internal Council barriers that might prevent technological 
infrastructure investment. 

 The identification of inward investment opportunities in the event of an early 5G 
roll-out. 

 The use of digital billboards to welcome people to Swindon and to provide them 
with concise information. 

 The risk and budget profile for digital billboards, including the identification a 
private sector partner to help provide infrastructure and expertise.  

 Preparation and modelling undertaken in respect of the provision of digital 
billboards, including best practice of other Local Authorities. 

 The identification of potential procurement partners through soft marketing. 

 Work to identify suitable sites, including the M4 motorway and rail station, for 
the siting of digital billboards either through a single or multi-site model prior to 
seeking authorisation to go out to tender and procure a system. 

 The role of digital billboards in bringing visitors and business into Swindon. 

 The role of digital billboards in providing public realm messages and updating 
residents and visitors with up to the minute information. 

 The current breakdown of high calibre businesses occupying the Carriage 
Works premises and its role in hosting a wide variety of events. 

Page 109



Appendix 1 

 The development of a smart energy system at Waterside and the success of the 
Council in championing and establishing green energy generation and 
infrastructure within the Borough. 

 The promotion of digital skill courses in Adult education and schools to prepare 
residents for current and increasingly future employment opportunities. 

 Work with partner organisations to promote digital skills required within the town 
currently and also for projecting future digital skills required by Swindon’s 
workforce.  

 Government funding for the provisional of digital skills training for work and 
adult community learning to increase social inclusion on a lifelong learning 
approach. 

 Work with the Local Enterprise Partnership and targeted employers to identify 
high level digital skills needed by current and future employers in the Borough.  

 Work on the Phase 2 bid for Institute of Technology with national bodies such 
as the Institute of Coding. 

 
The Committee noted the joint presentation thanking officers and the Cabinet Member 
for Economic Prosperity for their interesting presentation. The Committee requested 
that Digital Billboard project team consider the siting of Digital Bill Boards on the M4 
motorway approach to Swindon in any single or multi-site scheme.  In addition, the 
Committee requested that the Head of Planning, Regulatory Services and Heritage 
consider the amendment of Planning Policy IN3 to require developers to install dark 
fibre infrastructure in all new developments. 
 

Update on Learning Town, Higher Education and 
Apprenticeships 
 
At its meeting held on 30th January 2019, the Committee received a report setting out 
progress on the Swindon Learning Town, Higher Education Strategy and 
Apprenticeship Strategy, together with a number of questions submitted by Councillor 
Jane Milner-Barry relating to apprenticeships, the use of apprenticeships to upskill the 
Council’s workforce and funds in the Council’s apprenticeship levy account. 
The report highlighted: 

 The development of the Learning Town concept in Swindon. 

 The Swindon Learning Town Action Plan, which was appended to the report. 

 Progress in establishing and developing Swindon Learning Town and 
forthcoming work. 

 The Council’s Skills and Employment Strategy for the period 2017-2020 as 
endorsed by the Cabinet in September 2018. 

 Higher education achievement by Swindon residents. 

 The SWLEP wide Apprenticeship Growth Strategy. 
 

Following the presentation of the report the Cabinet Member for Economic Prosperity 
and Officers responded to Members’ questions and comments in respect of the 
presentation and Councillor Milner-Barry’s questions on the following issues: 

 The different apprenticeships currently available which included level 7 
Masters degrees; it was noted that there has been a growth in the use of 

Page 110



Appendix 1 

higher and master degree apprenticeships by employers, including Swindon 
Borough Council. 

 The use of apprenticeships to employ staff and to upskill staff. 

 Funds available in the Apprenticeship Levy Account and the target the 
Council had for the employment of apprentices. 

 The mobilising of resources by Learning Cities to promote learning from basic 
to higher education, learning in the workplace, to extend the use of modern 
learning technologies and fostering a culture of learning, social inclusion, 
economic prosperity and sustainable development. 

 For the Borough this meant increased aspiration and ambition for Swindon’s 
residents, trying to increase the number of young people in higher education, 
especially from more deprived areas and an increase of skills and 
qualifications at all levels of employment. 

 The move towards lifelong learning and increasing wellbeing through 
employment opportunities. 

 The launch of the Learning Town Website in October 2018 and road shows 
and other publicity with schools and other partners to bring the website to 
residents attention. 

 Promotions, such as Tech Fest, during the year to raise awareness the 
learning opportunities available within the Borough and to promote the status 
of learning within Swindon. 

 The use of ambassadors, employers, community engagement and mentors in 
promoting messages related to learning opportunities and career pathways 
within the Borough. 

 The Words for Work Programme for post 16 year olds to assist their transition 
to employment. 

 Other on-going work to improve literacy across a range of age groups. 

 The positive use of stories on the Learning Town Website and social media. 

 The identification of barriers to learning across the range of programmes 
used within the Borough. 

 The role of Councillors to help promote future campaigns. 

 That education should be used by all residents on an on-going basis to help 
them develop their skills and opportunities available to them. 

 The variety of bursaries and grants available to those on means-tested 
benefits to help them in their educational development. 

 The targeting of education, especially in improving prosperity and how 
aspirations and outcomes were monitored. 

 The effect of technologies on the development of children’s learning skills. 

 The role of libraries across the Borough in the promotion of learning and skill 
attainment. 

 Work with all schools and colleges in the Borough through the Swindon 
Challenge Board to improve educational attainment and to raise aspirations 
and progression. 

 Work with universities, colleges and schools to increase aspirations for the 
cohort of pupils whose family did not have a history of higher education 
learning. 

 Work to increase the number and range of apprenticeships on offer within the 

Page 111



Appendix 1 

Borough. 

 On-going work to identify barriers to learning and assist residents with poor 
literacy skills access services. 

 
The Committee noted the report and progress on the Swindon Learning Town, Higher 
Education and Apprenticeships. 
 

Switch Onto Swindon 
 
At its meeting on 30th January 2019 the Committee received joint presentation by the 
Cabinet Member for Economic Prosperity and the Head of Strategic Growth on the 
work of Switch onto Swindon and responded to Members scrutiny in respect of the 
following issues:  

 That Switch onto Swindon, which was into its third year, had approximately 600 
Ambassadors from over 400 companies who were working to make Swindon 
the best place to live and work. 

 That the Business Board was aligned around business and its business 
members of the Board have taken on Lead Roles to co-ordinate activity within 
the themes of Governance, The Ambassador Network, The Talent Attraction 
Campaign, Discover Swindon and Ambassador Communication. 

 The message that Swindon was the place to do business, which was being led 
and championed by representatives of the business community. 

 The Council’s support in the form of senior political and officer input, co-
ordination, insurance for events, communications and administrative support 
and a base budget to stimulate other financial and in-kind contributions to 
agreed activity. 

 That Switch on Swindon had been reorganised to minimise political input and to 
allow business to deliver key messages. 

 Work to widen the message of Switch on Swindon to business and employees 
on a national scale. 

 The role of the Council in proactively seeking inward investment into Swindon. 
 
The report was noted and the Committee formally extended its thanks and 
appreciation to all the Switch on Swindon Ambassadors for their work. 
 

Possible Effects of Leaving the European Union 

At its meeting held on 22nd March 2019 the Committee received a joint report of the 
Cabinet Member for Economic Prosperity and the Head of Strategic Growth and Place 
setting out in broad terms the issues identified to date arising from the United Kingdom 
leaving the European Union and the Council’s response through its inward investment 
and business retention and expansion programmes. 
The report was considered was presented in response to a Motion to Council on 20th 
September 2018 and included information presented to the Scrutiny Committee on 
10th December 2018 and addressed: 

 The local and national referendum results in respect of the United Kingdom’s 
future membership of the European Union. 

Page 112



Appendix 1 

 The Motion agreed by Council at its meeting held on 20th September 2019 and 
its consideration by the Scrutiny Committee. 

 The sentiment of local businesses following the referendum result. 

 A summary of the position of Parliament following the referendum result. 

 Possible issues for businesses in the event of a “no deal” Brexit. 

 Work by Government in respect of mitigating measures. 

 Government/EU Guidance to assist businesses and individuals. 

 A summary of “The UK’s future skill-based Immigration System Cm9722” 
published by the Government in December 2018. 

 The Council’s approach to help local businesses. 

 Inward investment and Business retention and expansion. 

 Global trade issues. 

 Issues raised by the Scrutiny Committee on 10th December 2018. 
 
The Committee noted the report and thanked officers for their extremely detailed 
report.  It encouraged the Cabinet Member for Economic Prosperity and Councillors to 
promote the Government’s website https://euexit.campaign.gov.uk to assist 
businesses with their preparations for Brexit.  The Chair and the Cabinet Member for 
Economic Prosperity were requested to report the Committee’s consideration of this 
report to Council. 

 

Presentation – Regeneration of the Town Centre 

At its meeting held on 27th March 2019 the Committee received presentation in respect 
of the regeneration of Swindon’s Town Centre. 
 
Following the presentation Trudy Godfrey (Project Manager, Economic Development, 
Councillor Dale Heenan (Cabinet Member for the Town Centre) and Councillor Oliver 
Donachie (Cabinet Member for Economic Prosperity) responded to issues raised in 
respect of: 

 Estimated timescales for major works to regenerate the town centre. 

 An overview of the six person team overseeing the town centre regeneration. 

 Work on the masterplan for the town centre, the successful application for 
planning permission, Zurich’s proposed move to Wichelstowe and future use of 
the tri-centre once it is vacated. 

 Mixed use proposals under the Kimmerfields Masterplan for the locality 
surrounding the proposed site of the Zurich development. 

 The design features, including pedestrian access and crossing, for the 
proposed Bus Boulevard and funding options available for its development.  

 The continued need for the provision of high standard modern office 
accommodation within the Borough and current market testing in respect of 
commercial property provision. 

 Parking provision and standards for new housing developments in Wichelstowe. 

 Cycleway and electronic re-charging provision within new housing 
developments. 

Page 113



Appendix 1 

 Connectivity proposals between the railway station and town centre and 
transport loops under the current development proposals. 

 Design features to improve the environment and safety for local residents and 
workers using the town centre in the early morning and evening. 

 Upgrades to the utilities, including broadband, within the town centre locality. 

 Works to improve the approach to the Railway Station in Wellington Street and 
work with Network Rail and Great Western Railway on the Station Arrival 
Quarter through the One Public Estate Project. 

 The completion of the first phase of the Carriage Works development of the 
work shed in 2018 with all the available office spaces occupied and future plans 
for the development of the remaining space. 

 The development of residential flats and commercial units in Faringdon Road. 

 The current position of the North Star Development, which was expect to open 
in 2021/22 and linkages with the town centre and Steam/Outlet Centre. 

 The Town Centre Movement Strategy. 

 The Cultural Quarter, which would include an upgraded Wyvern Theatre, a new 
Museum and Art Gallery and the Civic Offices and would improve the evening 
economy. 

 Funding received from Historic England and further work with that organisation 
to deliver projects over the next five years. 

 Work with the National Trust and Mechanics Institute Trust with regard to 
bringing the Mechanics Institute back into use, ideally within a community role. 

 Engagement with the private sector and landowners regarding the 
refurbishment of premises or, where appropriate, a change of use. 

 Plans to improve the evening and night-time environment in the town centre 
area. 

 The future development of the ex-Aspen House and Corn Exchange sites. 

 The current position of the Swindon Town Centre Master Plan and the need to 
identify key projects to focus on until they are delivered. 

 

The Committee thanked the Cabinet Member for the Town Centre, Councillor Cabinet 
Member for Economic Prosperity and officers for their presentation and response to 
Members’ questions. The Committee also requested that items on the Carriage Works, 
the future of Civic Campus and Wyvern Theatre and Park and Ride be considered for 
inclusion in the Committee’s 2019/20 Work Programme. 
 
The Committee held a meeting at the Carriage Works on 18th September and engaged 
with Mr Shane Moore (Founder and CEO of VanHeroes) who was a tenant at the 
Carriage Works.  The Committee also received an update on Park and Ride at its 
meeting on 18th September 2019. 
 
The Committee considered reports on the Civic Campus and Wyvern Theatre at its 
meeting held on 6th November 2019. 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



Appendix 1 

Presentation – Park and Ride Services 

This item was withdrawn with the agreement of the Committee. It was agreed that the 
item would be added to the 2019/20 Committee work programme. 

(This item was considered by the Committee on 18th September 2019.) 

Summary 

The Growing the Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee has, in 2018/19, 
undertaken a varied and demanding work programme, successfully completing its 
objectives agreed at its first meeting of the municipal year. The Committee fully 
embraced the work required to influence policy development that might influence or 
impact on Swindon’s economy and have fed back comments to officers and Cabinet 
Members on a number of issues. The Members have fully engaged with the work of 
the Committee demonstrating a high level of commitment to carrying out its function.    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 115



Appendix 1 

Resources and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

Number of meetings and Membership of the 

Committee for 2018/19: 

In the Municipal Year 2018/19, the Resources and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee met on five occasions. The Committee comprised the following nine 

Borough Councillors:  

 

Conservative 

Councillors 

Labour Councillors Liberal Democrat 

Councillors 

Claire Ellis Steve Allsopp Andy Spry 

Mary Friend Des Moffatt  

Brian Mattock Bob Wright  

Timothy Swinyard   

Steve Weisinger   

 

Work Programme 

At the commencement of each Municipal Year, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
are required to establish a Work Programme that details the activities that it will be 
undertaking during that Municipal Year. The Work Programme details the various 
topics and issues that each Committee intends to look into during the coming year with 
the aim of producing evidence based recommendations intended to provide service 
improvements for Cabinet and external agencies/bodies to consider.  
 
The Work Programme is developed taking into account: 

 Corporate priorities and objectives, including the Cabinet Forward Plan. 

 Partnership strategic priorities and objectives. 

 The interests and concerns of Members, Council officers, members of the public 
and other stakeholders such as community and voluntary groups and local 
businesses. 

 
It is important that Overview and Scrutiny adds value to the work of the Council and 
the Borough and produces tangible outcomes for local people that result in real service 
improvements. Selecting the right topics is crucial to ensure that Overview and 
Scrutiny will be effective. As with the Scrutiny Committee, Work Programmes are 
sufficiently flexible to allow the Committee to respond to issues that might arise during 
the course of the year and, to that end, it is reviewed at every Committee meeting to 
ensure that it remains relevant and that members and officers have sufficient capacity 
to effectively achieve its objectives. 
 

Page 116



Appendix 1 

The Resources and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee determined that the 
following issues be included in its Work Programme for the 2018/19 Municipal Year: 

 The Swindon Programme (recurring agenda item). 

 Update on Resources and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee Work Programme 2017-2018. 

 Digital Strategy Update. 

 Consultation / Engagement Strategy. 

 Draft Capital Strategy. 

 Presentation – Autumn Budget. 

 Workforce Modernisation Programme – Leadership and Culture. 

 Presentation – Outcomes from the latest LGA Peer Review. 

 Fair Funding Review and Business Rates Retention. 

 Progress towards the Council’s Visions, Priorities and Pledges. 
 

The Swindon Programme 
 
This was a recurring agenda item for the Committee in this Municipal Year. At its 
meetings on 11th June 2018, 29th October 2018, 16th January 2019 and 4th March 2019 
the Committee received presentations from the Council’s Director of Digital Services & 
Corporate Programmes addressing: 

 The organisations transformation programme to save £30m in 30 months. 

 The organisations challenge to become more modern, streamlined and efficient. 

 The four main themes of the transformation programme which were 
Organisational excellence, Procurement, Demand management and 
Commercialisation. 

 The challenges faced by the Council in ensuring it becomes more effective. 

 The collaborative work undertaken with internal and external partners to ensure 
the Swindon Programme goals were achieved.   

 The setting of a baseline and SMART targets following the recent efficiency 
benchmarking exercise undertaken jointly by Swindon and other local 
authorities.  

 Swindon Programme Board monthly target reporting to the Leader’s Advisory 
Group.   

 Creation of Directorate dashboards to embed the Swindon Programme 
principles in the day to day running of the Council.  

 The deployment of Skype for Business to enable digital rationalisation across 
the Council.   

 The success of the Digital Hub in transferring a high number of processes into 
on-line services. 

 The former One Stop Shop having been designed as a supported fulfilment 
service, but that the progressive digitalisation of services had allowed the 
remodelling of the customer service centre to an assisted self-service function.  

 How scorecards were previously sorted in themes, but are now structured in 
Directorates.  

 That the Children’s Directorate has its own improvement plans, which the 
others do not.  

Page 117



Appendix 1 

 How some projects are supported by the Corporate Programme Team, with the 
smaller non-supported projects being governed within services. 

 
The Director of Digital Services & Corporate Programmes responded to members’ 
questions and comments in respect of the following matters: 

 The levels of staffing in the Call Centre, and their experience and knowledge of 
the Council’s services. 

 The status of the four themes contained within the Swindon Programme and 
plans in place to ensure their timely delivery. 

 The delivery of the business case in respect of the loneliness and isolation and 
learning disability themes. 

 Progress in the delivery of the ‘Skype for Business’ pilot, digital discovery work 
(the precursor to forthcoming digitalisation work), the Council’s career website 
and governance for the Swindon Programme. 

 The risk assessment in respect of work related to the delivery of the Swindon 
Programme. 

 The status of in-year savings and savings identified for future years as part of 
the Swindon Programme. 

 The continued modernisation of customer services and call centre. 

 The procurement of major information technology systems and soft market 
testing prior to procurement. 

 Workforce modernisation including pay and reward, employee value, absence 
management and specialist consolidation. 

 Commissioning, procurement and commercialisation targets and savings. 

 The resourcing of the Council’s Call Centre, current demand, prioritisation for 
vulnerable residents, staff training and demand management in respect of this 
service. 

 Trends in respect of volumes of telephone calls being handled by the call 
centre. 

 Support provided by customer services for local community residents unable to 
complete digital applications for Council services.  

 The difference in processes for customer phoning the Customer Services 
Centre and those using the walk-in Centre in Wat Tyler House.  

 The necessity of undertaking customer satisfaction surveys to influence future 
processes.  

 Promoting digitalisation of access to services to reduce footfall through the 
Customer Centre at Wat Tyler House. 

 The adaptability of the Swindon Programme model to ensure it responds to the 
changing environment of the Council and local needs of the community. 

 The allowances required for those residents who cannot be moved on to the 
digital platform and who are unable to visit the new customer service centre in 
person.  

 The problems experienced by residents trying to subscribe to green waste 
services, and how a move to six-monthly subscriptions may help address 
cyclical pressures on the contact centre.  

 Communication errors regarding green waste direct debits and the steps being 
taken to ensure these are avoided in future.  

Page 118



Appendix 1 

 Staffing pressures on entry level positions, and what can be done to 
successfully retain trained staff and ensure succession planning.   

 The need for council tenants to speak directly to the Housing Team for help and 
assistance with enquiries.  

 The governance arrangements in place once it is identified that a work stream 
is behind on its deliverables.  

 How the gross savings are calculated against the annual revenue budget from 
redundancy, salary and pension costs.   

 The net effect on overhead costs from the reduction in staff and also the 
opportunities this presents to rationalise property.  

 How the Swindon Programme has initially focussed on short term pressures 
due to the current financial constraints, and the proposals for achieving longer 
term savings following the end of the Programme. 

 How the Council can help mitigate the impact from the Honda factory closure. 

 The paper filing systems being used in some children’s services and proposals 
for the restructuring of that data using an Electronic Data Management System 
in line with Ofsted recommendations. 

 How the budgets as set out in the Scorecards are aggressive and aspirational, 
with high targets for achievement, in comparison to the actual budget update 
reports presented to Cabinet and Council which may indicate different 
outcomes. 

 How absence levels can be an indicator of low morale, pressures and stress, 
and how the projects within the Programme are helping to raise awareness and 
reduce those levels.  

 Ensuring there are no resource pressures on report authors, which then affects 
their ability to bring forward items for consideration by Committee within 
expected timeframes.  

 How the Property Team has resource pressures, and the subsequent delays in 
transferring assets to Parish Councils. 

 
The Committee received and noted these updates and agreed the following:  

 That officers be requested to investigate methods for prioritising telephone calls 
from vulnerable residents and those organisations who assist vulnerable 
residents.  

 That information on the Key Performance Indicators relating to the success of 
the Digitalisation Programme for Customer Services be circulated.    

 That a visit to the new Customer Contact Centre be arranged for members of 
the Committee.  

   

Update on Resources and Corporate Services Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2017-2018 
 
At its meeting on 29th October 2018, the Committee considered an update on the 
2017/18 Work Programme and actions previously requested by the Committee. 
 
The Director for Performance, Organisational Improvement and Communications 
responded to members’ questions and comments in respect of the following matters: 

Page 119



Appendix 1 

 Progress made in respect of the Swindon Programme. 

 The delivery of Information Technology systems and the embedding of an 
improved culture within this delivery programme. 

 The programme for developing the skills of mangers and aspiring leaders as 
part of the Council’s delivery programmes. 

 Work being undertaken as part of organisational management and development 
to improve culture, service delivery and putting the customer and customer 
support at the forefront of the Council’s work. 

 The Council’s communications strategy. 

 The current status of the Wichelstowe development. 

 Support provided to Credit Unions as part of the wider work in respect of debt 
management advice. 

 
The Committee noted the update. 

 
Digital Strategy Update 
 
At its meeting on 29th October 2018 the Committee considered an update on the 
Council’s Digital Strategy.  
 
The Director of Digital Services and Corporate Programmes responded to members’ 
questions and comments in respect of the following matters: 

 The strategy’s role, in conjunction with the customer access strategy and 
supported by an IT Strategy and a cyber protection strategy in enabling the 
Council to function properly within a changing digital world. 

 The challenges faced in modernising the Council’s major IT systems. 

 Engagement of residents who did not have access to digital services or who 
preferred to use alternative methods of communication. 

 How the Council could learn from other Local Authorities who had trialled new 
IT technologies and systems. 

 How the Council could achieve a better system of data sharing through 
agreements with its partners. 

 The use of information technology to allow staff to be more flexible in working 
and to maximise the Council’s use of resources, including building space. 

 
The Committee noted the update and endorsed the Council’s Digital Strategy, and 
requested that the Director of Digital Services and Corporate Programmes forward to 
members of this Committee details of any problems regarding the sharing of data 
arising from the transfer of library services to alternative providers within the Borough. 

 
Consultation / Engagement Strategy 
 
At its meeting on 29th October 2018 the Committee considered a presentation setting 
out details of the Council’s Consultation and Engagement Strategy. 
 

Page 120



Appendix 1 

The Director for Performance, Organisational Improvement and Communications and 
the Head of Communications, Performance and Engagement responded to members’ 
questions and comments in respect of the following matters: 

 The Council’s Consultation Policy which was due for renewal and how this 
policy assisted the engagement strategy. 

 Anecdotal feedback from Council forums on the effectiveness of current 
engagement with local residents prior to decisions being made by the Council.  

 Engagement with members prior to consultation with local residents and the 
creation of a new Council Engagement Strategy. 

 The results of the Local Government Association Residents Survey undertaken 
in 2017 which showed that Swindon was broadly in line with the national 
average in a number of categories including satisfaction with the Council, Trust 
in the Council, the provision of Value for Money Services, the Council’s level of 
engagement with residents and Residents feeling well informed. 

 The suggestion from the Local Government Association Residents Survey that 
the Council needed to improve its engagement of local residents which to allow 
them to feel they have influence and to increase the level of trust. 

 The methods by which local residents were currently obtaining information from 
the Council. 

 Current forms of public engagement by the Council and how these might be 
improved.  

 The need to keep Councillors fully informed regarding issues within their wards.  

 The need to talk to residents at an early stage prior to decisions being made, 
especially in the climate of scarcer resources being available to the Council, 
and for residents to see the results arising from any consultation. 

 How the Council can engage a wider range of residents across a wide range of 
issues and maximise the expertise available within the Borough. 

 The need for the Council to acknowledge mistakes it makes and for full 
engagement even on difficult issues in order to build trust. 

 
The Committee noted the presentation.  
 

Draft Capital Strategy 
 
At its meeting on 26th November 2018 the Committee considered the updated 2018 
CIPFA Prudential Code which sets out the requirements for a Capital Strategy to be 
approved by Council before the end of the 2018/2019 financial year. The report 
included the draft document taken to Cabinet on 17th October 2018 as Appendix 3 to 
the Budget Management Update report, and also highlighted the key requirements of 
the Capital Strategy.  
 
The Head of Finance (Deputy S151 Officer) responded to members’ questions and 
comments in respect of the following matters: 

 The definition of ‘commercial sensitivity’ as used within the draft. 

 The importance of considering wealth generation and future returns to help 
improve Swindon, alongside the four priorities set out in the Council Plan 2016-
2020.  

Page 121



Appendix 1 

 How the concept of a ‘digital city’ has led to a reinterpretation of town centre 
regeneration in to town-wide regeneration, and the subsequent clarity required 
on how money is spent within particular budgets.  

 How the Council adopting digital changes within its working practices will affect 
future capital investments and policy development.  

 The sufficiency of using the Cabinet Member Decision Note process to approve 
investment proposals worth less than £10m. 

 The lack of member-wide involvement in specialist Cabinet Member Advisory 
Groups.  

 The process of determining members for newly created Boards on projects of 
significant size.  

 The platform provided by the Council to attract external funding for investing in 
buildings such as the Health Hydro. 

 Introducing a weighting on risk factors within the draft to highlight the 
importance that attracting external funding has in ensuring the survival of 
heritage buildings in Swindon.  

 Whether Cabinet Member Advisory Groups are ‘a relevant committee’ when 
considering the effective scrutiny of proposed investments as part of the due 
diligence process. 

 Whether the profit from capital works undertaken by Public Power Solutions are 
factored in to considerations of its benefit to the Council, the funding provided 
by the Council for the capital works compared to external funding sourced, and 
the revenue profit being made by the Council.  

 When Whitehall will be imposing prudential borrowing rules in relation to any 
increase in borrowing for capacity for the housing rent account.  

 The frequency of meetings, and the availability of minutes from the Commercial 
Investment Strategy Board, and the Cabinet Member Advisory Group which 
scrutinises the Board’s decisions.  

 The effectiveness of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) from a financial 
perspective since its introduction, and the possibility of returning to negotiating 
Section 106 Agreements for all assets required within the Borough including 
community facilities.  

 
The Committee noted the Draft Capital Strategy and requested that officers investigate 
the frequency of meetings and the availability of minutes from the Commercial 
Investment Strategy Board and the Cabinet Member Advisory Group which scrutinises 
the Board’s decisions, and also that officers determine the effectiveness of CIL since 
its introduction. 
 

Autumn Budget 
 
At its meeting on 26th November 2018 the Committee received a presentation which 
highlighted the main Autumn Budget announcements that may affect the Council.  
 
The Head of Finance (Deputy S151 Officer) responded to members’ questions and 
comments in respect of the following matters: 

Page 122



Appendix 1 

 The likelihood of the quoted figures remaining stable following the Brexit vote in 
December.  

 The removal of National Non-Domestic Rates on public toilets, and the possible 
extension of this to public libraries that would assist with funding shortfalls.  

 
The Committee noted the presentation. 
 

Workforce Modernisation Programme – Leadership and 
Culture 
 
At its meeting on 26th November 2018 the Committee considered the Council’s current 
programme of leadership development for staff and managers across the Council. The 
report highlighted how, in order to become a modern, efficient and effective 
organisation and deliver the ambitious Vision for Swindon set by members for delivery 
by 2030, the Council requires brave, resilient and connected leaders across all levels 
of the Council in order to drive the cultural change required. 
 
The Director of Performance, Organisational Improvement and Communications 
introduced the report and confirmed that the Council had improved its leadership and 
management development programmes since 2015, and invested significant officer 
time and resource in to the development of the following four programmes: Swindon 
Manager; Aspiring Leaders; Future Leaders, and; the Senior Leadership Programme. 
She referred to staff survey results, which indicate a friendly but ineffective 
management approach across the Council, and advised that a work stream had been 
included in the Swindon Programme to address this perceived deficit in management 
competency. The Committee also noted that the programmes ensure staff are 
supported in updating their skillsets as the requirements of local authorities shift.  
 
The Committee then received a presentation from the Organisational Development 
and Learning Development Lead Officer on the Council’s approach to making sure it 
has, and continues to develop, the skills set needed for modern, effective and efficient 
management and leadership. She highlighted the following points: 

 That business research continues to reaffirm that the biggest driver of 
organisational performance and employee engagement is line management 
behaviour.  

 That peer reviews and consultancy feedback have indicated that the Council 
needs to focus on performance, and equip leaders to rise to the challenge of 
delivering public services in a decreasing budget context.  

 How the Swindon Manager programme assists managers to manage 
themselves, people, activities, and partnerships and relationships. Each has 
competencies specified within them, linked to the performance framework 
cycle.  

 How the Aspiring Leaders programme runs for four months, and has two 
cohorts of 16 per year. The Committee noted that all employees are eligible for 
this programme, which is internally facilitated and has both theoretical and 
practical components set by one of the Swindon Programme Boards. 

Page 123



Appendix 1 

 How the Future Leaders programme runs for nine months, and has one cohort 
of 16 per year. The Committee noted that the programme is open to middle 
management level or above, is accredited, and has both academic and 
practical components set by the Corporate Management Team. 

 How both the Future Leaders and Aspiring Leaders programmes have an 
application process, coaching and psychometrics, and real business 
challenges.  

 How officers have worked closely with stakeholders to design the Senior 
Leadership Programme, in collaboration with Footdown.  

 The robust evaluation of the programmes, including with Bath Spa University 
as an independent academic partner.  

 
The Director of Performance, Organisational Improvement and Communications 
responded to members’ questions and comments in respect of the following matters: 

 The criteria used to determine the appropriateness of an organisation, in terms 
of officers working with them on a temporary basis as a developmental 
opportunity.  

 The competitive application process undertaken by those applying for the 
programmes.  

 Ensuring trust in the programmes where there may be a negative perception 
amongst staff surrounding the unsuccessful completion of a course. 

 How psychological and philosophical ideas differ amongst people, leading to 
multiple understandings of how to achieve results, and how this affects the 
choosing of learning paths as a result. 

 The assessment of a person’s capacity to undertake the demands of a given 
programme alongside daily workload pressures, and their self-discipline for 
completing learning tasks.  

 The inclusion of specific training and development for social workers in 
children’s and adults services, given the current problems of recruitment and 
retainment in this area. 

 How confidence is encouraged in those staff members undertaking the 
programmes to ensure they feel they have made the right choice.  

 The efforts being made to resolve the issue of staff finding they are unable to 
put in place what they have learnt from the programme, and who could also be 
viewed as a threat to their own leadership. 

 Plans for improving the training and developmental offer to councillors. 

 The qualitative evaluation of changes to behaviour as a result of having 
completed a programme. 

 The promotion of the training and developmental offer at the Council as part of 
the recruitment process.  

 How the current four programmes on offer differ from previous programmes run 
by the Council, and how they will elevate the organisational level.  

 The use of the ‘intend to’ model of leadership within the programmes.  

 The processes in place to help staff members who have been pushed to 
become a manager, but wish to return to being non-managers, and how those 
in non-management positions can be recognised and rewarded for doing a 
good job.  

Page 124



Appendix 1 

 The need for cross party support to improve the training opportunities for 
councillors to help them undertake the roles and responsibilities of the post, 
recognising that Council officers may not be viewed as the most appropriate 
trainers.  

 The effectiveness of circulating presentations, like the one delivered by the 
officer at this meeting, for discussion at political group meetings which may help 
raise awareness of topics and improve the natural demand for being ‘kept up to 
speed’. 

 
The Committee noted the planned rationale, content and delivery of the Council’s 
leadership development programmes.  

 
Outcomes from the latest Local Government Association 
(LGA) Peer Review 
 
At its meeting on 16th January 2019, the Director of Digital Services and Corporate 
Programmes updated the Committee on the recent LGA visit to the Council on 10th 
and 11th December 2018. He stated that the peer inspection centred on the Council’s 
Transformation Plan and that the Council was awaiting feedback from the LGA in the 
near future. The Committee requested that a report with the LGA’s findings be 
submitted to a future meeting.  
 

Fair Funding Review and Business Rates Retention 
 
At its meeting on 16th January 2019 the Director of Finance gave a presentation to the 
Committee on the Fair Funding Review and Business Rates Retention and explained 
that the subjects were interlinked. He drew the Committee’s attention to the following: 

 The Ministry of Housing, Community and Local Government (MHCLG) and the 
Local Government Association (LGA) were conducting workshops to 
understand better the impact of the review on local governance nationally.   

 Council funding from 2020 would be driven by: 
a) the spending review by the Government to determine the budget for MHCLG 
future financial years;  
b) the introduction of 75% business rate retention; and  
c) the results of the Fair Funding consultation.  This had looked at the local 
authority’s ‘need to spend’ on public services which covered key cost drivers 
including population, deprivation and rurality.   

 Service-specific formulae for adult social care and children’s services.  
 The overarching methodology that determined how much funding each 

authority received each year was introduced over ten years ago and had not 
been updated since funding baselines were set at the start of the 50 per 
cent business rates retention scheme in 2013/14. 

 The Government undertook the Fair Funding Review to update the needs 
formula and set new funding baselines for the start of the new 75 per 
cent business rates retention scheme from April 2020. 

Page 125



Appendix 1 

 Further technical papers were planned for spring and summer 2019 to develop 
and consider relative needs, resources and transition, with the new 
arrangements coming into force in April 2020.   

 The Business Rates Levy paid by the Council for business rate growth. This 
was also being reviewed by the Government. 

 The discussions being undertaken regarding the proposal to deal with the risks 
relating to business rates appeals nationally.   

 
The Director of Finance responded to members’ questions and comments in respect of 
the following matters: 

 The Government’s use of the Office of National Statistics (ONS) demographic 
projections data to determine future funding and once set, to be fixed for a 
number of years.  

 The vital importance of new housing development calculations with regard to 
Swindon’s demographics and future population predictions.  

 In line with the Government’s scheme, Council contacted businesses whose 
rates had increased considerably offering support. This was conducted within 
the scheme’s parameters. 

 The balance of funding to be generated when allocating spaces within the Local 
Plan for business, housing and green space was not currently quantifiable. 

 Business rates were set nationally by the Valuation Office Agency and the 
Agency provided valuations for business properties on their website. 

 
The Committee noted the presentation. 
 

Progress towards the Council’s Visions, Priorities and 
Pledges 
 
At its meeting on 4th March 2019 the Committee considered the progress being made 
towards the Council’s Vision, Priorities and Pledges which included: 

 That the Pledges had been refreshed at the end of 2018 and agreed by 
Cabinet.  

 That the number of Pledges had reduced from 30 to 26, due to some having 
been completed and others having been changed.   

 Responsible officers across service areas provide monthly updates, used to 
populate scorecards. Directors discuss these at Corporate Management Team 
meetings, and the information is also provided to Cabinet Members for 
Leadership Advisory Group meetings.  

 Overall progress against the Pledges is made available on the Swindon 
Borough Council website.   

 
The Policy, Performance and Research Officer responded to members’ questions and 
comments in respect of the following matters: 

 Potential future additions to the report, including: identifying what resources are 
being used to deliver Pledges; future resource implications; a sense of where 
pinch points are; where delivery on Pledges is falling behind or moving ahead; 
and, how concerns are being addressed. 

Page 126



Appendix 1 

 Projects indicated within the report as currently being on track and which have 
previously had delays and amendments, such as the Bus Boulevard, Aspen 
House and Kimmerfields.   

 How the responsibility for delivering Priority Three (Ensuring clean and safe 
streets and improving public spaces) has mostly been devolved to Parish 
Councils.  

 The strategy for capitalising upon and enhancing the value of the land owned 
by the Council, particularly in the town centre, to attract investment and income.  

 The importance of members of the Heritage Zone Board knowing the content 
and value of assets to attract borrowing and investment.  

 
The  Committee noted the report an asked that it be brought to the attention of the 
Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s for potential inclusion in their Work 
Programmes for the 2019/2020 Municipal Year. 
 

Summary 
 
The Resources and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee had a 
comprehensive and wide-ranging Work Programme for the 2018/19 year and it 
achieved its aims as set out at the beginning of the year. Through its work it supported 
members in having a better understanding of the pressures facing the Council in the 
context within which the Council operates.  

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



Work Programme 2019/2020 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Vicki Yull 
(Committee Officer), 07980 752043, VYull@swindon.gov.uk. 

Author: Chief Legal Officer 

Wards: All Wards 

Parishes Affected: All Parish Areas 
 

1. Purpose and Reasons 

1.1 This report sets out details of the topics for the Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme for 2019/2020, as agreed at the Scrutiny Committee meeting on 10th 
June 2019 and revised at subsequent meetings throughout the year. 

1.2 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee is required to have a Work Programme 
that details the activities that it will be undertaking during the Municipal Year. 

1.3 The Work Programme details the various topics and issues that each Committee 
intends to look into during the coming year with the aim of producing evidence 
based recommendations intended to provide service improvements for Cabinet 
and external agencies / bodies to consider. 

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Note the approved Work Programme for the Scrutiny Committee for the 
2019/2020 Municipal Year.  

3. Detail 

The Work Programme 

3.1 Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee is required to have a Work Programme 
that details the activities that it will be undertaking during the Municipal Year.  

3.2 Under the Council’s Constitution, Overview and Scrutiny Committees are 
required to agree a Work Programme at the start of the Municipal Year outlining 
their priorities and likely outcomes of considering these issues. This task was 
completed by all Overview and Scrutiny Committees at their first meetings during 
June and July 2019. 

3.3 The Work Programme is developed taking into account: 

3.3.1 Corporate priorities and objectives, including the Cabinet Forward Plan. 

3.3.2 Partnership strategic priorities and objectives. 

3.3.3 The interests and concerns of Members, Council officers, members of the 
public, and other stakeholders such as community and voluntary groups 
and local businesses.  

Page 129

Agenda Item 8



Work Programme 2019/2020 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Vicki Yull 
(Committee Officer), 07980 752043, VYull@swindon.gov.uk. 

3.4 Committees are encouraged to review the Work Programme on a regular basis 
to ensure it remains relevant and to prioritise the workload of the Committee.  

3.5 Members are reminded that the Work Programme must also take into account: 

3.5.1 The workload of the Committee and of individual members. 

3.5.2 The capacity of officers to support a review. 

3.5.3 The resource implications of carrying out a review. 

3.5.4 The timescales for a review. 

3.5.5 The most appropriate method of carrying out a review e.g. Committee 
meeting, Task Group, Member Champion review. 

Developing the Work Programme – The Executive 

3.6 It is important that Overview and Scrutiny adds value to the work of the Council 
and its partner agencies, and produces tangible outcomes for local people that 
result in real service improvements. Selecting the right topics is crucial to ensure 
that scrutiny will be effective. 

3.7 In order to help the Scrutiny Committee select the right topics for the Work 
Programme, the Leader of the Council will be giving his annual presentation to 
the Committee at this meeting, where he will outline priority areas for the coming 
twelve months, and highlight problem areas or policies that require development 
and / or renewal. These issues should be considered by the Scrutiny Committee 
for possible inclusion in the Work Programme. In addition, the Leader may make 
suggestions for the Scrutiny Committee to include in its Work Programme. 

3.8 Members of the Scrutiny Committee are encouraged to work with Cabinet in the 
best interests of the Borough and to take into account the priorities and 
suggestions of Cabinet as detailed in the Cabinet Work Programme and Forward 
plan, attached at Appendix 2, when considering the contents for the Work 
Programme. 

3.9 In addition, Members attention is drawn to the Scrutiny Process Flowchart, 
attached at Appendix 3, which is aimed at assisting Members in identifying how 
they could influence policy development. 

Standard Work Programme items 

3.10 In addition to selecting various topics and issues for inclusion in the Work 
Programme, the Scrutiny Committee has a number of additional items that it has 
incorporated into its Work Programme, such as: 

3.10.1 Cabinet Member Question and Answer Sessions. Each Cabinet Member 
will be expected to appear before the Scrutiny Committee to answer 

Page 130



Work Programme 2019/2020 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Vicki Yull 
(Committee Officer), 07980 752043, VYull@swindon.gov.uk. 

questions relating to their portfolio responsibilities, performance and future 
plans. 

3.10.2 Review of Cabinet Decisions. The Scrutiny Committee will be required to 
review the decisions taken by Cabinet. 

3.10.3 Leader’s Report. The Scrutiny Committee will receive an annual 
presentation and a six monthly update from the Leader of the Council on 
the administrations priorities for the year and performance. 

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 The Committee can choose not to have a detailed Work Programme although it 
is recommended that it is best practice to do so. 

5. Implications, Diversity Impact Assessment and Risk Management 

Financial and Procurement Implications 

5.1 There are no financial or procurement implications arising as a result of this 
report. Any expenditure arising as a result of an item on the Committee’s Work 
Programme will be met by the Overview and Scrutiny Support budget, subject to 
the approval of the Committee. 

Legal and Human Rights Implications 

5.2 Section 21 of the Local Government Act requires every local authority to 
establish an overview and scrutiny function to hold the Executive to account, 
undertake policy development and review, monitor and improve performance. 

All Other Implications (including Staff, Sustainability, Health, Rural, Crime and 
Disorder) 

5.3 There are no other direct implications arising as a result of this report. Any further 
implications will be identified when a topic is reviewed by the Scrutiny Committee 
and in any recommendations made by the Scrutiny Committee. 

Diversity Impact Assessment  

5.4 No Diversity Impact Assessment (DIA) is required at this stage. Any DIA that is 
required during review of topics included within the Work Programme will be 
identified at the appropriate stage. 

Risk Management 

5.5 No risk management issues have been identified at this stage. Any risk 
management issues will be identified at the appropriate time when a topic is 
under review by the Scrutiny Committee and if it makes any recommendations. 

Page 131



Work Programme 2019/2020 

Scrutiny Committee                                          Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Vicki Yull 
(Committee Officer), 07980 752043, VYull@swindon.gov.uk. 

6. Consultees 

6.1 None.  

7. Background Papers 

7.1 None. 

8. Appendices 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2019/2020. 

8.2 Appendix 2 – Current Cabinet Work Programme and Forward Plan for the period 
November 2019 to March 2020. 

8.3 Appendix 3 – Scrutiny Process Flowchart. 

Page 132



Appendix 1 
 

Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme 2019-2020 

 
Terms of Reference of the Committee 
 

 To meet at regular intervals to review the policies, process and implications of Cabinet, Cabinet Member and 
Officer decision making, and the way in which Cabinet and Cabinet Member decisions are made; 

 To consider requests for “Call-in” as defined in the Council’s “Call-in” Procedure; 

 To refer decisions back to Cabinet (or the decision maker) for reconsideration. It may do this once for any individual 
decision, after which if there is no agreement the decision will be referred to the full Council for determination; 

 To refer Cabinet and Cabinet Member decisions to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee for investigation 
without delaying the implementation of the decision concerned; 

 To receive a report by the Leader of the Council at its first meeting after each Annual Council Meeting (or at such a 
meeting as is agreed by the Chair of the Committee and the Leader of the Council) on the service issues for the 
year ahead, the Leader of the Council’s priorities for the coming year, and on the Council’s performance in the 
previous year; 

 To oversee the arrangements for Overview and Scrutiny within the Council, including determining (i) where matters 
fall within the remit of more than one Overview and Scrutiny Committee which of those Committees will assume 
responsibility for any particular issue, (ii) a system to ensure that referrals from Committees to the Cabinet, either 
by way of report or for reconsideration, are managed efficiently and do not exceed any limits set out in the Council’s 
Constitution, and (iii) in the event of reports to the Cabinet exceeding any limits in the Constitution, or if the volume 
of such reports creates difficulty for the management of Cabinet business or jeopardises the efficient running of 
Council business, at the request of the Cabinet to make decisions about the priority of referrals made; 

 To carry out any investigation into the business and functions of the Council and to call in any Cabinet Member or 
senior officer of the Council so that they can offer advice, support or answer any question that will assist the 
Committee in carrying out its functions; and 

 To carry out an external scrutiny function, particularly in relation to corporate issues and issues falling into the remit 
of a number of Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

 

To fulfil all the functions of an overview and scrutiny committee as they relate to – 

 The review, scrutiny  and development of policy recommendations, 

 The management of performance,  

 The monitoring of progress towards delivering corporate priorities,  

 The formulation of advice for the Cabinet, Council and other partners and stakeholders, and 

 Strategies to reduce or prevent Crime and Disorder. 
 

To have specific responsibility (but not limited to) 

 Good governance. 

 The Budget Scrutiny function. 
 
Review of the Work Programme 
 
The work programme will be reviewed at every meeting of the Scrutiny Committee to ensure that it remains relevant, to 
ensure that Members and Officers have sufficient capacity to deliver the work programme and to include any additional 
items on the work programme, if appropriate. 
 
To assist members in developing the Committee’s work programme, a copy of the current Cabinet Work Programme and 
Forward Plan is attached at Appendix 2 to the covering report. 
 
Contact details 
Committee Officer: Vicki Yull 
Email: vyull@swindon.gov.uk 
Tel: 07980 752043 

Page 133

mailto:vyull@swindon.gov.uk


Appendix 1 
 

 

10th June 2019 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Review of Cabinet Decisions To receive the decisions taken and the process 
taken in making those decisions of Cabinet. 

Cabinet 

Work Programme 2019/20 
 

To discuss and agree a rolling work programme 
for the 2019/20 Municipal Year and review the 
Overview Task Groups 

n/a 

 

15th July 2019 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Leader of the Council update To receive a half yearly update from the Leader of 
the Council on the performance of the Council, to 
receive details of any major issues or problem 
areas and to review progress against priorities set 
out in annual presentation. 

Councillor David Renard 

Review of Cabinet Decisions To receive the decisions taken and the process 
taken in making those decisions of Cabinet. 

Cabinet 

 

12th August 2019 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Cabinet Member Q&A – Cabinet 
Member for Adults and Health 

To review the portfolio and performance of the 
Cabinet Member for Adults and Health. 

Councillor Brian Ford 

Cabinet Member Q&A – Cabinet 
Member for Corporate Services 
and Operational Excellence 

To review the portfolio and performance of the 
Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and 
Operational Excellence. 

Councillor Keith Williams 

 

9th September 2019 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Review of Cabinet Decisions To receive the decisions taken and the process 
taken in making those decisions of Cabinet. 

Cabinet 

Cabinet Member Q&A – Cabinet 
Member for Economy and Place 

To review the portfolio and performance of the 
Cabinet Member for Economy and Place. 

Councillor Oliver 
Donachie 

 

21st October 2019 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Review of Cabinet Decisions To receive the decisions taken and the process 
taken in making those decisions of Cabinet. 

Cabinet 

Cabinet Member Q&A – 
Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services 

To review the portfolio and performance of the 
Cabinet Member for Children’s Services. 

Councillor Mary Martin 

 

18th November 2019 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Review of the 2018/19 
Municipal Year 

To receive the Scrutiny Committee Annual Report. Chief Legal Officer 

Moredon Playing Fields Sports 
Hub 

To review a progress report. Head of Property Assets 

Cabinet Member Q&A – 
Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Public Safety 

To review the portfolio and performance of the 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety. 

Councillor Cathy Martyn 
 

 
 

Page 134



Appendix 1 
 

9th December 2019 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Leader of the Council update To receive a half yearly update from the Leader of 
the Council on the performance of the Council, to 
receive details of any major issues or problem areas 
and to review progress against priorities set out in 
annual presentation. 

Councillor David Renard 

North Star Development – 
Trigger Points 

To review a progress report. Head of Property Assets 

Review of Cabinet Decisions To receive the decisions taken and the process 
taken in making those decisions of Cabinet. 

Cabinet 

 

13th January 2020 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Budget Scrutiny To review the Budget proposals for 2020-2021. Councillor Russell 
Holland 

Cabinet Member Q&A – 
Cabinet Member for Strategic 
Planning 

To review the portfolio and performance of the 
Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning. 

Councillor Gary Sumner 

 
 

10th February 2020 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Review of Cabinet Decisions To receive the decisions taken and the process 
taken in making those decisions of Cabinet. 

Cabinet 

Cabinet Member Q&A – 
Cabinet Member for Transport 
and the Environment 

To review the portfolio and performance of the 
Cabinet Member for Transport and the Environment. 

Councillor Maureen 
Penny 
 

 
 

16th March 2020 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Review of Cabinet Decisions To receive the decisions taken and the process 
taken in making those decisions of Cabinet. 

Cabinet 

Cabinet Member Q&A – 
Cabinet Member for Finance 
and Education and Skills 

To review the portfolio and performance of Finance 
and Skills. 

Councillor Russell 
Holland  

 

6th April 2020 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Review of Cabinet Decisions To receive the decisions taken and the process 
taken in making those decisions of Cabinet. 

Cabinet 

Cabinet Member Q&A – 
Cabinet Member for the Town 
Centre 

To review the portfolio and performance of the 
Cabinet Member for the Town Centre. 

Councillor Dale Heenan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 135



Appendix 1 
 

 
 

Other issues for Scrutiny Committee to consider 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Averies Task Group Final 
Report  

To receive the final report of the Task Group and 
make appropriate recommendations to the Cabinet 
and Council. 

Task Group Members 

Anti-social enforcement To review what is being done to address 
enforcement against anti-social issues including: 

 Parking 

 Public Space Protection Orders in the town 
centre 

 Anti-social behaviour 

Councillor Maureen 
Penny 
Councillor Oliver 
Donachie 
Councillor Cathy Martyn 

An examination of the 
relationship between the 
Borough and Parish / Town 
Councils 

One day review by Scrutiny Committee Chief Executive 

Closure of Honda To receive a confidential update Leader of the Council 
Chief Executive 

 
 

Other issues to be referred 

Item Objectives Witnesses 

Food Waste To review proposals for dealing with food waste in 
the Borough 

To be referred to 
Communities and Place 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Collection and Disposal of 
Used Needles 

To review proposals for dealing with the collection 
and disposal of used needles 

To be referred to Adults’ 
Health, Adults’ Care and 
Housing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Leisure Contracts To review the leisure contracts, in particular those 
run by GLL 

To be referred to 
Resources and 
Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Procurement To review how SBC uses its procurement budget 
locally 

To be referred to 
Resources and 
Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

North Star To review the ongoing development at North Star To be referred to 
Growing the Economy 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

 

Page 136



Appendix 2 
CABINET WORK PROGRAMME 
 
Proposed AGENDA ITEMS/DELEGATED DECISIONS 
 
If you wish to make your views known on any matter set out in this work-plan, please 
contact the relevant Cabinet Member or the officer identified. 
 

Councillor: 
 

Portfolio: 

David Renard Leader of the Council and Chair of Cabinet 

Russell Holland Deputy Leader of the Council and Vice-Chair of 
Cabinet and Cabinet Member for Finance, Education, 
and Skills 

Oliver Donachie Cabinet Member for Economy and Place 

Brian Ford Cabinet Member for Adults and Health 

Dale Heenan Cabinet Member for the Town Centre 

Mary Martin Cabinet Member for Children’ Services 

Cathy Martyn Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety 

Maureen Penny Cabinet Member for Transport and the Environment 

Gary Sumner Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning 

Keith Williams Cabinet Member for Corporate and Organisational 
Excellence 

 
Senior Committee Clerk: Douglas Campbell, CommitteeServices@Swindon.gov.uk 
  

Cabinet Meeting Date - 4th December 2019 

 

Subject Portfolio Holder / Cabinet 

Member 

Lead Director 

Budget Management 2019/20 
 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Education and Skills 
 

Director of Finance 
(s151) Officer 
 
Mick Bowden, Director 
of Finance 
 

Capital Monitoring Quarterly 
Reports 
 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Education and Skills 
 

Director of Finance 
(s151) Officer 
 
Director of Finance 
(s151) Officer 
 

Treasury Management 
Performance 2019/20 
 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Education and Skills 
 

Director of Finance 
(s151) Officer 
 
Mick Bowden, Director 
of Finance 
 

Housing Revenue Account - Cabinet Member for Corporate Director 

Page 137



Housing Development Sites 
 

Housing and Public 
Safety 
 

Communities and 
Housing 
 
Head of Housing 
 

Transfer of the Community Meals 
Service to AGE UK Wiltshire 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Transport and the 
Environment 
 

Corporate Director 
Communities and 
Housing 
 
Head of StreetSmart 
 

Swindon Borough Local Plan 
Review - Regulation 19 
Consultation (submission draft) 
(Minute for Confirmation) 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Planning 
 

Head of Planning, 
Regulatory Services & 
Heritage 
 
Service Manager – 
Planning Policy 
 

Corporate Customer Feedback 
Policy 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Operational Excellence 
 

Director of 
Performance, 
Organisational 
Improvement and 
Communications 
 
Head of Customer 
Services, Registrars 
and Bereavements 
 

Adult Community Learning Plan 
2019-21 
 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Education and Skills 
 

Corporate Director of 
Children's Services 
 
Head of Skills, 
Employment & 
Lifelong Learning 
 

Carriage Works Regeneration - 
Phase II 
 

Cabinet Member for the 
Town Centre 
 

Chief Executive 
 
Head of Town Centre 
Development 
 

Natural England District Licensing 
Project for Great Crested Newts 
Habitats 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Operational Excellence, 
Cabinet Member for 
Strategic Planning 
 

Head of Property 
Assets, Head of 
Planning, Regulatory 
Services & Heritage 
 
Head of Planning, 
Regulatory Services & 
Heritage, Head of 
Property Assets 

Page 138



 

Amending the Diversity Impact 
Assessment Process to strengthen 
Swindon Borough Council's role as 
a Corporate Parent 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Operational Excellence 
 

Director of 
Performance, 
Organisational 
Improvement and 
Communications 
 
Helena Taylor-Knox 
 

  

Cabinet Meeting Date - 5th February 2020 

 

Subject Portfolio Holder / Cabinet 

Member 

Lead Director 

Budget 2020/21 and Beyond 
 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Education and Skills 
 

Director of Finance 
(s151) Officer 
 
Director of Finance 
(s151) Officer 
 

Capital Programme 2020/2021 
 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Education and Skills 
 

Director of Finance 
(s151) Officer 
 
Head of Finance - 
Deputy Section 151 
Officer 
 

Treasury Strategy Statement 
2020/21 
 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Education and Skills 
 

Director of Finance 
(s151) Officer 
 
Head of Finance - 
Deputy Section 151 
Officer 
 

Housing Revenue Account - Rents 
and Charges 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Public 
Safety 
 

Corporate Director 
Communities and 
Housing 
 
Director of Finance 
(s151) Officer 
 

Swindon Pay Policy Statement 
2020 / 2021 
 

Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services and 
Operational Excellence 
 

Director of 
Performance, 
Organisational 
Improvement and 
Communications 
 
Director of 

Page 139



Performance, 
Organisational 
Improvement and 
Communications 
 

School Admission Arrangements 
2021-22 and Home to School 
Transport Policy 
 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Education and Skills 
 

Corporate Director of 
Children's Services 
 
Strategic School 
Admissions Manager 
 

  

Cabinet Meeting Date - 11th March 2020 

 

Subject Portfolio Holder / Cabinet 

Member 

Lead Director 

Capital Programme Monitoring 3rd 
Quarter 2019/20 
 

Deputy Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet 
Member for Finance, 
Education and Skills 
 

Director of Finance 
(s151) Officer 
 
Head of Finance - 
Deputy Section 151 
Officer 
 

Public Open Space and Parish 
Asset Transfers - Response to 
Council motion 
 

Leader of the Council 
 

Head of Property 
Assets 
 
Head of Property 
Assets 
 

Page 140



Appendix 3 
 

 
 

Government Policy 
or change due to 
recommendations or 
law 

Update to 
Swindon policy 
due to various 
influences 

Political decision 
of Administration 
based on belief or 
necessity 

Committee Services Manager places in work 
programme and publishes new Forward Plan 

Overview and Scrutiny 
comments sought/received 

(optional) 

Finalised Report produced 5 clear days ahead 
of Cabinet and published by Members Services 

Cabinet 
approves, 
returns or 

reject 

Scrutiny 
reviews the 

process 

Resident-
generated change 
such as Petition 

Assigned Joint Report with 
External Agency led 
by internal Director 

Internal Report led 
by Internal Director 

Review by Corporate 
Management Team/Cabinet 

Member(s) 

Council votes 
on disputed 
decisions 

Start 

Implement if approved 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



Status of requests for action and / or information 

Scrutiny Committee      Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Vicki Yull 
(Committee Officer), 07980 752043, VYull@swindon.gov.uk. 

Author: Chief Legal Officer 

Wards: All 

Parishes Affected: All  
 

1. Purpose and Reasons 

1.1 To advise the Committee of the status of requests for action to be taken or 
information to be provided. 

2. Recommendations 

The Committee is recommended to: 

2.1 Note the contents of the report. 

2.2 Consider the responses provided by officers, and actions taken in relation to 
each issue, and determine if any further action is required. 

2.3 Agree that, subject to the Committee’s requests for further action to be taken, 
issues shown as being completed be removed from the status report.  

3. Detail 

3.1 The Scrutiny Committee has requested that a report be submitted to each 
meeting on the status of its earlier decisions, allowing members to consider if any 
further action is required.  

4. Alternative Options 

4.1 None. 

5. Implications, Diversity Impact Assessment and Risk Management 

Financial and Procurement Implications 

5.1 This report has no financial or procurement implications. 

Legal and Human Rights Implications 

5.2 Legal and Human Rights considerations have been fully taken into account in 
compiling this report. It is considered that the recommendations of this report are 
compatible with convention rights. 

All Other Implications (including Staff, Sustainability, Health, Rural, Crime and 
Disorder) 

5.3 None. 

Page 143

Agenda Item 9



Status of requests for action and / or information 

Scrutiny Committee      Date: 18th November 2019 
 

 

Further information on the subject of this report can be obtained from Vicki Yull 
(Committee Officer), 07980 752043, VYull@swindon.gov.uk. 

Diversity Impact Assessment  

5.4 No Diversity Impact Assessment (DIA) is required at this stage. Any DIA that is 
required during review of topics included within the Work Programme will be 
identified at the appropriate stage. 

Risk Management 

5.5 No risk management issues have been identified at this stage. Any risk 
management issues will be identified at the appropriate time when a topic is 
under review by the Scrutiny Committee and if it makes any recommendations. 

6. Consultees 

6.1 None. 

7. Background Papers 

7.1 The Minutes of previous meetings of the Committee. 

8. Appendices 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Schedule of the status of requests for action to be taken or 
information to be provided. 

Page 144



Appendix 1 

SUMMARY OF PUBLIC QUESTIONS REQUIRING A WRITTEN RESPONSE 
AND MEMBER REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

21 October 2019 
 

Minute 
No. 32 

Consideration of Cabinet Decisions Outcome 

Cllr Bob Wright referred to 
the car parks previously 
deemed suitable for 
development and queried 
if these are now part of 
the Parking Strategy or 
are still available for 
development. 
 

Response received on 7 November 
2019 as follows: 
 
The Town Centre Parking Strategy 
was approved by Cabinet at its 
meeting on 6 December 2017 – and 
will be reflected in the emerging Town 
Centre Movement Strategy. 
Both Commercial Road and Harding 
Street are small, existing, operational 
public parking areas. Commercial 
Road has 17 spaces and Harding 
Street has 15 spaces – so they only 
represent a small proportion of the 
town centre parking stock. They are 
however conveniently located for a 
number of destinations and are well 
used. Although there are no immediate 
alternative plans for these sites it 
remains the case that all surface car 
parks in the town centre present 
development opportunities if suitable 
proposals are brought forward – and 
their continued operation is also 
dependent on the level of use and 
income justifying the operational costs 
involved. 
  

Complete 

 

 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Moredon Playing Fields Sports Hub
	Appendix 1 Site Location Plan and Proposed Layout
	P&C Appendix 2 Finance

	6 Cabinet Member Question and Answer Session - Cabinet Member for Housing and Public Safety
	7 Review of the 2018/19 Municipal Year - Scrutiny Annual report
	Appendix 1 Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018-2019

	8 Work Programme 2019/2020
	Appendix 1 Scrutiny Work Programme 2019-20
	Appendix 2 Cabinet Forward Plan
	Appendix 3 Scrutiny Process Flowchart

	9 Status of Requests for Action and / or Information
	Appendix 1 Status of outstanding committee requests for information


